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Further Papers relating to the recent Arctic Expeditions.

Proceedings of the Sccond United States’ Arctic Expe-
dition i search ol 8ir John Franklin and his Com-
panions, under the command of Lieutenant Kane.

No. 1. Second  United
States’ Arctic Ex-

Lord Wodehouse to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Receiwved October 23.)  pedition, undercom-
mand of Licut.Kane.

Bir, Foreign Office, October 21, 1855.

L AM directed by the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, for the infor-
mation of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, a copy of a despatch
from Hcr Majesty’s Chargé d’Aflaires at Copenhagen, inclosing a copy of a
letter which has been addressed to the American Consul in that cily, by
Lieutenant Kane, Commanding the second American Expedition in scarch of
Sir John Franklin, reporting the movements of that Expedition.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) WODEHOUSE.

Inclosure 1 in No. 1.
Frederick Orme, Lsq., to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Copenhagen, October 21, 1855.

I HAVE the honour to transmit herewith to your Lordship, for the infor-
mation of the Admiralty, a copy of a letter which has heen addressed to the
American Consul in this town, by Licutenant Kane, Commanding the second
American Expedition in scarch of Sir John Franklin, and dated, Godhaven,
Greenland, September 10th 1835, in which he reports his safety and late
movements,

1 have, &c.
(Signed) FRED. ORME,

Inclosure 2 in No. 1.

Dr. Kane to the American Consul, Copenhagen.

Sir, Godhaven, Greenland, September 10, 1855.

WOULD you so much oblige as to telegraph to Mr. Barrow of the British
Admiralty, information as o the safety of mysclf and party.

We reached Upernavie, on the 6th of August.  After a mingled travel by
boat and sledge of 1,300 miles. The Searching Squadron under Captain
Harts(ein, must have passed us in Meclville Bay.

I have, &e.
(Signed) E. K. KANE.




Second £ United
States’ Arctic Ex-
pedition under com-
mand of Lt. Kane,

No. 2.
Lord Wodehouse to the Secretary of the Admiralty.~—(Received November 4.)

Sir, Foreign Officey November 2, 1855.

I AM directed hy the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, for the
information of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, the accompanying
copy of a dispatch from Mr. Mathew, Her Majesty’s Consul at Philadelphia,
reporting the safe return of Dr. Kane to that city, and inclosing a copy of
the “ Ncw York Daily Times,” containing Dr. Kane’s own account, relative to
his Kxpedition to the Arctic Regions; and I am to request, that in laying the
inclosed Paper hefore the Board, you will move their Lordships to favour Lord
Clarendon with their opinion, whether some expression of approval and thanks
should not be conveyed to Dr. Kane.

I am, &ec.

(Signed)  WODEHOUSE.

Inclosure in No. 2.
AMr. G. B. Mathew to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Loxd, Philadelphia, October 15, 1855.

I APPREHEND that as Dr, Kane (@ son of the J udge) is a resident, and
native of this city, it heeomes my agreeable task to communicate to your
Lovdship his arrival at New YVork from the Arctic Regions, with the loss of only
chree of his companicn-. and of his ves=el, necessarily abandoned in the ice.

feel well assured that your Ford hip, and Her Majestys Government will
be truly gratificd hy the «idc return of this efiicer aid Li gellanl associates,
from an expedition widertaken in the purest spivit of philanthropy and of
iternational symyaihy,

I beg to inclose a correct acesunt of their voyage,
I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEO. B. MATHEW.

No. 3.
Thomas Phinn, Esq. to Lord Wodehouse.

My Lord, Admiralty, November 7, 1855.
H:'—XVI}( G laid before wy 1..pds Commissionors of the Admiralty your
Lordship': letter of 2nd instait, and its inclosure from Her Majesty’s Consul at
Phllz}de]phl.a, reporting the safe return of Dr. Kane from his Expedition to the
Arctic R.cgmn:s, I 2y commanded by my Lords ¢« ‘'ommizsioners of the Admiralty
to acquaint you thal their Lordships have received with much pleasure this
intellizence of the wafe requrn of Dy, Kane, and his gallant companions from
their Lazardous euterprise >

My Lords have alio much watisfaction in being apprized of the safety of

Captain Harstein. °

My Lords beg to inform the arl of Clarendon that they desire to offer
th‘en' cenoratulations to the Guovernment of the United F')’mv’cc:;, on the safe
reiurin of the Exncditions commanded by the ofilcers before named, and to
express their best thanli o that Covernment, to Mr. Giinnell who .uo’]iberally
advanced the neecssary funds for the undertaking, and to the officers and crews
of the veaicls who so nobly atteinpted to afford succour to Sir John Franklin
and the officers and crews of oy Majcs{y’s ships employed on the Arctic
Expedition. T *

I have, &e.

(Signed) THOS, PHINN.




No. 4.
Lord Wodehouse to the Secretury of the Admirally.—(Received November 18.)

Sir, Foreign Office, November 17, 1855.
HAVING laid before the Earl of Clarendon your letter of the 7th instant
conveying the suggestion of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty thaé
the thanks of Her Majesty’s Government should be officially conveyed to
Mr. Grinnell, at whose expence the recent expedition in search of Sir John
Franklin was fitted out, and to the officers and erews of the vessels, I am
directed by his Lordship to state that he will with pleaure comply with their
Lordship’s suggestion; hut that he thinks that a handsome present chould,
moreover, be made to Mr. Grinnel and Dr. Kune, and perhaps some acknow-
ledement, in the shape of a gratuity or otherwize, to the other ofiicers and the
crews of the ships.  Lord Clarendon would be glad to he ivvoured with the
early opinion ol thie Lords of the Admiraliy oi this sehjeet, and as to the
nature and value of the present:, and the per-ons o whom they should be
given. { have, &ec.
(Rizned) WODLEHOUSE.

No. 3.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to Lord TWodehouse.

My Lord, Admirelty, November 22, 1855,
IN reply to your Lordship’s letter of 17th in-fant, I am commanded by
my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to state, for the information of the
Earl of Clarendon, that they concur in opinion with his Lord:hip, that a hand-
some present should be made to Mr. Grinncll and Dr. Kane, and thot an
acknowledgment is due on the part of IIcr Suic-tys Govermment to the
officers and crews of the United States’ ves-el: emuvloyed in the recent expedi-
tion in search of Sir John Franklin; but my Lovds do not feel them-clves
qualified to express an opinion as to the nature or value of the presents to be
tendered for their acceptance, or tha amount of gra‘uity to be awarded, which
their Lordships prefer Ieaving to Lord Clarendon to determine.
I have, &ec.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 6.
E. Hammond, Esq. to the Secretary of the Admirally.—(Reccived January 4.)

Sir, Foreign Office, Junuary 3, 1856.

WITH reference to your letter of the 7th November last, and to the
letter from this Department of the 17th November in reply, Iam direeted by
the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to vou, for the information of the Lords
Commi:ioners of the Admiralty, a copy of the despatch which he addres-ed to
Her Majosty's Minister at Washington, instracting him fo express to the
Anvican Government, to Dr. Kave, and to Mr. Grinnell, the congratulations
of I v Majesty’s Government on the return of the Avelie Bxpedition, under
the command of Dr. Kane; and their thanks to the oiicers and men enzngaed
in i, T am alo to transmit to you copies ol the replies received Dy
Mr. Crampton, to the letters which, in obedicuze to Liord Clarendon’s insirue-
tion, he addressed to Dr. Kane and Mr, Grinnell. 4

I am to add, that Lord Clarendon is in comuuvuication with My, Crampton,
as to the nature of the presents which it may be expedient te offer fo Dr. Kane,
Mr., Grinnell, and the ofticers and erews of the xpedition,

T hawve, &e.
(Signed) i7. HAMMOND,

Second  United
States’ Arctie Lx-
pedition under com-
wand of Lt. Kane.



Second  United
States’ Arectic Ex-
pedition under com-
mand of Lt. Kane,

Inclosure 1 in No. 6.

Lord Clarendon to Mr. Crampton.

Sir. ' Foreign Office, November 23, 1855,

I RECEIVED lately a despatch from Her Majesty’s Consul at Philadel-
phia, announcing the safe return of Dr. Kane from his Expedition to the Arctic
Regions, in search of Sir John Franklin. I 'have also heen apprized of the safe
return of the scarching squadron, under Captain Hartstein, .

This intelligenee has afforded sincere pleasure to ng Majesty’s Govern-
ment ; and | have to instruct you to offer to the American Government the
cordial congratulations of the Dritish Government on the safe return of
Dr. Kane and his gallant associates from their hazardous enterprise. You will
also express those congratulations to Dr. Kane himself; and will convey to
him, and request him to communicate to the officers and crews of the vessels
who, under his command, so nobly attempted to afford assistance to Sir John
Franklin, and the officers and crews of Her Majesty's ships employed on the
Arctic Expedition, the assurance of the sincere gratitude of the British Govern-
ment and pcople, for their generous exertions.  You will further express the best
thanks of Her Majesty’s Government to the American Government for the
friendly aid which they afforded for the Expeditions; and to My, Grinnell, who
liberally advanced the necessary funds for the undertaking.

Her Majesty’s Government feel desirous to present some acknowledgment
to Mr. Girinnell and to Dr. Kane, and the other officers of the American Expe.
dition, as a memorial of the scuse which they entertain of their arduous and
generous services; and T trust that the Government of the United States
will readily accord their permission to such of those officers who are in their
service to accept any token of thankfulness which may be offered to them hy
the British Government.

Iam, &ec.

(Signed) CLARENDON.

Inclosure 2 in No. 6,
"Dr. Kane to Mr. Crampton.

Sir, Philadelphia, December 11, 1855,

[ AM highly honoured by the letter you have addressed to me, expressing
the generous feeling which Her Britannic Majesty’s Government have been
pleased to regard the efforts of the Expedition, lately under my command, to
afford assistanee to Rir John Franklin and his associates, I shall not fail to
communicate it to the surviving officers and men of the party ; and T pray you,
in their behalf, as well as wy own, to convey to Her Majesty’s Government
our very grateful acknowledgments  for (his mark of iheir favouring
regard, °

1 have, &ec.
(Signed) E. H. KANE.

Inclosure 3 in No. 1.
Mr. Grinnell to A, Crampton.

Sir, ) New York, December 13, 1855.
T HAVE the pleasure to acknowledge the receipt of your note of the
8th instant, conveying to me the congratulations of your Government for the
safe return of Dr. Kane and Captain Hartstein from their Arctic voyages ahd
also expressing gratitude on the part of your Government and the ge;)’le of
your country for the humble efforts I made in sending forth the Exped{)tions
-rom this country for the rescue of Sir John Franklin and hig nft . N
-estimonial could Te more acceptable to my feelings, C prh e
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Although the Ixpeditions have proved totally unsuccessful in their main

object, still I' trust they‘ will engender and promote a kind fecling between the
“two great nations, of which you are a citizen of one, and T of the other.

Allow me to take this opportunity to express my thanks to the British
Admiralty, and many of the British Arctic Officers, for the great interest they
took in the American Arctic Expeditions, in furnishing very important charts,
maps, models, sailing directions, &c., &e. To Sir Francis Beaufort, John
Barrow, Fsq., and Captain Ingleficld, the Expeditions are particularly
indebted.

With a fervent and heartfelt wish that our two countries may for ever
be in harmony, ’

L am, &ec.
(Signed) HENRY GRINNELL.

No. 7.
E. Hanunond, Lisy. Io the Seevetary of the Admiralty.—(Receiv:d February 7.)

Rir, Foreign Office, February G, 1856.

WITH reference to the letter from this Department to the Admiralty of
thie 17th November last. and to the reply thereto dated the 22nd of the same
month, on the sabject of presenting to My, Grinnell, Dr. ane, and the officers
and men engaged in the American Avetie Expedition, some mark of approbation
on the part of Mer Majestys Government, | am directed by the Tarl of
Clarendon to acquaint you, for the information of the Lords Comnissioners of
the Admiralty, that he has caused a handsome silver vase to be prepared for
presentation to My. Grinnell, a silver tea service and salver for Dr. Kane, gold
medals for Dr. Kane and the other oflicers employed in the Expedition,
and silver medals for the crew: the whole of the articles bearing suitable
inseriptions.

These presents will be forwarded 1o My, Crampton, Her Majesty's Minister
at. Washington, by the Mail Steam Packet which will sail from Tiverpool
for New York on Saturday next, Theyv are packed in two cases, the size
and weight of which are noted at the end of this letter, and which will be
addressed to the care of Captain Bevis. the Admirally Superintendent at
Liverpool ; and 1 am to request that you will move the Lords of the Admiralty
to give directions to Captain Bevis to have the cases carefully shipped on hoard
the packet and delivered to Her Majesty's Consul at New York, who will receive
instructions from this Department to send them on to Mr. Crampton at
Washington. I am further o suggest that Captain Bevis should be desired to
acknowledge the receipt of the cases. and to report that he has forwarded
them,

I have, &e.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

One (Case 3 feet 1 inch longl
1 ,, 5 .. wide} Weight about 85 Ihs,

w 5. deepj

1
2 ., 10 ,, long
2 ., 0 . wide} Weight about 100 1bs«,
1, 1 . deep

One (‘age

No. ®.
E. Hammond, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.— (Received April 20.)
Sir, Foreign Office, April 19, 1836.
I AM directed by the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, for the

information of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, a copy of a despatch
from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington. stating that he had forwarded to

Second  United
States’ Arctic Ex-
pedition under com-
mand of Lt. Kane.



6

Second United Mr, Grinnell the silver vase presented to him py Her Majegty’s’ vaerm?ngnt as
States’ Arctic Ex- o e of gratitude for his munificence in fitting out Dr. l\ang s Expedition in
pedition yndet con- o oarch of Sir John Franklin, and inclosing a copy of Mr. Grinnell’s letter of

and of Lt. Kane. N
mand o_t e acknowledgment for the present. I have, &e.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

Inclosure 1 in No. 8.

Mr. Crampton to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, March 31, 1856.

IN accordance with the instructions conveyed to me in your Lordship’s
despatch. No. 37, the 7th of February last, I addn_'essed a letter to Mr. H
Grinnell, a copy of which I have the honour herewith to inclose; and, on its
arrival, T forwarded to him the silver vase which had been prepared by
Her Majesty’s Government, and transmitted to me for presentation to that
gentleman. )

I have now the honour to incloge the copy of a letter which T have received
from Mr. Grinnell, requesting me to convey to Her Majesty’s Government his
thanks for that memorial. .

I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 2 in No. 8.

Mr., Crampton to Mr. Grinnell.

Sir. Washington, March 8, 1856,

I HAVE the honour to inform you, that Her Majesty’s Government being
desirous of presenting you with some memorial of the sense which they enter-
tain of the public spirit and liberality shown by you, in fitting out and
dispatching an Arectic Iixpedition, in search of Sir  John Franklin and the
officers and crews of Her Majesty’s ships « Erebus” and « Terror,” have
caused a silver vase to be,prepared, which I have been instructed to offer to
you, with the expression of the thanks of Her Majesty's Government for the
kindly and generous feelings which prompted that munificent undertaking ;
and I have to request that you will have the kindness to inform me, in what
manner you would wish me to forward this vase to you.

I have, &ec.

(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 3 in No. 8,
My, Grinnell to My, Crampton,

Sir, New York, March 18, 1856.

It HAVE already acknowledged the receipt of your letter of the Sth
instant.

I have now to acknowledge the receipt of a magnificent silver vage which
Her Britannic Majesty's Government has seen fit to hestow on me asa mémorial
of its estimation of my acts relating to the Arctic search for Nir John Franklin
and his party. '

You will please to communicate to vour Government m
the vase and that I highly appreciate it. % shall hold it not on{v ?’gietlilt: lz(i)qegf
intended, but as a testimonial of the magnanimous spirit of yoyur reat Jand
glorious country. ‘ g

With great consideration,

I am, &c.

(Signed) HENRY GRINNELL,
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Lt. Kane to Thomas Phinn, Esq.—(Received December 30.)

fir, Washington, December 3, 1855.

Proceedings  of
the Second Uunited

States’

Arctic Ex-

I HAVE the honour to transmit for the use of the Lords of the Admiralty, pedition. — Lieut.
a duplicate report of the late American Expedition in search of Hir John Kane’s Report.

Franklin, and under my command.

This report is forwarded by permission of the Honourable Seeretary of the
Navy, and simultaneously with his own reception of the orizinal at my hands.
The Charts which accompany it arc literal copies ot the unrevised projections
made upon the spot.

In presenting this summary of ourresults, may I beg you to state, on the
part of my associates and myself, how strongly our jiersonal sympathies accorded
with our recent dutics. Our failure to bring Lack tidings of the missine
expedition is felt by us all as a severe disappointment.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) E. K. KANE,

Inclosure 1 in No. 9.
Lt. Kane to the Honourable J. C. Dobbin, Secretary of the Navy.

Sir,

THE Expedition to which I was appointed by orders from the Department,
under date of the 27th of November, 1852, left Ncw York in the brig
“ Advance,” 120 tons burden, on the 30th May following. Our company
consisted of eighteen persons in all; of whom ten were regularly attached to
the Naval Service, the others being engaged by private liberality.

Our destination was to the highest penetrable point of Baftin’s Bay; from
which, according to instructions from the Department, we were to attempt a
search for the missing vessels of Sir John Franklin.  This region was then
entirely unexplored, and it was selected on that account.

The copies which I annex of my l.c‘.tcrs here.tofore addr.ess.ed to. the
Department, indicate my course up to the time of leaving Upernavik, in latitude
72° 47’ north. It will be scen from them that I engaged at that point an
Esquimaux hunter and an interpreter, decming their a?d essential to the success
of our Expedition. I had also purchased supplics of fresh meat and fish, which
were carefully dried and sct aside to meet enmergencies. '

On reaching Melville Bay, I found the shore ices 5o d_ecaycd that I did not
deem it advizable to attempt the usual passage along the fast floes of the land;
but stood directly to the northward and westward as indicated by my logs until
I met the Middle Pack. Here we headed nearly direct for Cape York, and
succeeded in crossing the hay without injury, in ten days after first encountering
theice. On the 7th August we reached the head-land of Sir Thomas Pty
sound, and passed the highest point attained by our predecerser, Coplam
Inglefield, R.N.



Proceedings  of
the Second United
States” Arctic Ex-
pedition. — Licut.
Kane's Report.

8

So far, our observations accorded completely with the experience of this
pallant oflicer in the summer of 18252 a fresh breeze, with a sw enl'l setting in
{from the southward and westward, marks upon the rocks indicating regular
tideg—no ico visible from aloft—and all the signs of continutous open water.

Ax we advanced, however, a belt of’ heavy stream lee was seen, an evident
procursor of drifts; and a little afterwards, it beeame evident that the channel
to (he northwaid was obstructed by a drifting pack. . .

We were still too far to the south to carry out the views I had formed of
our purposed scarch; and it became my duty, thercfore, to attempt the
penctration of thisice. Before doing this, I selected an appropriate inlet for a
provision depét, and buried there a supply of becf, pork, and bread. At the
same place we deposited our ¢ Francis ” life boat, covering 1t carefully with wet
sand, and overlaying the frozen mass with stones and moss. We afterwards
found that the Esquimaux had hunted around this inlet; but the cache which
we had thus sccured as our own resort in casc of emergency, escaped
delection, .

No onc having yet visited this coast, I landed on the most prominent
western headland of a group of small islands, the Littleton Islands of Inglefield,
and crected there a flag-staff and beacon. Near this beacon, according {o
pre-concerted arrangement, we deposited official despatches, and our private
letters of farewell.

My first design in entering the pack was to force a passage to the north;
but after reaching latitude 78° 45" we found the ice hugging the American
shore, and extending in a drifting mass completely across the channel.  This
ice gradually hore down upon us, and we were forced to seck the comparatively
open spaccs of the Greenland coast.  Still we should have inevitably been heset
and swept to the south, but for a small land-locked bay under whose cliff we
found a temporary asylum,  We named it “ Refuge Inlet;” it carries fifty fathoms
of waier within a biscuit toss of its northern headland; and hut for a glacier
which occupies it~ inner curve, would prove an eligible winter harbour.

We were detained in this helpless situation three valuable days,—-the pack
outside hardly admitting the passage of a boat. But on the 13th. fearing lest
the rapidly advancing cold might prevent our penetrating further, we warped
out into the drift, and fastened to a grounded herg.

That the Department may correctly apprehend owr subsequent movements,
it 1s necessary to deseribe some features peculiar to our position. The coast
trended to the N.N.E. It was metamorphic in structure, rising in abrupt
precipitous clifis of basaltic greenstone, from 800 to 1,200 fect in perpendicular
height.  The shore at the base of this wall was invested by a permanent belt of
1cc, measuring from three to forty yards in width, with a mean summer thickness
of ecighteen {eet., The ice clung to the rocks with extreme tenacity; and
unlike similar formations to the south, it had resisted the thawing influcnces of
summer.  The tidal currents had worn its seaward face into a gnarled mural
escarpment, against which the floes broke with splendid displays of force ; but it
still prescrved an upper surface comparatively level, and adapted as a sort of
highway for further travel. The drifting ice or pack outside of it was utterly
Impenctrable; many bergs, recently discharged, were drifting backward and
forward with the tides, and thus pressing upon the ice of the floes, had raised
up hills sixty to seventy feet high. The mean rise and fall of the tide was
twelve fee.t, and its rate of motion two and a-half knots an hour.

. In this state of things, having no alternative but either to advance or to
discontinue the search, I determined to take advantage of a small interspace
which occurred at certain stages of the tide betwcen the main pack and the
coast, and, if possible, press through.it. I was confirmed in this purpose by my
knowledge of the extreme strength of the Advance, and my confidence in the
spirit and fidelity of my comrades.

‘ 1'1‘he effort occupied us until the Ist September. 1t was attended by the
el Vet ny e, v o aue by whenee e
was im;mil’lb to secure our tn S0 a5 fo and on ino of such occaslons 1t
We rosched Jetindo ns 43§ oreb]so as to prevent the brig from taking fire.
starboard bulwarks, a (‘;nrte" 1?(1] tt)c 29t11)1 ]August, having lost a part of our
about 6500 fathoms of hla\t\'serl' blillt,“f)iltllll o -1))(3‘011]'. 01111] b? .SL bower anchor, and

We were now retard L i our brig in a gs§pxlt1als uninjured.

ctarded by the rapid advance of w inter; the young ic
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was forming with_suph rapidity, that it became evident that we must soon be Proceedings of
frozen in. At this juncture, my officers addressed to me written opinions in the Second United
favour of a return to a more southern harbour; but as such a step would have ?.t?tes'mcﬁc Expe-
cost us our dearly purchased progress, and removed us from the field of our 1;::0?{; L. Kane's
intended observations, I could not accede to their views. 1 determined, there- e

fore, to_start on foot with a party of observation, to seel a spot which might

be eligible as a starting point for our future travel, and, if such a one were

found, to enter at once upon the full duties of search.

This step determined on, the command of the brig was committed to
Mr. Ohlsen, and T started on the 20th August, with a detachment carrying a
whale-boot and sledge. The ice soon checked the passage of our hoat, but I
left her, and proceeded with a small sledge along the ledge of ice, which, under
the name of * Ice-foot,” I have before deseribed as clinging to the shore.

We were obliged, of course, to follow all the indentations of the coast; and
our way was often completely obstructed by the discharge of rocks from the
adjacent cliffs. In crossing a glacier we came necar losing our party, and were
finally compelled to abandon the sledge, and continue our journey on foot.
We succeeded, however, in completing our work, and reached a projecting cape
from which, at an elevation of 1,100 feet, I commanded a prospect of the ice
to the north and west as high as latitude 80°. A black ridge runuing nearly
due mnorth, which we found afterwards to be a glacier, terminated our view
along the Greenland coast ; to the castward numerous icebergs were crowded in
masses throughout the axis of the channel; and as far as our vision cxtended,
the entire surface was a frozen sca. 'The island named “ L. Napoleon ~ on the
charts of Captain Inglefield, does not exist. The resemblance of ice to land
will readily explain the misapprehension.

The result of this journey, although not cheering, confirmed me in wmy
intention of wintering in the actual position of the brig, and I procceded
immediately on our return to organize parties for the fall, with a view to the
establishment of provision depots, to facilitate the further rescarches of the
spring. In selecting sites for these and the attendant travel, our parties passed
over more than 800 miles. The coast of Greenland was traced 125 miles to
the north and east, and thrce caches were established at favourable points.
The largest of these (No. 111 of Chart) contained =00lbs. of pemmican; it
was located uwpon an island in latitude 79° 127 67, longitude 65° 25, by
Messrs. McGary and Bonsall. These operations were continued until the 2uth
November, when the darkness arrested them.

Our brig had been frozen in since the 10th September.  We had selected
a harbour near a group of rocky islets in the south-eastern curve of the bay,
where we could establish our observatory, and had facilities for procaring water
and for daily exercise. We were sceure, {oo. against probable disturbance
during the winter, and were sufliciently within the tidal influences to give us a
hope of liberation in the spring,

As we were about to winter higher north than any previous expedition, and,
besides a probable excess of cold, were about to experience a longer depriva-
tion of solar light, the arrangements for the interior were studied caretully.

The deck was housed in with boards, and caulked with oalkum. A system
of warmth and ventilation wus established; our permanent lamps were cused
with chimneys, to prevent the accumulation of smoke; cooking, icc-melting,
and washing arrangements were minutely cared for.  The dogs were Lkennelled
in squads; and they were allowed the alternate u<c of ~now houses, and of the
brig, as their condition might require. Our domestic system was organized
with the most exact attention to cleanliness, exercise, recreation, and, withal,
to fixed routine,

During the winter which followed, the sun was 120 days below the horizon:
and owing to a range of hills towards our southern meridian, the maximum
darkness was not relieved by apparent twilight even at noon-day.

The atmospheric temperatures were lower than any that had been recorded
by others before us. We had adopted every precaution to secure accuracy in
these observations, and the indications of our numerous thermometers Aleololic,
Atherial, and Mercurial, were registered hourly. v

From them it appears that the mean annual temperature el Van Ren~elver
Harbour, as we named our winter home, is lower than that of Mclville |- and,
as recorded by Parry, by two dogrccs(.) In certain sheltered positions, the pro-
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Proceedings of cess of freezing was unintermitted for any consecutive twenty-four hours
the Second United (1, oyohout the ycar. -
States’ Arctic Expe- The lowest)tempcmture was observed in February, when the mean of eight
‘Iltlfnw:;t L4, Kames instruments indicated minus 70° Fahrenheit. Chloroform froze, thp essential
- oils of sassafras, juniper, cubebs and winter-green, w;:re l‘csolyed 1ntlo mlxe.d

solid and liquid; and on the morning of Fcbruary 24, we witnessed chloric
ther congealed for the first time by a natural temperature.

In the early part of this winter I erected an astronomical observatory, and
mounted our * tran=it ” and theodolite upon pedestals of stone cenwlente(_i by ice.
Great care was taken by Mi. Sontag, the astronomer to the Jxpedition, in
determining our geographical position. The results for the determination of
longitude, as based upon moon culminations, are in every respect satquctory ;
they are corroborated by oceultations of plancts and the late solar eclipse of
May, 1855. An occultation of Saturn, si111;11t3n§01lsly observed by Mr. S‘optag
and myself, at temperatures of G0° and 53°, dlﬁe'red_but two seconds. This is
the lowest temperature at which such an observation has ever been taken.

The position of our observatory may be stated as in

Latitude, 78° 387 0",
Longitude, 70° 40" 6.

A room artificially heated was attached to the observatory as a magnetic
station. The observations were both absolute and relative, and were sustained
by a corps of voluntcers among the officers.

A strong tendency to tonic spasm, probably induced by the lengthened
cold and darkness, was the chicf trial of our party. General disease was readily
controlled by a careful hygiene; and the unremitting and intelligent exertions
of Dr. J. J. Hayes, the Surgeon of the Expedition, kept the scurvy in complete
subjugation.

But this anomalous form of spasmodic diseasc was encountered with
difficulty. Tt extended to our dogs, assuming the aspect of tetanus; in spite
oi every effort no less than fifiy-scven perished, many of them with symptoms
not unlike those of hydrophobia.

The loss of these animals inferfered seriously with my original scheme of
tearch. They had been collected at various points of the coast of Greenland,
and had been trained {ur their office with extreme care and labour. T had
contemplated employing them in following the coast, and with this view had
devoted the labours of the fall to the organization of a chain of depots. Now,
however, a new system of operations was to be cstablished, with different
appliances. New sledvcs were to be built, and cooking utensils and field
equipments pro.vided,‘suited to larger parties and of more portable character.
The latter peried of darkness was entirely occupied with these new pre-
parations.

- Our party was unhappily too small for an extended system of field opera-
tions Ly unassisted human labour; and the only remaining hope of continuing
the scarch was to be found in a passage through or over the great ice-ficlds to
tuc north; an effort, the success of which was rendered very doubtful by the
crowided bergs and distorted ice of this frozen area. With this object I
organized a party of our strongest men (all volunteers) under nmy personal
charge, avnd sent an advaneed corps under Mr. Brooks, the energetic First
Officer of the Bxpedition, to place a rclicl eargo of provisions at ten davs’

Jjourney from the hrig. )
the I\O%\]T Sleb;-’o’Tktilul\Iz}rc}()], _t‘he }‘]illth (j-,ay 011 their absence, a heavy gale from
19.‘..1) L roke 1;011 s _pa_lty. The thermometer fell to 57° Delow ZCr0 ;
?n;]dlnuica elpl(() gfst‘imlelllimjg(:kh]neg) \\iel'g S0 obstructed by snow drift that they
mest valuable Nmembers,(tofLLchexy“o'lzt' lilly miles frm‘n the b:‘{g. Four of the
Laler. and Petor Schul‘;ert o 1)11 ¥, Messrs. Broous' and W 1lson,_chferson
o t0 attond thoert ere. frozen a;t the extremities; and 2 single man
cing lo attenc mm,l_thc vhiers returned to the brig in a state of extreme
ej\ha'xistxon. The name oi the brave fellow who remained with his comrades
Wit lrhomas .chkey, an Irizhman,
with 11;311; ]’iltl?ll‘enhc(?;lgpgf{li'e:éludiil‘mngrown cczimm.arll\/}l. started at once for the floes
party, volunteerol o euir 8 i r(‘:onrlxr'a” es7 ‘d r. Qh]son, one of the returned
small sled ¢ which w: drago l f T ws SeWe p n furs and sstrapp_ed upon a
8¢ agged alter ws but symptoms of mental disturbance
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rendered his heroism qnavailin;r, and huet for steiling the trail of the party we
must all of us have perished, ‘

On this occasion [ was deeply touched by the confidence of the dizalled
men in 'ﬂ‘\e certainty of th‘eir relief,  Although they were nearly concealed by
snow drilt. and dependent for warmth upon their siceping: baes, thev had pationtly
and hopefully awaited our arrival. The discoverv of a small cunvas tent in
the midst of these immense plains of ice T must remember as providential.

I mention gratefully the endurance and self-denial of my comrades upon
this fearful march, 'They had been eighty-one out of eighty-four hours without
sleep, and had. halted for the purpose of melting ice for drink. The tendency
to sleep could only he overcome by mechanical violenece; and when at last we
got back to the brig, still dragging the wounded men instinctively behind us,
there was not one whose mind was found to he unimpaired, ’

This disastrous ctivrt cest us two valuable lives—Jeffersen Baker and Peter
Schubert. The first of these was a native of Deloware county, Pennsylvania, a
trustworthy and faithful follower ; he died of locked-jaw. (histy-six hours after
his return to the brig. The other was ¢l to the Expedition, and o volunteer
upon the duty which caused his death.  Our litile purty had throughout, from
the nature of the service, heen in close relations with one another; and these
men are remembered by us all with sympathy and respeci,

Ag soon after this a« the henlth of our company counld justify, T set out
with my original parly to renew the aitempt from a higher point on the
Greenland coast, carrying with me an India-vublier heat, This journey was
undertslien in the latter part of Apnil. and continuedinto May. It wastollowed
by otherz, which extended the seareh almost without mtermiv:ion until the
10th July. These journcys may be thus summed up :—

Mareh.—23r. Brocks and Dr. Kane.

April, May.—Dr. Kane, Meass, MeGieary and Boneall,

June.—Dr. Haves and William Geodtrey.

June, July.—Williana Morton and Hang Heindriek, our native hunter,

The arrival of the Ksquimaux in April enabled ws to add four dogs to
the three that remained of our originzl =toel, and thus to cquip a slender team.
The value of the:c animals for Aretie-ice travel can hardly be over estimated.
The earlicr journeys of Marvch, April, and Bay proved incomparably more
arduous and exposing than those performed with: dog+, while their results were
entirely disproportionate to the lahour they cost ns. It was invarviably the case
that the entire party, on its return from the field, pasced at once upon the sick
list.

Out of nearly 3,000 miles of travel no less than 1,100 were made by the
dog sledee ; and during the fall, winter and spring of the ensuing year (18564-55),
I made in person no less than 1,400 miles with a single team.

HMetting out from our winter quarters, three expeditions effected the passage
of the Lay.—1. To the north with Messrs. Gray and Bonsall along the iase of
a great glacier which issued from the Coast of Greenland in latitude 79° 127
A copy of this glacier, as surveyed by me in 1255, accompanies this report,
-—2. To the south west by Dr. Hayes and William Godirey.—3. To the north
west and along the shorcs of a new chanmel by W, torton and our Esquimaux
hunter, Hans,  "The original reports of these journcys, with my own olizervation;
are now under seal and subjeet to the orders of the Department. I give onlva
summary of results, referring for partieulars to the Teack Chart projected on the
spot from the originel field notos, which I have the honour to transmit with this
report.

Greenland roaches ifs furthest western point at Cape Alexander in the
neighbourhood of Iatiiute 73% 107 M. auwd alter passing fongiiude 70° W, of
Greenwich extends nearly due cast and west (E 20° N.)  This northern face of
Greenland is broken by two large bays, at the base of which are numerous
granitoid islands, which os you approach longitude 65° W, a=sumc the form of an
archipelago.  Fifteen islands were surveyed and located liere. "I'he aspect of the
coast is imposing, abutting upon the water line in headlands from 800 to 1,400
feet high ; and one range of precipice presenting an unbreken wall of forty-
five miles in length, 1ts geolouical structure is of the old_en red gandstones
and Hilueinn limestonss overlying a primary basis of massive syenites. The
sandstones to the souh of 7&°, scem to form the floor of the bay. They are
in series with inferealaiod greensfones and other cjected plutonic rocks, and
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Upon this alnd ]gollatgral _?ubjects I shall,
ith vour permission, address a special report to the Department.

v %he tPurther progress of our partic_so tO\)'agds the _Aﬂantlco\\;lg‘ a\rvresteddby a
great elacier, which issued inlatitude 75° 12 N, longitude 64° 20° W., and ran
directly north. Thisforms an insuperable barrier to exploratlon.ln this direction ;
it is continuous with the Mer de glace of interior Greenland, and is the largest true
clacier known to exist. Its great mass adapts itself to the configuration of the
hasis country which it overlies. Its escarpment, abutting upon the water,
presents a perpendicular face varying from three to 500 feet in height. _

The lines of crevasse and fracture are on an unexampl'ed scale of interest.
The hergs, which are ejected in lines, arrange themselves in a sort of escalade,
which confers a character of great sublimity upon the landscape.

It was followed along its base, and traced into a new. and northern land,
trending far to the west. This land I have named ‘“ Washington.” . The large
bay, which separates it from the coast of Grgenland and the glacier, I have
described, bears on my chart the name of our liberal countryman, Mr. Peabody.

The coasts of this new territory adjoining Peabody Bay have been accu-
rately delineated by two parties, whose results c'orrfzspond.. Its south-wgstern
cape is in latitude 80° 20" by observation with artificial horizon. Its longitude,
by chronometer and bearings, 66° 42” west of Greenwich. The cape was doubled
by William Morton and our Esquimaux, with a team Qf dogs, and the lfmd_ to
the north traced until they reached the large indentation named Constitution
Bay. The whole of this line was washed by open water, extending in an
iceless channel to the opposite shores on the west. This western land I have
inscribed with the name of Henry Grinnell.

The course of this channel, at its southern opening, was traced, by actual
survey, in a long lorse-shoe curve, sharply defined against the solid ice of
Smith’s Sound, and terminating at its extremes, against two noble headlands
about forty miles apart. The western coast was followed, in subsequent explo-
rations, to a mural face of 900 feet elevation, preserving throughout its iceless
character : here, a heavy surf, heating directly against the rocks, checked our
future progress.

This precipitous headland, the farthest point attained by the party, was named
“Cape Independence.” It is in latitude S1° 22" N., and longitute 65° 35" W.
It was only touched by William Morton, who left the dogs, and made his way
toit along the coast.  From it the western coast was seen stretching far towards
the north, with an iceless horizon, and a heavy swell rolling in with white caps. At
a height of 240 feet above the sea, this great expanse still presented all the
appearance of an open and iccless <ea.  In claiming for it this character, I have
reference only to the facts actually observed, without seeking confirmation or
support from any deduction of theory.  Among such facts are the following : —

L. It was approached by a channel entirely free from ice, having a length
of 52, and a mean width of 36 geographical miles.

2. The coast ice along the water line of this channel had been completely
destroyed by thaw and waler action, while an unbroken belt of solid ice,
125 miles in diameter, extended to the south.

3. A gale from the north-east, of fifty-four hours in duration, brought a
heavy sca from that quarter, without disclosing any drift or other ice.

4. Dark nimbus clouds and water sky invested the north-eastern horizon.

5. Crowds of migratory birds were ohserved thronging its waters.

Two islands on the threshold of this sea, the imost northern islands known,
bear the names of Sir John Franklin and his associate Captain Crozier, the
leaders of the gallant party, for which we had been in search,

To the north-west the coasts hecame mountainous, rising in truncated
cones like the Magdelena cliffs of Spitzbergen. The furthest distinetly sighted
point was a lofty mountain bearing N, 50° E. (solar); its latitude by estimate
and Intersection 82° 30’; its longitude as thus determined would give 66° West,
fapproximative).

I would suggaest for it the name of the late Sir Edward Parry, who, as he
has carried his name to the most northern latitude yet reached, should have, in
this, the highest known notthern land, a recognition of his pre-eminent position
among Arctic explorers,

The extention of the American coast to the south-west, as it appears upon
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the chart, was the work of Dr. Hayes and Wm. Godfrey, renewed and confirmed
by myself in April of the present year. It completes the survey of the coast as
far as the Cape Sabine of Captain Inglefield. The land is very lofty, some-
times rising at its culminating peaks to the height of 2,500 feet. The travel
along the western and north-western coast, was made, for the most part, upon
the ice-foot. Ome large bay, in latitude 78° 40’, longitude 73°, by estimate
extended forty miles into the interior and was terminated by a glacier. A
large island occupies the south-western curve of that bay.

A summary of the operations of the parties will therefore comprehend :—

1. The survey and declination of the north coast of Greenland to its termi-
nation by a great glacier.

2. The survey of this glacial mass and its extension northward into the
new land named “Washington.”

3. The discovery of a large channel to the north-west, free from ice, and
leading into an open and expanding arca equally free. The whole embraces an
iceless area of 4,200 miles,

4. The discovery and delineation of a large tract of land forming the
extension northward of the American continent,

5, The completed survey of the American coast to the south and west as
far as Cape Sabine, thus connecting our survey with the last determined
position of Captain Inglefield. and completing the circuit of the straits and bay
heretofore known at their southernmost opening as Smith’s Sound.

Tue summer of 1854 had brought with it few changes bearing towards the
liberation of our brig. The melted snows did not run in the water channels
until the 30th of June, and our limited flora showed a tardy and inauspicious
season.

On the 12th of July, the ice being still unbroken as far as Anoatok, I set
out in a whale boat with five volunteers, to communicate if possible with our
English brethren whom we supposed to be at Beechy Island. The declining
state of our resources suggested this attempt, although it promised many
dificultics.

It occupied us until the 6th August. We found a solid pack, extending
from Jones to Murchison Sounds, between Clarence Head and Northumberland
Island. 'To the west, the ice still invested the American shore, extending some
twenty miles from Cape Isabella. Between this and Mitie Island was a solid
surface, the curved shore line occupied by an extensive glacier.

After endeavouring several times to bore, we were forced to make Hakluyt
Island on the Greenland side, and landed there to rest, and renew our stock of
provisions. The pack still filled the channel between that island and Cape
Parry; and it was only with extreme effort that we were able to carry our boat
over the ice. We had approached in this manner within ten miles of the
latter point, when seeing no chance of success, the winter rapidly advancing
upon us, I reluctantly gave orders for our return to the brig. During this
journey, which was full of exciting contingencies, we passed over the track of
Bylot and Baffin, the explorers of 1616.

Our preparations for the second winter were modified largely by controlling
circumstances. The physical energies of the party had sensibly declined. Our
resources were diminished. We had but fifty gallons of oil saved from our
summer’s seal hunt. We were scant of fuel ; and our food, which now consisted
only of the ordinary marine stores, was by no means suited to repel scurvy.
Our molasses was reduced to forty gallons, and our dried fruits seemed to have
lost their efficiency. o )

A single apartment was bulkheaded off amidships as a dormitory and
abiding room for our entire party, and a moss envelop, cut with difficulty from
the frozen cliffs, made to enclose it like a wall. A similar casing was placed
over our deck, and a small tunnelled entry—the tossui of the Esquimaux—
contrived to enter from below. We adopted, as nearly as we could, the habits
of the natives, burning lamps for heat, dressing in fox skin clothing, and relying
for our daily supplies on the success of organized hunting parties.

The upper tribes of these Esquimaux had their nearesf winter settle-
ment at a spot, distant by dog journey about seventy-five miles. We entered
into regular communication with this rude and simple-minded people, com-
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friendly offices.  Bear-meat, seal, walrus, fox, and Pt?"l,n‘g“n_t‘,"(;rg‘.?:}:bsutl?phe’:
they were eaten raw, with a rigorous attention to'thclr lmpar 1a .: I 1fu lorrl.

With the dark months, however, thesge.supphcfv‘ hecame‘wmy I“Can Y. The
excrtions of our best hunters were unavailing; and m:v pe)'son‘a’.'.):}ttelilpts to
reach the Esquimaux failed, less on account of the 1(“;(}1 (nl}lnls :’i ’)ft ltal': the
ruggedness of the ice, the extreme dar.kncss, ‘z‘ln]( 10 10;18\‘)3 ? ) Ot%lt]mc
diseases among our dogs. Our poor neighbours, 1]0.\\LVCI‘, illt \(‘101-;16 an
ourselvcs; famine, attended 1).%’ frlgh.tf;[ql forms of asease, reduced them to

west stages of misery and emaciation. )
the l(())mr ownglq)arty was gr}';dually disabled. M. Brooks and Mr. W ll}son, both
of whom had lost toes by amputation, manifestated symptoms of a grave
character. William Morton was severely frozen, ‘and we were de.prwed.of
the valuable scrvices of the surgeon by the effects o‘f frost l_)lte, Wh-lch
rendered it necessary for him to submit to amputation. Ncurvy, with varying
phases, gradually pervaded our company, until Mr. Bonsal and myself only
remained able to attend upon {he sick, and carry on the Elally work of the
ship, if that name could still appropriately designate ’(h(} purrow which we
inkabited. Iven after this siate of things had begun to improve, the demo-
ralizing effects of continued debility, and scemingly hopeless pl'i'vation‘, were
unfavourably apparent among some of the party. I pass from this topic with
the single remark, that our ultimate escape would have been hazarded, but for
the often painfully enforced routine, which the more experienced among us
felt the necessity of adhering to rigourously under all circumstances.

In the latter part of March, the walrus again made their appearance
among the broken ice to the south, and we shared with the Esquimaux the
proceeds of the hunt. The hemorrhages which had much depressed our party
subsided, and we began slowly to recover our strength.  The sun came hack to
us on the 21st February, and by the 18th April the carpenter and several
others were able to resume their duties,

In view of the contingencies which I had long apprehended, I found it
neeessary to abandon the hrig.  We had already consumed for firewood her
uppar spars, hulwarks, deek sheathing, stanchions, bulkheads, hatches, extra
strengthening timbers—in fact everything that conld be taken without destroy-
ing her sea worthiness. The papers which I append show the results of the
several surveys made at this time by my orders. Tt will be seen from them
that we Lad but a few wecks’ supply left of food or fuel, and that the path of
our intended retreat was a solid plain of ice, and that to delay a third winter,
while it could in no wise promote the search after Sir John Franklin, would
prove fatal to many of our party.

Our organization for the escape was matured with the greatest care.
Three boats, two of them whale boats, twenty-four feet in length, and the third
a light cedar dingy of thirtcen feet, were mounted upon runners cut from
the cross beams of the vessel, and bolted to prevent the dizaster of
breakage. These runners were eighteen feet in length and shod with hoop
iron. . No nails were used in their construction ; they were lashed tegether so
s to form a pliable sledge; and upon it the boats were cradled—so as to be
remmaovable at pleasure,

A fowth sledge with a team of dogs was reserved for the transport of our
swk_._f_our of whom were still unable to move, and for carrying on our stock of
provisions.  An abandoned Esquimaux hut, albout thirty-five miles from the
brig, was fitted up as well as our meang permitted, to serve as an entrepdt of
ﬁtoros and a wa)_'sule shelter for those of the party who werc already broken
wown, or might yield to the first trials of the journey.

. The cooking utensils were made from our old stove pipe. They consisted
of simple soup boilers ‘inclosed by a eylinder to protect them from the wind.
A metal trough to receive fat, with the aid of moss and cotton canvag, cnabled
us to keep up an active fire, My provisions were packed in waterproof bags,
adapted in shape to the shear of the hoats, and in no case rising ahove the thwarts.
They consisted, with the exception of tea, coffee, and small stores for the sick,
exclusively of melted fat and powdered biscuit,

The clothing was limjted to a fixed allowance. Mocassins for the feet

werle made of our woollen carpeting, which had been saved for the purpose ;
aQ 1 »
and numerous changes of dry blanket sock. were kept for gencrai <. For
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bedding, our buffalo robes were aided by eider-down, quilted into coverlids;  I'cecdins of
the experience of former travel having assured us that, next to dict and " ‘:eend United
periodial rest, good bedding and comfortable foot-gear were the most important Srates “‘l,r"“'m?-’ A
things to be considered. G e pdues

I took upon myself the office of transporting the sick, and our reserve of ——
provisions, employing for this purpose a dog-sledge, and our single team of
I carried down my first load of stores in April, and on the 15th May began the
removal of the sick. By the middle of June, all our disabled men, and some
1,200 pounds of stores had, in this manncr, heen transferred by a series of
journeyings equal in the aggregate to 1,100 miles.

On the I7th May, having authenticated by appropriate survey: the
necessities of our condition, and made all our preparations for the jourr;cv, the
sledge-boats left the vessel, dragged by the officers and nien, under the imme-
diate charge of Mr. Henry Drooks—an appointment which he fuifiled with
unswerving fidelity and encrgy.

My collections of natural hislory were also carried as iar as the sick
station at Anoatok ; but under a reluctant couviction that a farther cfiort to
preserve them would risk the safety of the party, they were finally abandoned.
It is grateful to me to recollect the devotion of my comrades, who volunteered
to sacrifice their shares of both food and clothing to secure these records of
our lahowr:.

We were able, not with ut difficulty, to covry cu our choor metors, aud
various instruments, magietic and others, which mighi allow jue +/ill to muke
and verify our accustomed oh:civaticns.  WWe leit belind the theodolite of the
United States coast survey, and the valuable solf-registering barometrie ajpe-
ratus, furnished by the American Philosophical Society,  Our llrary, as weil
as those portions which had been furnished by the Government and by 2.
Grinnell, as my own, were necessarily sacrificcd.  We preserved only the docu-
ments of the Expedition.

The first portions of our journey filled me with mi-givings, as the weakness
of the party showed itself in dropsical swellings and excesive difficulty of
respiration. In spite of a careful systum of training, the first cxp-oure to
temperatures ranging about zero and below it, were to an invalid w
extremely trying, and for the first cight days the entire distance accomy
from the ship did not exceed fifteen miles.  Although the mcan rate of 4
portation was afterwards incrcased, it never excecded three and a half wiles a
day over ice. Some idea may be formed by the dopartinent of the nature of
this journey, from the fact that cvery three and a hali’ miles, thus attamod, cost
us from twelve to fifteen miles of actual travel.

To sustain the party by the aid of {resh food, required dog journey: to the
south settlements of the Esquimaux, distant {from us about weventy-five milos,
I found it necessary also to return-from time to time to the brig with the view
of augmenting our supplics. DMy last visit to her was on thc Sth of June,
for the purpose of procuring some pork to scrve for fuel. Fhe was then pre-
cisely as when we left her on the 17th of May, immovably frozen in, vith nine
feet of solid ice under her bows. We availed ocursclves of the occasional
facilities which these visits allowed us, to iucrease our stock of bread, of which
wesuceeeded in baking +R01bs, :

Continuing our southern progress we neared Littleton Island.  Our sick
first left at Anoatok were gradually brought down to the hoats as sume of them
gained strength enough to aid in the labour of dragging. The condition «f the
ice as it became thinner and decaving, made this labour more difficult; and in
the course of our many hreaks through, several of the party narrowly escaped
being carried under by the tides. In the effort to liberate our sledges from the
broken ice after one ot these accidents, Acting Carpenter Ohlsen received an
internal injury: paralysis of the bladder was rapidly followed by tetanic
symptons, and he died on the 12th Juw: ¢, three days after his attack. Ilc has
left behind Lim a young wifc, who depended entirely upon him for support. He
was buried upon Littleton Island opposite a cape which bears his name.

From this stage of our journey up to the time of reaching the first open
water which was near (ape Alexander, we were comforted hy the friendly
assistance of the Esquimaux of Etah. These people faith{ully adhered to the
alliance which we had established during the winter. Thoy tioucht v daity
supplies of birds, helped us to carry our provision: and stores; and in their
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Proceedings of daily intercourse with us exhibited the kindest feeling and most rigid honesty.
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'hen we remembered that they had been so assuming and aggressive upon our
f\;\rs};eax*rixe'al that I was forced toyseize their wives as hostages for {;he protecticn
of our property, their present demeanour was not w1thout. its lesson. Or}ce
convinced of our superiority of power, and.a«:surcd of our disposition to_unite
our resources with theirs for mutual protection and support, they had relied upon
us implicitly, and strove now to requite their obligations towards us by
ministering to our wants. ) )

We left them on the 18th June, at the margin of the floe. In t.hlrty-one
days we had walked 316 miles, and had transport.ed our boats over eighty-one
miles of unbroken ice. The men, women, and children of the little settlement
had also travelled over the ice to bid us good-by, and we did not part from
them without emotion.

The passage between this point and one ten miles north-west of Hakluyt
Island was in open water. It was the only open water seen north of Cape York, in
latitude 75° 59.  We ran this under sail, in a single day, hauling upon the ice
to sleep.  This ice was a closed pack, hanging around the north and south
channels of Murchison Sound, and seemingly continued to the westward. The
land ices were still unbroken, and we were obliged to continue our journey by
alternate movements over ice and wuater. So protracted and arduous were
these, that, between the 20th June and the 6th July, we had advanced but
100 miles. , . )

Our average progress was about eight miles a day, stopping for our hunting
parties and for sleep.  Great care was taken not to infringe upon the daily
routine.  We had perpetual daylight; but it was my rule, rarely broken even
by extreme necessity, not to enter upon the labours of a day until we were
fully refreshed from those of the day before. We halted regularly at bed time
and for meals. The boats, if afloat, were drawn up; the oars always disposed
on the ive, asa platform for the stores; our buffalo skins were spread; each
man placed himself, with his pack, according to his number; the cook for the
day made his fire; and the ration, however scanty, was formally measured out.
Prayers were never intermitted, and very seldom grace before meals. I believe
firmly, that to those well-ordered observances we are largely indebted for our
final escape.

As we moved onward, we were forced to rely exclusively on our guns for a
supply of tood. We suffered, when off the coast immediately north of Wolsten-
holme Bound, from a scarcity of game, and were subjected to serious sickness
in consequence. But at Dalrymple Island, a little further south, we recruited
rapidly on cugs of the eider duck; and from this point to Conical Rock we
found birds in abundance. Again, at the most uncertain period of our passage,
when our stock of provisions was nearly exhausted, we were suddenly arrested
in our course hy high and rugged land ice, which hugged a glacier near Cape
Dugley Digges. We were too weak to drag our boats over this barrier, and
were driven, in consequence, to land under the cliffs. To our joyful surprise
we found them tceming with animal life. 'This transition from enfeebling want
to plenty, which restored our strength, we attributed to the direct interposition
of Providence. The lumme (Urize Brunichii and Troili) was the fowl which
we here found in greatest numbers. We dried upon the rocks about 200 Ibs.
of'its meat, which we carefully saved for the transit of Melville Bay.

_ The rest of the coast, except under the glaciers, was followed with less
ditficulty, We found peat of good quality and plenty of food. Our daily
allowz.mce of birds was twelve to a man; they were boiled into a rich soup,
to which we added a carefully measured allowance of six ounces of bread.

. On the 215t we reached Cape York, and fiuding no natives, made imme-
diate preparations for crossing Melville Bay. An extended view showed the
land-ice nearly unbroken, and a large drift of pack to the southward and
westward. A beacon cairn was built, and strips of red flannel fastened to a
ﬂag—staff, so placed as to attract the attention of whalers or searching parties.
{n(}le(%msned hvere' a notice of our future in.tentigms, a list of our provisions on

and, and a short summary of the discoveries of the cruise.
mzm»ﬁpofwﬂ Eh;%alflbfch J ug oui' traverse of Melville Bay was along the
ulmﬁ’ com )-{11'1t' -] e o t_“lw . result to portage. We came then

y paratively open drift, extending to the southward and westward,
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which, after mature consideration, I determined to follow, There were areu-
ments in favour of a different course, perhaps for the time less hazardous, but
the state of health among my comrades, admonished me that it was best to
encounter the risks that were to expedite our release. Ihe reduced bulk of our
stores enabled us now to consolidate the party into two hoats, breaking up the
remaining one for fuel, of which we werc innced.  Our lengthened practice of
alternating hoat and sledge management, had given us somethine of assurance
in this mode of travel, and we were hesides familiarized with ‘privation. It
was a time of renewed suffering, but in the result we reachied the north coast of
Greenland, near Horses’ Head, on the 2rd August; and following thence the
inside passage arrived on the 6th at Upernavik, 83 days after leaving the
Advance. We did not intermit our observations by sextaut and artificial hori-
zon as we came down the bay, and suceceded in add'my to our meteorological
and magnetic registers, These, including a resurvey of the coast, as laid down
in the Admiralty charts, will he included in a special report to the Department.

We were weleomed at the Danish settlements with characteristic hospi-
tality, The chief trader, Knud Gelmeyden Fleischer, advanced to us, from the
stores of the Royal Greenland Trading Company at Upernavik, whatever our
necessitics required : and when we afterwards reached Godhaven, the seat of
the Roval Inspectorate. Mr. Olrik, the Inspcetor, lavished the kindest attentions
upon our party.

We had taken passage at Upernavik, in the Danish brig the “ Marianne,”
then upon her annual visit to the Greenland colonies.  (aptain Amandsen, her
very courteous and liberal commander, having cngaged to land us at the
Shetland Isles on his return route to Copenhagen.  But touching for a few
days at Disco, we were met by the vessels which had been sent after us, under
the command of Licutenant Hartstein. I have no words {o express the grati-
tude of all our party towards that noble-spirited officer and his associates, and
towards our countrymen at home who had devised aud given effect to the
expedition for our reseunc.

1 have, &e.
(Signed) L. K, KANE.

Inclosure 2 in No. 9.
Dr. Kune to the Honourable Secretary of the Navy.

Sir, Fiskennes, South Greenlund, July G, 1853.

WE reached this place on the 3th in-tant, after a yun of twelve days from
St. John’s, Newfoundland. '

By means of special facilities extended to our Expedition by the Danish
Government, we have been able to obtain from the Royal Greenland Company
supplies of fresh-dried codfish, ax wlso a native Esquimaux, as hunter. This
boy will take with him his kyah, and is expected to prove of essential
service.

We have as vet encountered no ice. It is my intention tostop at Sukker-
toppen, to purchase reindeer skinx.

I have, &e.
(Nigned) E. K. KANE.

Inclosure 3 in No. 9.
Dr. Kane to the Honourable Secrctary of the Navy.

Sir Upernavik, North Greenland, July 24, 1333,
I HAVE the honour to report the safe arrival of myself and party at
Upernavik.

Being much delayed by calms, I deemed it unadvisable to stop at Gptllla\'el_l,
but have lost no time in proceeding north.  Our full complenment o does s
now on board, and we leave in a few hours for Melville Bay.

D

y

Proceedings of
the Second United
States’ Aretic Expc=
dition. Lt. Kane's
Report.



18

Proceedings  of I have engaged the valuable services of Mr. Carl Johan Petersen, late

the Second United jptarpreter to Captain Penny’s expedition of search. If we should meet the
ﬁfﬁfj’j Alftt]clgf,pf; Esquimanx north of Cape Alexander, he will be essential to our party.

Report. ' The officers and men are in excellent health and spirits.

- I have, &ec.

(Signed) E. K. KANE.

Inclosure 4 in No. 9.
Dr. Kane to the Honourable Secretary of the Navy.

Deposited in Cairn, Latitude 78° 24" N.,
Sir, August 7, 1853.

I HAVE the honour to report our successful transit of Melville Bay and
safe arrival within the waters of 8ir Thomas Smith’s sound.

This letter will be deposited in a cairn on Littleton Island, in latitude
78° 24’ N. 'The prospects of a further progress have led me to leave near this
spot a metallic life boat with a supply of stores as a means of retreat should
our vessel be imprisoned in the ice.

The course of our party will be, from this date, along the coast of Greenland,
trending to the north and cast. If a possible chance presents itself of forcing
the brig into a northern sea, I will endeavour, before availing myself of such a
chance, to leave another cairn announcing my point of departure.

Our officers and men are in excellent health and spirits, and no cases have
yet occurred of scurvy or other serious disease.

After the brig is obliged to gointo winter quarters, I intend to start with a
carefully equipped party to establish a depdt for the final labours of next season,
Our dogs are in admirable condition and well broken to harness.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) E. K. KANE.
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Proceedings of the Hudson’s Bay /Arciic Expedition, sent
down the Great Iish Riwr, under command of
Messrs. Anderson and Stewart, to investigate the
traces of the party under Sir John Franklin, found

by Dr. Rae.

No. 10.
V. G. Swith, Esq., lo W. .. B. Hamilton, Esq.

-
Sir, Hudson's Bay Dovse, Felruary 26, 1855.

I AM directed by the Governor and Committee of the Hll(ln“ll s Day  Proceedings  of
Company to inclose, for the information of the Lords Conmnissioncrs of the Hudson Bay Aretic
Admiralty, the accompanying extract of a letter received by the last mail from é??g:"f'}‘;ﬁd‘}{“xz}fe
Sir George Simpson, under date La Chine, 3rd February 1254, showing the —_
arrangements which have been made at Red River Scttlement, for prosccuting
the Arctic Expedition down the Great Fish River.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) W. G. SMITH, Secretary.

Inclosure in No. 10.
Sir George Simpson to W. G. Swmith, Esq.

(Extract.) La Chine, February 3, 1555.

MR. BISSETT, the Accountant of this ()ﬁicc, who was torwarded, by
express, from hence to Red River, on the 2Tst November last, with despatehes
connected with the Arctic L\pedmon of next summer, returned this morning,
having been alisent on the journey, going and coming, ten weeks and five dd)
of which he spent a fortnight at the Settlement. IHe reached Fort Garry on
the 20th December ; and, on the 27th, the scrvants and supplies directed tou be
furnished from the Rcd River, were dispatched under the charge of Mr, James
Lockhart, clerk.

Mr. Ballenden was not able to engage all the men reccommended by
Dr. Rae, but he states he was enabled to replace them by very efficient hands.
All other arrangements connected with the Expedilion were made with prompti-
tude, and in accordance with instructions; and I have little doubt the party
will reach Great Slave Lake at the appointed date.

D2
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No. 11.

W. G. Smith, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Recewed Aug. 14.)
Sir Hudson’s Bay House, August 13, 1855.

M directed by the Governor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay
Com;afyjlto inclose, %or the information of the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, the accompanying extract of a letter just rccelved frorfl Sir George
Simpson, dated La Chine, July 30th, 1855, in reference to the proceedings of
the Expedition, to be sent down the Great Fish River, for investigating the
traces of the late Sir John Franklin,

I have, &ec. ‘
(Signed) W. G. SMITH, Secretary.

Inclosure in No. 11.

Sir George Simpson to W. G. Smith, Esq.

(Extract.) La Chine, July 30, 1855,

AT the date of my departure from the interior no information had been
received, either at Norway House or Red River Settlement, of the Expedition
for the Arctic Coast having left Great Slave Lalke; but as the various supplies
and servants had been forwarded in due course from the different points
whence they were ordered, there is reason to believe the party was duly
organized at the rendezvous at the appointed date.

No. 12,
W. G. Smith, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received August 28.)

mr, Hudson’s Bay House, August 27, 1855.

BY dircetion of the Governor and Committee of the Hudson's Bay
Company, I have the honour {o inclose, for the information of the Lords
Commissioners of the Admiralty, extracts of letters from Sir George Simpson,
dated Fort Garry, Red River Scttlement, 29th J unc, and La Chine, 13th August,
1855, giving further information in reference to the proceedings of the Expe-
dition to the mouth of the ¢ Back” River.

Lalxo inclose the original papers from Her Majesty's ship « Enterprize,”#
referred to in Sir George Simpson’s letter of the 13th August,

I have, &e.
(Signed) W. G. SMITH, Secretary.

Inclosure 1 in No. |2,

Sir George Simpson to the Governor, Deputy Governor, and Committec of the
Hudsow’s Bay Company.

(Extract.) Fort Garry, Red River Settlement, June 29, 1855.

NO information hag vet been received of the departure from the
rendezvous at Great Slave Lake of the Expedition under Messr, Anderson and
Stewart. Livery exertion has been made in thig part o’ the country to render
the Companys resources available for this important service. The party from
Red River, under Afr. Stewanrt, passed Ile i la Cros<e on the 15th February
where they oltained all requisite supplies for the prosecution of their joul‘lle}:

Lo Athabasca; and there is littlo doulit they reached the rendezvous at Great

Slave Lake in ¢ i i
l)'],]‘qtiong\folln tflﬁzplp time to bu]lg canoes and make all other neces«ary pre-
Fort Qi M€ journey, as well as to communicate wi y 3

. . . v © 1 3 "'
Fort Simpson, with a view to his e o

joming the party. 1 regret to say we have
* An Almanac for the year

. s 1854 (aud other papers), printed ox .o .
* Enter ? W S SLhrower papers), priuted o board H M. Discovery Shi
We:t.elpnse, Captain  Collinson, C.B.. in Camden Bay, Lat. 70 38 North, Lor:g. 14}.':)" QSE
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not been able to secure the service of Ouglibuck, the Esquimaus Interpreter  Proceedings  of
who accompanied Dr. Rae, for this Expedition, as he was unwilling again to Hudson Bay Arctic
embark on such arduous duty, and absented himself from Churchill, in order ExPed'{;’-ofldﬁ“the
to avoid being pressed on the subject. Great Fish River
So much time was occupied in these negotiations with Ouglibuck, that
Chief Factor W. Mactavish, finding the season too far advanced to send
another Interpreter hy the usual route, vii Norway House and English River,
made arrangements for forwarding William Oman, the Interpreter of Churchill
Post, and another Esquimaux who can speak English, with a party of Indians,
overland to Athabasca, which the guides undertook to reach hefore the opening
of the navigation.
In accordance with the arrangements made last winter, a hoat, laden
with provisions and clothing, wax forwarded this spring from Red River to Great
Slave Lake, with instructions to proceced to such rendezvous as might have been
pointed out by Messrs. Anderson and Stewart.

Inclosure 2 in No. 12,
Sir George Simpson to W. G. Smith, Esy.

(Extract.) La Chine, August 13, 1855.

SINCE the foregoing was written, letters have reached me from McKenzie
River and Athabasca, with dates from IFort Simpson, to 30th March, and Fort
Chipewyan, 15th April, conveying, I have the satistaction to state, very favour-
able reports of the progress making in the arrangements for the Expedition to
the Arctic Coast. .\s evidence of the celerity and success which had charac-
terized the preliminary proceedings, My, Stewart states the fact, that within
four months and a-half from the date of Dr. Rae’s arrival in London, the
officers, servants, provisions, clothing, and other necessary supplics had been
collected at Athabasca from Canada, and various parts of the Company’s
territories, Chief Factor Anderson, on receipt of the despatches appointing
lim to the Expedition, immediately entered upon its organization with great
energy, and as soon as he had completed the necessary arrangements for trans-
ferring the charge of McKenzic River District to Chief Factor Camphell, was
to procecd to the rendezvous at Great Slave Lake, taking with bim further
supplies of provisions and clothing. So far as the plans of Messrs. Anderson
and Stewart had been developed at the date they wrote, it appears it was
intended the party should procced by the last ice, «ay in May, across Great
Slave Lake, carrying the canoes and stores in sledges to its Jastern extremity,
where they would be ready to avail themselves of the first opening of the
navigation in the river, which always takes place some weeks in advance of the
lake. They were to employ three canoes on the trip towards the coast, making
caches of provisions at varivus points available for their return, and when the
cargoes were sufliciently reduced, one canoc would also be left, probably at the
mouth of the river.  Mr. Anderson states, he thinks it likely the party would,
on arrival at the coast, be divided, half scarching to the castward, and half to
the westward, and that he hopes to return this fall.  Both Mr. Anderson and
My, Stewart write in high spirits. and cvidently have their hearts in the work.
I therefore think we may rely on every cfiort heing used to accomplish the
service, and so far all promises well.

The inclosed docwments* in reference to Her Majesty's ship - Enterprise,”
Captain Collinson, were received last winter at the Company’s post, on
the Youcon River, through the Esquimaux and Rat River Indians.  The
retwrn of the ¢ Enterprise” has deprived these documents of the value they
would otherwise possess, but their receipt may be useful, as showing the tine in
which communications from Aretic exploring vessels, transmitted (hrough such
channels, may be expected to reach London. .

I transmit herewith copies of letters to my address from Chief Factor
Anderson, dated Fort Simpson, 30th March, and from Chief Trader Stewart,
dated Fort Chipewyan, 29th March, and 15th April.

% See Note opposite Page,
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Inclosure 3 in No. 12.

James Anderson, Esq., (o Sir George Simpson.

Fort Simpson, March 30, 1855,

I BEG to state that your despatch ot the 18th November last appointing
me to the first, and Mr. J. (i Stewart to the Secon‘d, command of an expedl-
tion to ascertain the fate of Sir John Franklin and his unfortunate companions,
reached me yesterday at mid-day. ) .

I need not say that I feel highly honoured at being selected to perform this
duty, and that all the ability and encrgy that I possess shall be put forth to
fulfil your instructions, and not dizcredit the service. .

Mr. Stewart isat Slave Lake getting canoes built, he will also engage
Fond du Lac unters, and make other arrangements.

All the Arctic Scarching Expedition supplies are here, excepting the
pemmican and flour, which are at Resolution, and there are many arrange-
ments to make. I shall leave this, immediately the Upper Mackenzie breaks up,
with these supplies, and await the opening of the navigation along the south
shiore of Slave Lake at Big Island, when 1 shall immediately proceed to Reso-
lution, which T shall rcach long belore the north end of Slave Lake is
navigable.  The chief diffieultics to he overcome are the navigation of the
viver and the ice-eneumbered sea with our frail craft, but, with care, this may
be =afely accomplished.

As great a quantily of provisions as possible, with a due attention to our
rapid progress shall be taken, and a party of Fond du Lac hunters be engaged
to accompany us, and await our return about the head of the river, by which
time T anticipate they will have gathered a large stock of provisions,

If not detained by ice, I sce no difficulty in accomplishing our task in
ONEC Heasonl,

Ushall have the pleasure of addressing you previous to our departure from
Reselution, when T shall he able to give you an account of the arrangements
that have heen made.

This express must Jeave immediately, otherwise it will not reach Athabasca
before the Slave River becomes dangerous.

I have, &c.
(Signed) JAMES ANDERSON.

Sir,

Inclosure 4 in No. 12,
J. G. Stewart, Esq., to Sir George Simpson.

Dear Sir, Fort Clupewyen, March 29, 1856.

BY the return of the duplicate express, I am enabled to inform you of
onr safe arrival at this place on the Gth ultimo, and of my having been «t Fort
Resqlution with reven men, who were to commence at onee o get the canoes in
readiness, as well as “‘ivuinean ™ to convey them to were we find open water.
Great Slave Lake Lreaking up very late we should lose a sreat deal of the short
season by waiting for that eveidt, . ‘

The wood, gum, hark, Qv are alrcady prepared lere, and we only want
warm weather to commence Luilding the canoes at this place : no time has heen
lost in owr prcparations, and T think every thing will be ready here by the time
Slave River hreaks up.

It will be understood that (e arrangements ave inade as if I was going
alone, but T fancy Mr. Anderson will make but few alterations, except, pe;?haps,
in the minor details_; at_present the plan of operations is as follows :—On the
breaking up of th'e lce, in the river, we start from Slave Lake with two canoes,
from thence getting them in Traineau, with other sleighs for provisions, &e.,
we go with thrce canoes as far as possible, or until we meet open water by which
means we hope to be on the Fish River about the beginning of June, follow the
1ce to the wca, and commence the search according to the instructions,and return
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to winter at the cast end of Slave Lake, where Back’s old Towt Reliance was,
For that purpose Mr. Lockhart will he left to colleci provisions, &e., and, should
anything prevent Mr. Anderson’ coming, Mr. B. R. Ro:s will go with me to
the sea.

On my way to Fort Resolution we fortunately fell in with the Yellow
Knife Chief, to whom I gave instructions to collect his young men at the east
end of Slave Lake to meet us there to receive orders, to hunt for the TExpedition
and render assistance in every possible measure. ’

Mr. Lockhart will alzo receive instructions to come with a party of Indians
to the Fish River, with supplies of clothing and provisions ; for 0{\'i119; to the
Expedition goods having been taken down to McKenzie last year, we shall not
have enough, should the same weather take us en route.

Fortunately 1041bs. provisions were left at 1orl Resolution, which will be
quite sufficient for our wants during summer. At this place provisions are =o
scarce that I have been obliged to send the men to fish for their maintenance.

Fourteen was the number sent from Red River. which makes two more than
those mentioned in the instructions, but cven that will not be sufficient for
three canoes in such a river as the one we have {o ¢o through; consequently
I have engaged two Orkneymen who volunteered at this place, which, l-aving
two with Mr. Lockhart for the summer worli at Fort Reliance, will give us
fourteen for the sea, besides the Esquimaux interpreters, which latter, not being
used to work, need not he counted, they have not yet made their appearance.
but the season will allow of their travelling for some time yet. Should anything
prevent their coming it will be a serious obstacle to our suceess, as it will
impede our communication with the natives, who, T fancy, know more than they
told Dr. Rae.

Canoes are rather frail eraft for the sca and ice, but evidently be:t adapted
for the work we have on hand ; in order to make them safe, they are to be lined
inside with tarred bale cloth, so that should the bark he erushed, or oiherwize
injured, we shall have time to get ashore before the water ¢ots through the
cloth, I do not know whether this has been tried bhefore, <o that the Fish
River will have the benefit of the first attempt.

Our wintering at all depends upon our suecess, or whether another season
would do anything further than will have been done this season; should we he
suceessful, or should it be found uscless to prolong the scarch, vou will, it 1 am
alive, see me at La Chine next March, and should we winter, vou will hear of us
per winter express.

No efforts shall be wanting to give us success, and fulfil your wishes, but
as so many abler men have been employed in this service without (with the
exception of Dr. Rae) bringing any information, or in fact doing anything in
the way of clearing up the mystery of the lost ships, it will not he at all
surprising should we fail also.  Let us hope otherwise.

I have, &c.
(Signed) J. G. STEWART.

Inclosure 5 in No. 12.
J. G. Stewart, Esq., to Sir George Simpson.

My Dear Sir, Fort Chipewyan, April 15, 1855.

BY the arrival of the men from Norway House we are in reccipt of the
supplies from York Factory, which arrived in good order, and will be of great
assistance to us. Two of Dr. Rae’s men have heen sent, which makes the
number in all seventeen.

Our first canoe is commenced, but the cold weather keeps us back a good
deal. Qld Baptiste is quite pleased now he has begun to work at his favowrite
craft, which I bope are destined to unravel the Franklin mystery. The inter-
preters have not yet arrived. Mr. Mactavish sent to Churehill, but ()ughb}wk
was not at the fort, having gone off with a party of Esquimaux to sec his wife ;
however, instructions have been given to forward him, ri Fond du Lac, and
failing him, somebody else who can act as an interpreter.  They ought to he
here soon, or the travelling will be bad. Geese and ducks have been seen hut
nonc as yet killed.

Proceedings  of
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Proceediugs  of So far all is going on well.  Mr, Deschambeault has d?l,“? Iwonders in
Hudson Bay Arctic fo1varding this last party, provisions being o searce at Ile a Ia. Crosse.
Expeditiondoun i he You will excuse this hurried serawl I hope, for the Indian who guided
Great Toh Ttiver. Mistagun here, is waiting to go hack at once, seeing that the ice in the river

— is getting very bad. s
I have, &c. .
(Signed) JAMES G. STEWART.

No. 13.
W. G. Smith, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admirally.—(Received Junuary 10.)

Sir, Hudson’s Bay House, January 9, 1856,

I AM directed by the Governor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay
Company to transmit to you, for the information of the Lords Commissioners
of the Admiralty, the accompanying extract of a letter received this morning
from Chief Factor Hopkins, dated La Chine, 24th December, 1855, together
with copy, a letter from Chief Factor Anderson, dated Fort Resolution, 17th
September, 1855, detailing the result of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s Expedi-
tion to the mouth of the Great Fish River, to investigate the traces of the
party under Rir John Franklin found by Dr. Rac.

I'am to add that the Governor and Committee will give instructions for
the transmission to this country of the various relics secured by the expedition,
and mentioned in Chief Factor Anderson’s letter,

I have &e.
(Nigned) W. G SMITH, Secretary.

Inclosure 1 in No. 12,
Edward M. Hopkins to William (i. Swith, Esq.

(Extract.) La Chine, December 24, 1855.

I' HAVE the satisfaction to report, for the information of the Governor
and Committee, that Chiel Trader Stewart arrived here on the morning of the
22nd instant, from the Arctic coast. +i¢ Red River and the United States,
accompanied by the three froquois servanis who were sent from hence in
November last year, to form part of the Expedition under the joiut command
of Messrs. Anderson and Stewart.

The result of that Expedition has heen the confirmation of the report
conveyed to England by Dr. Rac last year.  The coast and islands in the
Iocal_lt.y where the party of whites are reported to have perished in 1850, were
carefully searched ; and these, as well as from Espuimaux in the neighbourhood,
traces of the party were discovered, but no hooks or papers, nor human remains,
although the exact spot was visited at which the natives told Dr. Rac they had
seen the bodies, but being a low sandy spit, exposed to the sca, the probability
18 they were washed off, or buried in the sand, l

On the Montreal Island, as stated by the Esquimaux, small remains of a
boat were found, having heen cut up for the sake of the wood and nails. Among
ﬂl.e chips and frftgm(»nts a piece of wood was discovered, with the word “Terror ”
Rlﬁl;((elﬁdd}}pon it; and :}nother' piece has « M. Stan]ey’_’ (? surgeon of the

us™) cut on it with a knife. This last is part of a snow-shoe, and
probably of Lngllsh make, being of oak, a description of wood never used for
the purpose m countries where snow-<hoes are used. These two relies, and a
Plllecde of rope, with the Government mark in it; the step of a boat-mast,
:eg}ail‘l‘:ﬂ(l)fC:’(l)l)lt)]fgr;nfl(') x;zitee-r-(ihpf d]ated 18'43; some pieces of bunting, andrt‘he
more bulky articles My ' ;: dla-\‘e )ﬁel? bloggllt hither by Mr. Stewart., The
conveyance, consisting .)1‘i‘112i ellslo'n I asd1 ot B Jorwarded Ly another
iTon, 2sh onpe brandes v%'ith t}}});t B}, dun‘ ‘cr§tand, O_f preserved 1'11eat cans, bar-
Expedition 1aid down in Sir Georr'o g %'auow, ,an_d some_tools. e plan of the
1334, was carefully carried ont by gle ’ l'n}psc-)n S lnSt!'uC.tIOI'lS of 18“? Novemb.e o
Yo ut by all parties intrusted with its execution, and with
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complete success. 'The officers, servants, craft, and supplies were assembled at Proceedings  of

the rendezvous on Great Slave Lake at the appointed date, and returned thither, Hudson Bay Arctic

after having accomplished the arduous service, without experiencing any priva- (:X'P‘Cdllt“l'o‘r}lld[c{}vnthc

tions, or meeting with a single accident to person or property. 0 srat ish River.
For fuller details I heg leave to refer to the acuﬁnpuuying copy of

Mr. Andersor¥s report, addressed to Sir George Simpson, dated Fort Resolution,

17th September, 1855.

Inclosure 2 in No. 13,

James Anderson to Sir George Simpson.

e

Sir, Fort Recolution, Seplember 17, 1350,

I BEG to state, for your information. that the Expedition vou were pleascd
to intrust to my command returned here last night.

After having descended Back’s Great Fish River, and explored the main-
land and islands as far as Maconachie’s Island, undoubted traces of the
missing party werce found at Montreal Island; but I regret to say that neither
the remains of our unfortunate countrvman, nor any persons were discovered,
My previous despatehes would have informed you that 1 arrived at Fort Reso-
lution late on the 20th June; the three canoces huilt under the superintendence
of Messvs. Stewart and Ross were all ready; they were of an excellent model,
the wood-work very strong, but the bark, though the best that could be pro-
cured at so short a notice, was very inferior. They were of course very heavy,
their ladings amounted to twenty-four pieces of ninety pounds each. and con-
sisted chiefly of provisions with a good supply of ironworks, &c.. for the
Bsquimauy ; ammunition, nets, Halkett boat, and the baggage ol the pacty,
Double sets of poles, paddles, and lines were also provided.  Fifteen men, and
an Indian guide to Sussex Lake, composed the erews; but I found we were too
weakly manned, and added three Yellow Knife Indians, who wished to zo to
their lands. The only thing wanting was an Esquimaux interpreter.

Late on the evening of the 22nd June the Expedition made a move to an
istaind about a mile from the fort. Heavy gales from the N. B. detained us
hetween there and Rocky Point, where the traverse is taken, till the 27th;
these, however, cleared our road ol ice. On the 2sth we encamped at the
upper cnd of Tal-thel-leh Strait; we then fell in with the ice; it was about
two feet thick. We were employed till the morning of the 2nd July in making
our way through it, by cutting, pushing the picces apart, and making portages
over the points of land: young ice formed every night, and the further we
advanced the sounder it got: the canoes, too, unavoidably reccived some
injury,

At that date we had reached the place called the Mountain in Back's map,
and mentioned in his narrative as being a route to the harren grounds; but
only practicable for small Indian canoes. The guide engaged by Mr. Stewart
was unacquainted with this route; he proposed taking us by a river falling
into Great Slave Lake, on its castern shore, nearly opposite to Fort Reliance ;
by means of this river, some lakes, and ten portages, he intended to round the
head of Great Nlave Lake, and fall eventually at the Deaver Lodge in
Artillery Lake.

Hoar Frost River, which Rir George Back ascended with difficulty in a
half-sized light canoe in the autumn, would have been at this season imprac-
ticable. To get through the ice to either ot these rivers would have occupied
a long time, and then Artillery, Clinton Colden, and Aylmer Lakes were still
before us; it was clear that if some other route were not adopted the Expe-
dition would fail. Here was our only chance. One of the Indians had passed
by this route as far as the river falling into the upper end of Aylmer Lale, he
gave a disheartening description of the difficultics to be surmounted, and the
high range of mountains before me was anything but encouraging. I, however,
determined on making the attempt, as the route was so much shorter, and we
might also expect to have a long stretch of open water o Lake Aylmer, at
the mouth of the river. . .

Immediately after hreakfast the portage was begun, and though four trips
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of were made before we encamped, the canoes and ladings were carried over three

Hudson Bay Arctic gnd g half miles of mountains, and across a small lake; at 10} p.m., our fine

Expeditiondownthe
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fellows were descending a steep mountain with the canoes singing “La Violette.”
The next day’s work was somcthing similar, the third was a little better, after
which the mountains subsided to gentle hills and the lakes were larger, some
of them from 20 to 40 miles in length. In short, after "passing throug!l 24
lakes and 25 portages, we reached the river falling into Lake Aylmer (whlych I
have called Gutram River, after a gallant relative) late on the 7th J uly. Two
easy rapids and about 12 miles of river brought us to Lake Aylmer. .

1 had now to trust to my own guidance. As 1 had anticipated, we fopnd
the lake at its mouth free from ice, and had fine paddling for about 30 miles.
When we fell in with the ice, the whole lake appeared solid and unbroken ; the
ice was about three feet thick and perfectly sound.

The north side of the lake which we followed is indented with deep bays,
separated from each other by narrow necks of lan.d ; round these and close to
the shore we had to work our way, by cutting, poling, and numerous portages
across points, with occasional pieces of open water at the bottom of the bays.
There were also some crevasses through which we passed at a great risk of
being nipped; we had several hair-breadth escapes; indeed one of the canoes
was once only saved by pushing poles under her bottom, and allowing her to be
litted on the ice. We finally arrived with our canoes much injured, at Sand-
hill Bay, on the 11th July.

We had now the advantage of Nir G, Bacl’s map and narrative, the former,
the one attached to his book, was on far too small a seale for our purpose, but
the latter was of creat service.

It is ncedless for me to describe thie descent of this dangerous river, after
the minute and correet description of our gallant predecessor ; notwithstanding
the exquisite skill of our Iroquois Boutes; the canoes were repeatedly broken
and much strained in the whirpools and eddies. The river to the small lake
falling into Musk Ox Lake was nearly dry, and the portage work was most
severe.

On the 13th July, Musk Ox Rapid wes reached; here we found a few
Ycllow Knife Indians.

Our four Indians and one man vere left here ; the latter with onc of the
Indians was to return to Great Slave Lake to join Mr. Lockhart, and the Expe-
dition now consisted of the following individuals ;

James Anderson, 1st Command.

J. P. Stewart, 2nd do.

Bte. Assinijunton |

Ignace Montour Iroquois Boutes,
Joseph Snarize g

wliomaz: Misteagun

Pauletie Papanakics ( Muskegon Steersmen.

John Fidicr half-bred do.
I:IQlll‘y Fidler » Midman,
Edward Kipling 5 .

George Daniel

Donal MLecd ,
Jerry Johnston, 3] uskegon
Joseph Boucher, Canadian .
Murdo’MacLellan, Highlander .,
William Reid, Orkneyman .

»
3

b4

On the 15th, the worst canoe, which was completely worn out, was left, and
we now proceeded with heavier ladings but better crews. On the 20th the first
Esquimaux were scen at the mouth of and helow Mackinley’s River. There
were five lodg(is and we vizited two of them: we here found the want of an
interpreter. We had two of Dr. Rae’s men, who understood a few words and
El)hrasei\,I anlt(l. \I’lth tlﬁe aid of signs they made us understand that they came

own Mackinley’s River. They were not h a 3
excellent friey y much -alarmed, and we soon got

They had evideatly seen whites or had communicati i i
. d : 8, munication with others of their
countrymen (imnost Frobably those who resort to Churchill) who had intercourse
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with them, as they possessed a few of our daggers, beads, files and tin kettles,
and one old man brought down some wolf skins to barter; they were clothed
entirely in deer and musk-ox skins. Their canoes were made of deer parch-
ment, and not a piece of seal-skin was seen among them.

Another small party was seen at the rapid between Lake Pelly and Garry.
The men appeared to be all absent, and the women and children fled on seeing
us. Some small presents were left in the lodges to show our kindly intentions.

In Lake Garry we had to work through about fifteen miles of ice; but
although ice was observed in some of the other lakes, we met with no further
obstruction from this cause.

On the 30th, at the rapids below lLake Franklin, three Esquimaux lodges
were seen on the opposite shore, and shortly after an clderly man crossed
to us. After the portage was made we crossed over, and immediately perceived
various articles belonging to a boat, such as tent poles and kayack paddles
made out of ash oars, pieces of mahogany, elm, oak, and pine; also copper and
sheet iron boilers, tin soup turcens, picces of instruments. a letter nip, with the
date 1843, a broken hand saw, chisels, &e.  Ouly one man was at the lodges,
but the women, who were very intelligent, made usx understand by words and
signs that these articles came from a hoat, and the white men belonging to it
had died of starvation.

We of course, by showing them books and written papers, endeavoured to
ascertain if they possessed any papers, offering to give them plenty of the goods
we had with us for them; but though they cvidently understood u+, they said
they had none; they did not scruple to show us all their hidden treasures.
Besides the man, there werc three women and eight children ; the remainder of
this party, two men and three lads, were seen towards evening.

Point Beaufort was reached on the 31st; we were detained there the next
day till 21 p.ar. by a south-west gale; we then took the traverse to Montreal
Island; to seaward the ice appeared perfectly firm and unbroken.

When about three miles iom the island, a large stream of ice was observed
coming at a great rate before the wind and tide. out of Elliott’s Bay and the
other deep bays to the westward. Ivery sinew was stretched to reach the land;
but we were soon surrounded by ice, and for some time were in most imminent
danger. The ice was from six to seven feet thick, perfeeily sound, and drifting
at the rate of five or six miles an hour. Infifleen minute: after we had passed,
the whole channel to Point Beaufort was choked with ice. Had we not suae-
ceeded in crossing on this day we ~honld have been detained on the eastern
shore till the 10th.

We had thus arrived at the first ~pot indicated by my instructions, on
precisely the same day as our gallant predecessor, Sir G. Back.

The two next days were devoted by the entire party to the examination of
the island, and the small islands in its vicinity.  On a high ridge of rock: at the
south-east point of the island a number of Hsquimaux caches were found, and
bekides seal oil, various articles were found belonging to a boat or ship; such
as chain-hooks, chiscls, blacksmith's chovel and cold chisel, tin oval boiler, a
bar of unwrought iron about three feet long, one and a-half inch hroad, and a
quarter of an inch thick, ~mall pieces of rope, bunting, and & number of sticks
strung together, on one of which was cut Mr. Stanley (Surgeon of “ Erebus.”)
A little lower down was a large quantity of chips, shavings, and ends of plank
of pine, elm, ash, oak, and mahogany, cvidently saved hy unskilful hands ; every
chip was turned over, and on one of them was found the word ¢Erebus”#
carved. It was evident that this was the spot where the boat was cut up by
the Esquimaux. Not even a scrap of paper could be discovered, and though
rewards were offered, and the most minute scarch made over the whole island,
not a vestige of the remains of our unfortunate countrymen could be dis-
covered.

On the 5th we succeeded in crossing over to the western mainland, oppo-
site to Montreal Island, and the whole party was employed in making a most
minute search as far as the point of Elliott’s Bay, and alzo to the northward.
As the whole inlet was full of ice which had not yet moved, hut was split into
immense fields by the rising and falling of the tide, we could only proceed
close in shore at high tide, when by pushing small blocks apait. finding pieces

* Should be ¢« Terror.”
E2
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Proceedings of of open water at the bottom of the bays, and navigating through channels of
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water on the ice, we reached Point Pechel Lake on the. 6th.

The whole coast between Montreal Island and Point Pechel was searched
by a land party, always accompanied by Mr. Stewart or myself. Many very old
Esquimaux encampments were seen, but not a trace of the party.

By this time our canoes had received so much damage, and were so weak
and leaky, that it was cvident the safety of the party would be hazarded were
they subjected to more rough usage. The ice too here was forced on the shore,
and there was no prospect of our being able to get through it; I therefore
determined to complete the search of the peninsula on foot. .

Farly on the 7th the entire party with the exception of two of the Iroquois,
who were left to repair the canoes, started in light marching trim, taking the
Halkett hoat withus. Five men followed all the sinuosities of the coast, while
the others were spread at equal distances inland, Mr. Stewart and myself taking
the middle space. Shortly after leaving the encampment a river was forded;
this must be a large strcam at a high stage of water; it was called Lemi-
sicurier River, after a relative of Mr. Stewart’s. No fuel was found in our
encampments, and in two hours we left all signs of vegetation behind. The
remainder of the peninsula is composed of high sand-hills, intersected by deep
valleys, evidently overflown al spring-tides and during gales.

We encamped late opposite Maconochie's Island, and the only vestige of
the mixsing party found was a small piece of cod-line, and a strip of striped
cotton, about two inches long and an inch broad; these were found at Point
Ocle. in an Fsquimaux encampment, of perhaps three or four years of age.

Next morning a piece of open water enabled us to launch the Halkett
boat, and explore Maconochie’s Island, but nothing was found. It was
impossible to cross over to Point Richardson as T wished, the ice driving through
the strait hetween it and Maconochie's Island at a fearful rate.  About three in
the afternoon we began to retrace our steps through a tremendous storm of
wind and rain. The last of the party did not reach the encampment till past
ten at night, and as there was no fuel we were obliged to creep under our
blankets thoroughly wet, and with no other supper but a piece of cold and
rather ancient pemmican.

[t was now evident that all that could he donc with our means had heen
accomplished, and that with our frail craft, any delay in returning, would
compromise the safety of the whole party. It may be thought strange that
the remains of xo large a party could not be dixcovered. It is my opinion,
thal a party in a starving condition would have chosen a low spot, where they
could haul their boat up and have had some shelter; and that if they perished
there, that their hones have heen long since covered by sand or gravel, forced
up by the ice. Any hooks or papers left open would be destroyed by the
perpetual winds and rain in this quarter, in a very short space of time; for
instance, a large book, Rapers Navigation, was left open on a cloak.at
Montreal Island; it was blown open, and the leaves were pattering about in
such a way, that had it not been instantly closed, it would soon have becn
torn 1 pieces.

No party could winter on this coast : in the first place, there is not enough
fuel ; and, secondly, no deer pass. About a hundred deer, mostly bucks, were
seen on Adel:ud.e Peninsula, on our way to Point Ogle; but not one on our
way back. Their tracks were all seen going to the south. On the eastern
coast only five degr. were seen. It would also be a matter of immense
difficulty to get sufficient supplies down Fish River for even a small party.

Qn the. 10th f‘x}lgust, a shift of wind enabled us to cross over to Point
?gzlg.(;ll'.t: without injury; and a gale brought us to Point Backhouse, at
attenylli)lie “{;4:(1::11:(’11111‘:0 “xeelue i?hg] ‘u't th.‘e 1"z.1pids of Lake Franklin: .Another
contonts of i o ey possessed papers of any description ; th.e

our trating cases were offered for any. They showed us all their
caches ; but nothing of interest was discovered,
we S::}.l 12;1;?:]% Ot{;) fl(‘ﬁsgl-(::latg; rh?\{:mgl; apd t1'01.1t appeared to be over, as those
caches: ﬂlldo’(h:party were on th ay (0}\1{, were all stowed away securely in

Handsome presents were n € eve of departure to hunt deer.

) nade to them, for which we got Dhoots for the
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most of the men. The Upper Esquimaux were also seen, and treated in a
similar manner.

The weather during the whole trip up was dreadful, blowing continually,
with rain, snow, and hail ; and it froze sharply helow and ahove Lake Beechey s our
canoes also werc very frail and leaky. 'There was still less water in the upper
part of the river than on our way down; from the lake above Musk Ox Lake to
Lake Aylmer was almost one continuous portage, That lake was reached
carly on the 31st August. )

Our progress through the lakes was much retarded by strong head-winds
and fogs; some time was also lost in finding the very narrow aud hidden
outlets of Lake Aylmer, and Clinton Colden; at the latter I was disappointed
in not finding Indians.

Early on the 9th, we reached a bay at the end of Artillery Lake, on the
east shore, near the head of” the Aheldessy. It was impossible to descend that
river ; and we were emploved the remainder of the day in discovering an Indian
road to Great Slave [Lale, through a scries of small lakes and a small
river. After passing through cight small lakes, and making as many portages.
we reached the viver, and soon after got sight of Nlave Lake. .\ portage of
five miles was made with the picces. The canoes were partly brought down by
water.  Mr. Stewart and 1 reached old Fort Reliance, where the new Establish-
ment was also crected, about 2 par of the 11th, and the canoes arrived at
10 the next morning.

As there was no prospect of discovering anything more trom this quarter,
I concetved that 1 was not justified n incurring further expence or risk, and,
according to vour iustructions, determined on sending out the people this
fall.

Mr. Lockhart had Ieft the day previous to my arrival with two small hoats
which, with their ladings. were to have beeun put en cache at Sus=ex Lalke, in the
event of the Expedition having heen continued another season. I sent off two
men immediately to recall him.  Mr. Stewart remained to pack up everything
at the fort, while 1 left the I12th at 2 r.v. to stop the Dhoat coming from
Resolution with supplies.

No privation was sustained by the party for want of provisions, We
brought three pemmican back. Bir George Back saw immnieuse numbers of
deer and musk oxen on his way down.  We only saw a few cattered deer with
their fawns. the bucks having all passed to the north. and a few herds of mu-h
oxen. On our way down no time was lost in hunting these. as we gol as many
Canada geese as we wished hy running them down—they were wmoulting, and
wereall ganders,  On our way up, many tracks were seen going south, but no

Proccedings  of
Hudson Bay Avctic
Expeditiondown the
Great Fish River.

deer, unti] we arrived at McDonzall's Lake, and then only a few dees. At the .

head of the river. and in Lake Avlmer, and Clinton Colden. they were pretiy
numerous, and among them many bucks in tine condition.  The following is
our game list—220 geese, 25 deer, 1 musk ox.

The conduct of the men wax bevond all praise.  They sustained hardships
and risks of no ordinary deseription, not only with cheerfulness but with gaiety.
The weather on the voyaze up was very severe.  Not a day passed without
rain, sleet, and hail falling between Point Back House, and Mu-k Ox Lake,
after which we had occasional fine day=<.  None of the party were provided with
waterproof c¢lothes or bags: the canoes also were very leaky: still not a
murmur was heard, though their groans at night evinced that they suffered
from pains in their limbx. ) 7

Trusting that my proceedings will be approved of by Her Majesty’s
Government, and the Honourable Company.

I have, &e.
(Signed) JAMES ANDERSON, CUF,
Commanding A. S. E.

P.S. Mossrs. Stewart and Lockhart, with the remainder of the party
arrived here on the 20th instant. and will leave to-morrow morning. They will,
I trust, reach Ile d la ('rosse by open water.
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Dr. King’s offer of services to proceed down the Great
Fish River.

No. 14.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to Dr. Richard King.

Sir, Admiralty, January 28, 1856.
HAVING laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty your

Dr. King’s offer

letter of 21st instant, volunteering your services to command an Expedition of services.

by land, down the Great Fish River to Montreal Island, to search for traces of
the fate of the late Sir John Franklin and party, I am commanded by their
Lordships to acquaint you that they do not think it advisable to undertake such
an Expedition.
I have, &e.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN,

No. 15.

Dr. Richard King to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.~—(Received
January 24, 1856.)

My Lords, 17, Saville Row, January 21, 1856.

YOUR Lordships are awarc that in the years 1833—1835 I was the
medical officer attached to the Polar Land Journey in search of Sir John Ross,
and that for a considerable period I commanded the party.

The knowledge which I acquired in that journey, joined to an anxious
desire for the advancement of gcographical science, led me to investigate the
causes of the failure of former expeditions, having for their object the discovery
of the North West Passage, and to cntertain views s to the means of solving
that problem, which were at that time at variance with the opinions held by
other Arctic travellers, although their soundness has since been established by
Mr. Thomas Simpson, Sir Robert McClure, and Sir Edward Belcher.

In February, 1845, when it had been determined by your Lordships to
dispatch Sir John Franklin, with the  Erebus” and < Terror,” to prosecute
the discovery of the Passage from Barrow Strait, I pressed upon Her Majesty’s
Government, although without succcss, the expediency of aiding the search by
means of a Polar Land Journey, down the Coppermine and Great Fish Rivers.

In 1847, after a lapse of more than two years since tidings had been
received of the “Erebus” and “ Terror,” doubts were entertained as to their
safety ; and, on the 10th of June in that year, I submitted to the Government
a statement of the grounds which led me to the conviction that the position of
the lost Expedition was on the western land of North Somerset ; and I proposed
to communicate with, and convey succour to, them, by means ofa land journey
down Great Fish River.
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My proposal, however, was not entertained. fOil the Cglltratl‘?’a t‘(‘lo I\avlal
Expeditions were dispatched, one from each end of t e c'01]1-111?nt 4 an atpar y
was charged with a land journey for the purpose of sc:ucmvlg the coast, not
in the locality which I had pointed out, but between the Mackenzie and Copper-

ivers, o

mmeIJt)‘ i‘s unuccessary for me to dilate upon the fruitless result of these Expe-
ditions.  On their return the sympathies of the whole world were arouscd to
the fate of the Franklin Expedition ; a fleet of vexsels was dispatched, partly by
the State, and partly by private enterprise, in search of th‘e IIIIS&;?T_Ig‘ llawzlfbra_tors ;
hut, most untortunately, the coast near the 11}outh of Great Fish River was
again omitted from the scarch. For the tln‘rd time I pressed upon the .Govern.—
ment the expediency of a land journey for the purpose of examining this
neglected spot; and, in a letter addressed to your L‘Qrdslups, on the 18th‘. of
Pebruary, 1250, in which 1 used the prophetic words, '_thg route of1 Grea_t Fish
River will, sooncr or later, be undertaken in scarch of Sir John Franklin,” I
repeated the offer | had previously made. to lead a party in the search.

Your Lordships, however, acting upon the advice of the recently appointed
Arctic Coundil, who, to use the words of one ol its members, “did not th‘l.nk
that, under any circumstances, Franklin would attempt the route of Grca.t Fish
River,” ignored my plan, and declined my scrvices, angl (hspatcheda‘mrthcr
Naval Expedition, the crews of which returned from a fruitless search, after the
uparalleled  desertion of five vessels. Their journey, however, was - not
altogether without result ; for although they failed to find or save the missing
navigators, they discovered the long-sought passage, in the identical position,
it may be observed, laid down in an imaginary chart, which I had published
~ome years previously, and had upheld against the opinion of other travellers,
up to the period of the discovery.

In 1854 Dr. Rae was dispatched Dy the Hudson’s Bay Company to completc
a survey of the west coast of Boothia ; and although he informed the public, in
lis Ietter addressed to the Times, on the 11th of October, 1852, ¢ that there
was not the slightest hope of finding any traces of the lost navigators in the
quarter to which he was going,” yet strange as it may have appeared to him,
lie ascertained from the Esquimaux, on arriving in Pelly Bay, that about forty
wlitte men had perished four years previously at Montreal Island, and on the
hanks of Great Fish River; in the very spot, I may observe, where Dr.
Rae, and the Aretic Council had come to the conclusion that the lost navigators
could by no human possibility Je found : and in the identical locality which I
had never ceased to urge was the precise point which Franklin would endeavour
to reach, and where traces of the expedition would infallibly be found.

At the time of receiving this intclligence Dr. Rae was at a distance of
about 100 milex from Point Ogle, and it appears from his Official Report to the
Hudson’s Bay Company, that he subscquently arrived at Castor and Pollux
River, which s scarcely forty-five miles distant from that spot, and that instead
of hastening forward to verify or disprove the horrible story of cannibalism and
death, related to him by the Esquimaux, he turned aside at a right angle, and
travelled not less than double the distance in a northerly direction, up to Cape
Porter! '

.. Without pausing to inquire the rcason which induced Dr. Rae to turn
aside when he was within forty-five miles from a spot in which so much horrible
Interest was centred, and when he must have been well aware that neither the
Government nor the people of England would rest satisfied until the locality
of the reputed tragedy should have been examined; without pausing, I say, to
advert to this inexplicable procceding on his part, I hasten to remind your
.Lordslnp§ that the account thus brought home by Dr. Rae, at once proved the
incontestible accuracy 0f the views which I lad so long and unsuccessfully
pressed upon the attention of Her Majesty's Government respecting the locality
in which some traces or tidings of i"rankiin would be found,

In the following year the soundness of my views was at length taciily
admitted, by the dispatch of an expedition in Toats down Great Fish River,
alqmost in the precise manner which T had so vainly advocated in 1845, 1847,
]1;14(180 : aonfd t;%:ll;‘;m %%-}0; and fl:o.m thg Ofﬁcialv_chort. of Mr. Anderson, th.e

at expedition, (published in the Times of the 11th instant,) it

ﬂppearsfthlat on the banks of that river, and on Montreal Island, some slight
traces of the missing navigators have heen found, *
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, It is useless now to inquire what would have heen the result if your Dr.King's offer of
Lordships had acceded to my earnest and repeated entreaties, and had per- services.
mitted me, in 1847 or 1848, to lead an expedition to the spot where these
sad relics have since been found. No doubt can, I think, exist in the mind of
any reasoning being, that if those entreaties had been acceded to, a portion
at least of the lost expedition would at the present moment he alive and
in England.

It is not with any view to my own aggrandizement, or with any feeling of
self laudation, that I submit this hurried analysis of the recent Arctic Expedition
to your Lordships’ consideration, 1f such were my object, I should point out
further instances in which the discoveries of Simpson and others have proved
the accuracy of my views respecting the conformation of the Polar Regions.
But I think it right to place on record a statement, however hasty and incom-
plete, showing the correctness of the opinion which I so long entertained, as to
the position in which traces of Franklin would be found, in order that your
Lordships may judge whether the further observations which I feel it my duty
to make upon the subject, are not cntitled to more consideration than my
former suggestions have received at the hands of Her Majesty’s Government.

There is an important question now betorc your Lordships. Has every-
thing in the power of the English Goovernment been donc to obtain evidence
of the death of the Franklin Expedition? [ unhesitatingly answer in the
negative.

From the statements of the Esquimaux scen by Dr. Rae taken in connection
with the evidence procured by the last searching party, there seems little
doubt that a considerable number of white men died at or near Point Ogle
on the western coast of the embouchure of Great Fish River, and that
a smaller party, consisting of an officer, and four men died on Montreal
Island, a spot about half a day's journey tothe south of Point Ogle. This
last party had a boat with them which was subsequently sawn up by the
Esquimaux, who left a quantity of chips, on onc of which was found the word
«Terror.” A number of articles of common use,and even of luxury, belonging
to the Expedition have been purchased from the Esquimaux, and brought to
England, but the inquiries of the last searching party could find no trace of
any papers, records, or other written documents.

Such then are the simple facts before us, and withoul entering upon the
vexed question as to the manner in which our unfortunate countrymen met
their death, whether by starvation. or by the hands of the Esquimaux, the chiet
point for inquiry appears to he—for what purpose did an ofticer and four men
visit Montreal Island !  As the iron coast of an inhospitable little island is the
last place, to which an Arctic traveller would resort for provisions, it is evident
that the visit must be assigned to some other cause, and this point, which seems
at present to be a mystery, it is | think in my power to clucidate.

On my visit to Montreal [sland in 1834, 1 constructed a hiding place,
which was known by the name of * King Cache,” and which was subsequently
visited and opened by Simpson in 1339, in the same manner as the cache, made
by Parry on Melville Island, called * Parry Sandstone,” was opened by Mc‘Clure
in 1852, IThe existence of my cache was known to Franklin, and it is my firm
belief that he, or the leading survivor of the Expedition, crossed over from
Point Ogle for the purpose ol searching this cache, and of depositing there a
record of his visit, and that he and his boats crew subsequently met their death
before they could regain the main land.

By whatever means they perished, I think there can be no dou'bt that the
leader knowing of the 'existence of my cache, and .trusting that it would he
searched ere long, by friends from home, would strain every nerve, l_)efore he
ceased to live, to deposit in this place of safety not only the me.morlal of his
visit, which he crossed from the main land for the purpose of pl.acmg there, but
also the history, which he would most unquestionably have car_rled with him, of
the endurance and the sufferings of that devoted band, with which the officers had
sustained the flagging courage of their men, in the speedy hope of receiving
that succour, which by a horrible fatality had been directed to cvery point of the
Polar Seas, except the precise spot on which they then stood. And the fact that
1o papers were found in the hands of the Esquimaux is in itself a strong
presumption that the records of the Lxpedition had been deposited in a place of
safety before the death of our hapless (}guntrymen.
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In the Official Report of the leader of the last searching party my cacke
is not mentioned, and as he would scarcely have omitted to search it, or have
foreotten to refer to it, in his report, if he had beep aware of its existence, I
cannot, hut conclude that b y some further and unexplained nns.fortune, he started
on his journey without being aware that Montreal Island contained one particular
spot in which there would unquestionably be found some traces of the missing

edition. .

Fxp From these facts I can only draw the deduction that, in all human proba-
bility, a history of the Franklin Expedition still lies buried in my cache, beneath
the rocky shore of Montreal Island, and that it is Wlthln. the l?ounds of
possibility that this record may be recovered, and that the dlscover}es of the
ill-fated Expedition may yet be published for the advancement of science, and
the narrative of their probably unexampled sufferings be made known to the
world.
Under these circumstances, I feel assured that the people of England will
not consent that the search for the missing Expedition shall rest in its present
position. More than a million sterling has already been squandered in expe-
ditions, which have brought home no tidings of the lost navigators beyond a
few silver forks and other relics, and an apocryphal story, interpreted from the
vague signs of the Esquimaux, too revolting in its details to be worthy of
maplicit belief,

A further land journey down Great Fish River may be performed at a cost
of less than 1,000L; and this journey, if your Lordships will give me the
command of a party, I offer for the fifth time to undertake, in the confident
hope that I may yet, at the eleventh hour, be the means of recovering a record
of the Expedition, the recital of whose sufferings will otherwise be buried in
everlasting oblivion,

I have, &c.

(Signed) RICHARD KING.
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Recovery and disposal of Her Majesty’s Ship
“ Resolute.”

No. 16.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to E. Hammonrd, Esq.

Sir, Admiralty, January 24, 1857,

Di:po=al of Her

I HAVE received and laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Msjesty'sShip®Re-

Admiralty your letter of 17th instant, transmitting a rcopy of a despatch solute”

and its inclosures from Her Majesty’s Minister, at Washington, containing a
statement of the circumstances under which Her Majesty’s ship < Resolute” has
been recovered from the Arctic Seas by Captain Buddington, Master of the
American whaler, “ George Henry.”

My Lords have read with great satisfaction the account of the exertions and
skill evinced by Captain Buddington, and the crew who navigated the “ Resolute,”
from Baffin’s Bay to New London; and as the best mark of the sense which
they entertain of his conduect, their Lordships will waive their right to the
vessel, and leave her to Captain Buddington’s entire disposal ; or, if he prefers
giving her up to Her Majesty’s Consul at Boston, their Lordships request that
the Consul may be instructed to sell her, and to distribute the proceeds of the
sale to Captain Buddington and his crew.

I have, &c.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 17.
E. Hammond, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received January 20.)

Sir, Foreign Office, January 17, 1856.

I AM directed by the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, for the
information of the Board of Admiralty, a copy of a despatch and its inclosures
from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington, containing a statement of the
circumstances under which Her Majesty’s ship “ Resolute” has been recovered
from the Arctic Seas, and the steps taken by him for securing the continuing
right of Her Majesty’s Government to that vessel.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

Inclosure 1 in No. 17.
- Mr. Crampton to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, December 31, 1835.

I HAVE the honour to inclose the copy of an instruction which I have
addressed to Her Majesty’'s Consul at Boston, directing him to take the
necessary legal steps for securing the continuing right of Her Majesty’s

Government to Her Majesty’s ship “ Resolute,” which was abandoned in the
F2
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Disposal of Her Arctic Seas, but which is now reported to have been brought into the port of
Majesty’s Ship “Re- New London, in Connecticut, by the Captain of an American whaler.
solute.” T have the honour to inclose an interesting account of the circumstances
- under which this vessel was recovered, which has been published in the American
HETEPAPEr I have, &e.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON,

Inclosure 2 in No. 17.
Mr. Crampton to E. Grattan, Esg.

Sir, Washington, December 26, 1855,

I SEE it reported in the American newspapers that Her Majesty’s sh.ip
“Resolute” has been brought into the port of New London by Captain
Buddington, Master of the American whaler, ©“ George Henry.”

You will, no doubt, have received from Her Majesty’s Government a copy
of the notice contained in the “London Gazette” of November 10, 1854, by
which a continuing right is asserted in behalf of the Queen to the vessel which
was abandoned by Captain Sir Edward Belcher in the Arctic Seas.

A copy of this notice was communicated by me to the United States
Government in December last, and was published in the official newspaper the
“ Union™ on the 2nd January.

T have now to instruct you to inquire into the truth of the report above
mentioned, and, in case it is confirmed, to take such legal steps as may be
necessary for establishing the continuing vight of Her Majesty’s Government
to the vessel in question.

I have, &e.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 3 in No. 17,

New Yorl Herald, December 27, 1855,

(Extract.)

ON the 29th May last the whaling barque * George Henry,” Captain James
M. Buddington, set sail from New London Coast, on a voyage to Northumber-
land Inlet and Davis Straits. The bark was manned with a crew of seventeen
men, including the first and second mates. On the 14th June, and while in
latitude 54, Captain Buddington encountered, and quite unexpectedly, too,
large fields of ice, through which he dared not penetrate. However, wishing
to arrive at his destination as soon as possible, he followed the edge of the
“ pack.” as he terms it, up north as far as latitude 67. As the ship was much
damaged by the floating ice, Captain Buddington concluded to wear out the
season here, and accordingly the crew of the barque were employed in catching
whales in and about Esco Bay, with only tolerable luck, however. The floes
are represented as being very extensive, stretching far and wide to the north
and completely blocking up the channel to Davis Straits. From the masthead
of the * George Henry” nothing could be distingunished but masses of ice. Even
with the aid of a telescope, nothing but mountains could be descried in the
distance,

' On the 20th Augus’g, and while off Cape \Vashingham, in latitude 67° N.
.thc.e ice became, to a certain extent, penetrable, and the barque was forced throuo‘ﬁ
1tn a south-west direction for about 150 miles. At this time a heavy g:le
from the north-east sprung up, which, lasting three days, the “ George Henry”
becgm_e unnavigable, and was drifted in the floe in a south-west direction
Captain Buddington saw land, but could not say to what continent it belonged'

On the 10th September, latitude 67° N., and, while in this field of ice,
Captain Buddn?gton discovered g ship in the distance, bearing north-east,
about twe:nty miles from Cape Mercy. He ascended the ricoin N of his craft,
and, looking at her through the glass, pronounced her, from hegr a e;trance,
to be an abandoned vessel. The head of the stranger ap;)eared to bepgue east,
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and, during the whole of that.da,y and the one following, the course of the shi
did not vary more than a point or so from the east. *We kept gradually

Disposal of Her
Majesty’s Ship* Re-

nearing one another,” as Captain Buddington says, « although I could not *M“te”

exactly say what caused the thing to come about, except, perhaps, the ship
may have been struck by a counter current from Davis Straits, and driven
towards us in that manner. For five days we were in sight of one another, and
continued to drift towards each other. On the sixth day after making the
discovery, and when the ship was about seven miles off, Captain Buddington
ordered the two mates and two of the crew to proceed to the abandoned vessel
across the packed ice, and, after inspecting her, to return to the barque as soon
as practicable.

Soon after the departure of the party a south-easter sprung up, and in con-
sequence thereof no communication was had with those on hoard the ship for
two days. As soon as the wind subsided, and it was safe for the party to
retrace their steps, they left the ship, and, after a tedious and hard march,
arrived on board of the barque in safety. They immediately represented the
facts to Captain Buddington, saying that the abandoned vessel was Her
Britannic Majesty’s ship ¢ Resolute.”

. The “ Resolute” being entirely free of water, preparalions were made to
bring the ship to the United States. Captain Buddington decided to sail the
vessel himself, and accordingly, taking eleven men with him from his own
barque, he began in good earnest to release the abandoned vessel from her
ice-bound situation. 'The rigging had to be hauled taut, and the sails put in
order, before he could venture to start. This job occupied him some time, but
was successfully aecomplished. Captain Buddington was in a great dilemma
for proper navigating instruments, and the wherewith to bring him to New
London after being released from the ice. Ilis compass was very uncertain,
and not at all trustworthy ; he was without a chronometer, and he had no other
map or chart to steer by than a rough outline of the great North American
coast, drawn on a sheet of foolscap. With his lever watch, a quadrant, and a
miserable compass, the brave fellow bade adieu to his comrades in the barque
“ George Henry,” and, trusting to Providence and his experience in those lati-
tudes, prepared to bear home the prize he had so cleverly won.

From the time that Captain Buddington took charge of the “ Resolute,”
up to the 16th October, she continued to drive in a south-west direction with
the pack of ice, when she succeeded in getting clear. Wishing to be in com-
pany as long as possible with the barque, Captain Buddington waited on the
outside of the floe for three or four days, with the hope of meeting her, but the
vessels missed one another, and did not meet again during the remainder of
the eventful voyage.

While here waiting for the ‘¢ George Henry,” the British barque « Alibi”
hove in sight, and, on being signalled, came along side the “ Resolute.,” The
news of the recovery of the ¢ Resolute was communicated to Captain Stuart,
of the « British” barque, and a pair of Captain Kellett’s epaulettes, found on
board the abandoned vessel, were intrusted to him by Captain Buddington,
with instructions to have them forwarded to the owner as speedily as possible.
A letter for the owners of the  George Henry,” informing them of what had
occurred, was also placed in the hands of Captain Stuart, who promised to mail
it immediately on his arrival in Great Britain. [Tl}ls letter, it appears, reached
the owners of the barque, at New London, Connecticut, long before the < Reso-
lute” arrived there.] .

We now comé to the homeward voyage. Short handed, poorly rigged,
and unfitted for the long voyage as the “ Resolute” was, Captain Buddington
found it no easy task to bring the ship into port. The ballast tanks had burst
in the hold long before he came in possession of her, rendering her very light
and apt to roll heavily in the trough of the sea. Gale after gale was expe-
rienced ; yet the brave fellow laboured day and night, and at last was successtul
in the praiseworthy effort made to rescue the abandoned vessel, driving across
the mouth of Northumberland Inlet down to Cape Elizabeth. The open sea
was gained, and on the 20th October the homeward voyage commenced. After
a succession of strong gales and head winds, the New London lighthouse was
made on the 24th December, and the voyage was successfully accomplished
with credit to all concerned, but especially to Captain Buddington, for he
worked morning, noon, and night.
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It is the opinion of Captain Buddington, that if the erew of thg “ Resolute”
had remained on board of her, with the hope of eventually releasing her, they
could not have effected the task any sooner than it was performed by the
natural causes which eventually freed her, and hence, he thlnk's, thfxt Sir Edwgrd
Belcher, who had command of the squadron, acted perfectly right in abandoning
the vessels under the circumstances.

No. 18.
E. Hammond, Esq., to the Secretary of the Aumiralty.—(Received March 17.)
G Foreign Office, March 4, 1856.

b

I AM directed by the Earl of Clarendon to trans'mit to you, to be laid
before the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty,'copxes of a de'spatch and its
inclosures from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington, reporting the steps
which he has taken in obedience to an instruction which, on the receipt of your
letter of the 24th ultimo, Lord Clarendon addressed to him respecting the
decision of their Lordships in regard to the disposal of Her Majesty’s ship
“ Resolute,” lately recovered from the Arctic seas.

I have, &e.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

Inclosure 1 in No. 18,
Mr. Crampton to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, February 12, 1856.

I HAVE the honour to inclose herewith a copy of a note which, in
obedience to the instructions contained in your Lordship’s despatch, of
the 25th ultimo, T have addressed to the Secretary of State of the United
Btates, informing him of the decision of the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, to waive their right to Her Majesty’s ship ¢ Resolute,” which was
recovered by the skill and exertions of Captain Buddington of the American
whaler ¢ George Henry.”

I have also the honour to inclose the copy of a letter which I had addressed
to Messrs, Perking and Smith, the owners of the “ Geeorge Henry,” making
themn acquainted with that decision, and of an instruction which I have addressed
to Her Majesty’s Consul at Boston on the subject.

I have, &e.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 2 in No. 18,
Mr. Crampton to E. Grattan, Esq.

=, Washington, February 12, 1850.
~ WITH _reference to my letter of the 11th January respecting Her
Majesty’s ship “ Resolute,” 1 inclose for your information the copy of a
despatch which I have received from the Earl of Clarendon, stating that the
Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty will waive their right to that vessel and
leave her at the disposal of Captain Buddington, or it Captain Buddington
shall prefer to give that vessel up to you, their Lordship’s request that you may
be instructed to sell the vessel, and to distribute the proceeds of the sale to
Captain Buddington and his crew,
I have already made the owners of the American whaler “ George Heunry 7
acquainted with their Lordships decision, and I have now to instruct you to
communicate with them, and to take such steps as may be Lnecessarv, whethey
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for giving up the vessel to Captain Buddington, or for selling her and distri-  Disposal of Her
biting the proceeds to Captain Buddington and his crew, in case he shall prefer Majesty'sShip“4Re-
giving the “Resolute” up to yourself. solute. —_—
I have, &e.

(Signed) JOHX I' CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 3 in No. 18.
Mr. Crampion to Messrs. Smith and Perkins.

Grentlemen, Washington, February 12, 1856.

~ WITH reference to my letter of the 15th January last, regarding the ship
“Resolute,” I have now to inform you that I have reccived a reply to the
statement .which I made to Her Majesty’s Government of the circumstances
attending the recovery of that vessel by Captain Buddington, of the whaler
“George Henry.”

The Earl of Clarendon states to me that the Lords of the Admiralty have
read with great satisfaction the account of the exertions and skill evinced by
Captain Buddington and the crew who navigated the - Resolute” from Baffin’s
Bay to New London, and, as the best mark of the sensc they entertain of
Captain Buddington’s conduct, their Lordships will waive their right to the
vessel, and leave her at Captain Buddington’s disposal; or if he should prefer
giving her up to Her Majesty’s C'onsul at Doston. the Consul will be instructed
to sell the vessel, and distribute the proceeds of the sale to Captain Buddington
and his crew.

I have, &e.

Signed) JOHXN . CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 4 in No. 12
Mr. Cramplon to W. L, Marcy, Lsy.

Bir, Waushington. February 12, 18356,
WITH reference to my note ol the 30th ol December, 12354, by which I
had the honour of informing you that the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, on behalf of Her Majesty the Queen, asserted a continuing right to
Her Majesty’s ships « Assistance,” - Resolute,”  Investigator,™ - Pioneer,” and
“Intrepid,” which were left in the Arctic Seas by their erews; 1 am now
instructed by Her Majesty's Government to state that the * Resolute,” having
been recovered from the Arctic Beas, and navigated from Baffin’s Bay to New
London, Connecticut, by the skill and exertions of Captain Buddington and the
crew of the American whaler “ George Heury,” the Lords of the Admiralty, as
the best mark of the sense they entertain of Captain Buddington's conduct,
will waive their right to the vesscl, and leave her to Captain Buddington’s
entire disposal ; or if’ he should prefer giving her up to Her Majesty’s Consul at
Boston, the Consul will be instructed to sell the vessel, and to distribute the
proceeds of the sale to Captain Buddington and his crew.
I have, &e.
(Sigued; J. . CRAMPTON.

No. 19.

E. Hammond, Esq. to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received March 14.)

8ir, Foreign Office, March 12, 1856.
WITH reference to my letter of the 4th instant, I am directed by the
Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, to be laid before the Board of Admiralty,
a copy of a despatch from Her Majesty’s Minister at Wackinuton, inclosing a
copy of a note from the Secretary of State of the Uniled Miates, expressing
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nited States Government for the intention of

Majesty'sShip“Re- Her Majesty's Government to waive their right to Her Majesty’s ship “ Resolute,”

solute.”

——

and to bestow that vessel, or the value thereof, should he prefer it, upon the_
Master of the American whaler,  George Henry,” who rescued her from the

Arctic Seas, I have, &c.

(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

Inclosure 1 in No. 19.
Mr. Crampton to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, February 25, 1856.

WITH reference to my despatch, of the 12th instant, inclosing the
copy of a note which I had addressed to the United States’ Secretary of St.ate,
informing him that the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty had determined
to waive the right of Her Majesty’s Government to Her Majesty’s ship
“Resolute,” and to leave that vessel at the disposition of Captain Buddington
and his crew, I have now the honour to inclose a copy of Mr. Marcy’s reply to
my communication, expressing the sense of the United States’ Government of
the generous deciston of the Lords Commissioners.

1 have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 2 in No. 19.
W. L. Marcy, Esq., to Mr. Crampton.

Bir, Department of State, Washington, February 21, 1856.

I HAVE had the honour to receive your note of the 12th instant, represent-
ing that you had been instructed by Her Majesty’s Government to state that
the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty will waive their right to the ship
““ Resolute,” which has recently been recovered from the Arctic seas, and
navigated from Baffin’'s Bay to New London, Connecticut, by Captain
Buddington, and the crew of the American whaler, “ George Henry.

In reply, I have the honour to acquaint you that measures have been
taken by this Department, to apprize Captain Buddington of the generous
decision of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty in the premises, by whom
it will no doubt be appreciated.

I have, &c.
(Signed) W. L. MARCY.

No. 20.
E. Hammond, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received March 27.)

Sir, Foreign Office, March 27, 1856.
WITH reference to my letter of the 12th instant, inclosing a copy of a
despatch from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington, upon the subject of
Her Majesty’s ship “ Resolute,” which has been recovered from the Arctic
seas, | am directed by the Earl of Clarendon to transmit, for the information
of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, and for any steps which their
Lordships may think fit to take thereupon, a ‘copy of a further despatch from
x\_[r. Crampton, mcl_osing copics of two letters which have been addressed to
him by Messrs. Perkins and Smith and by Mr. Grinnell, upon the subject of
the salvage of the above-mentioned vesgel, ’
I have, &c.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.
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No. 21.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to E. Hammond, Esq.

Sir, Admiralty, April 4, 1856.
IN reply to your letter of 27th ult., containing copy of a despatch and its
inclosures from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington, relative to Her
Majesty’s ship ¢ Resolute,” recently recovered from the Arctic Seas by the
Captain and part of the crew of the American ship, “ George Henry,” and
also to the persons who should participate in the salvage, I am to acquaint
vou, for the information of the Earl of Clarendon, that they will be ready to
acquiesce in any arrangement which Mr, Crampton may deem fair and equitable
to all parties concerned.
I have, &ec.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

Inclosure 1 in No. 21.
Myr. Crampton, to Messrs. Perkins and Smith.

Gentlemen, Washington, February 28, 1856.

I HAVE to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 25th instant,
copy of which I will forward to Her Majesty’s Government, who are naturally
desirous that all parties concerned in the recovery of the “ Resolute” should
be satisfied. In my letter to you of the 12th instant I formed no opinion
of my own, but adhered strictly to the words of the instruction I had received
from Her Majesty’s Government, nor should I be authorized to depart from
the terms laid down by the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, the only
competent authorities in this matter.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.,

Inclosure 2 in No. 21.
H. Grianell, Esq., to Mr. Crampton.

Sir, i New York, March 1, 1856.

I AM requested by Mcessrs. Perking and Smith, of New London, agents
and part owners of the whale ship, © George Henry,” to state to you my views,
ag to the relinquishment of your Government to all claim to the ship ¢ Reso-
lute,” found derelict, and brought into the Port of New London, by Captain
Buddington and men, from the “ George Henry.”

The relinquishment, if taken literally, would give to Captain Buddington
and his men, who brought the ship to a safe port, the full reward of your
Government’s magnanimous generosity. Now, I must say, the officers and
men who remained on hoard the ¢ George Henry,” as also the owners of that
ship, should be participators, agreeably to the Shipping Articles entered into
between the owners of the ship «“ George Henry '™ and the officers and crew—
viewing the capturc of the “Resolute” in the same way as the capture of
whale. The Shipping Articles of a whale ship give the officers and crew about
one-third of the oil, bone, or any other article that may be procured. It must
be understood that the owners of the ship have to pay for the cost of the ship’s
outfit.

The ““ George Henry’s » voyage was broken up hy the act of Captain Bud-
dington, in taking possession of the « Resolute,” by which the owners of that
ship would suffer severely, as well as the officers and men that remained on
board of her, provided the abandonment of your Government were literally
carried out.

It appears to me that your Gover(r:ment should relinquish to the owners,
- X
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officers, and crew of the “ Geoage gflllt.anr-y” if: t(:lalmim to the ** Resolute,” to be
anppropri in accordance tu the Shipping Artcles. .
T ollzn:fsi ullJeacgg;g;n; mind tha%pthe3 act of C_aptain _Buddmgton placed
the owners of the «George Henry” in great peril, as, in the event of her
loss, after he left her, the insurance on her was vitiated, and made null
wnd g)lig'uld the abandonment be made as suggested, 1 think it would give
entire satisfaction to all parties concerned. Probably, Captam_ BuddlngtOH
would agree to the suggestion himself; but some of the men might get into
the hands of lawyers, and cause trouble and litigation, w!nch Perkins and
Smith are desirous to avoid. A simple note of explanation from you to
Perkins and Smith, in accordance with the suggestion, would settle the matter
amicably and satisfactorily to all concerned. ) o
You must not infer from my remark that there are differences existing. I
know of none. It is to avoid them that T write to you.
I have, &c.
(Signed) HENRY GRINNELL.

Inclosure 3 in No. 21,
Messrs. Perkins & Smith to Mr. Crampton.

Sir, New London, February 25, 1856.

IN further reply to your lciter under date of the 12th instant, we hasten
to express our appreciation of the liberality of Her Majesty’s Government, in
waiving their right of redemption of the barque “Resolute,” and the value of
title of possession under the generzl law of salvage awards, to be appropriated
by the interests of those partics interested in her rescue. :

This is the view we take ol vour letter. Some difference in the custom in
the English ports yrolaliy indueed you to think that the Captain was the
agent of all parties interested in zalvage caused by whaling vessels.

By custom and the agrecment- of the Shipping Articles, the agents of the
vesscls, are the agents of the officers and crevw; and whatever of value is to be
disposed of for their benefit, 1s io be so by the agent,

This being perhaps novel to you, we have called the attention of
Mr. Henry Grinnell to your letier, whose intimate knowledge of the whaling
business will correct any crroneous views of ours; we will ask him to write to
you on this point.

In order therefore that the interc:is concerned in this salvage may have
the benefit of the relinquishment of claim on barque ¢ Resolute,” we desire
that you will, in your views agree vith ours, ¢ Abandon to Perkins and Smith,
agents for account of parties interested in salvage on barque ¢Resolute,’ all
right and title the English Government have in her said salvage, to be distri-
buted and apportioned by said Perkins and Smith, in conformity with the
terms of the Shipping Articles and the custom of the Port of New London.”

We are, &ec.
(Bigned) PERKINS AND SMITH.

Inclosure 4 in No. 21,
Mr. Crampton to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, March 6, 1856.

WITH reference to my despatch of the 25th ultimo, upon the subject of
the relinquishment of Her Majesty’s Government of their right to the ship
“ Resolute ” which was recovered from the Arctic seas by the captain and part
of the crew of the American ship “George Henry,” I have the honour to
inclose copies of two letters which have been addressed to me on this subject,
the one by Messrs. Perkins and Smith the owners of the vessel, the other by
Mr. Henry Gnnnell_, at the request of the former gentlemen.

Mr. Henry Grinnell’s name iz already honourably known to your Lordship
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on account of his connection with the American Expedition in search of Sir
John Franklin.

I also inclose copies of my replies to these communications.

The object of the application made to me scems to be some alteration in
the terms of the instruction of the Lords of the Admiralty, by which all the
parties interested in this matter should receive in just proportions the benefit of
the liberal decision of Her Majesty’s Goovernment in regard to the  Resolute.”

Not feeling myself competent, however, to form a correct judgment on a
matter somewhat complicated by the peculiar circumstances of the case, I
have preferred submitting it to the further consideration of Her Majesty’s
Government,

I pave, &ec.

(Signed) JOHN ¥. CRAMPTON.

Inclosure 5 in No. 21,
Mr. Crampton to Henry (irizaell. Exq.

Sir, Washington, March 4, 1856.

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge tie rcecipt of your letter of the
1st instant, upon the subject of the relinquishment by Her Majesty’s Government
to their continuing right to the ship “Resolute.”

I feel every confidence in the correctness of v.ur viow of the subjeet; and
I should, I fear, overstep the limits of my official discretion, were I to alter the
terms of the instruction of the Lords Commissinuers of the Admiralty upon a
matter which more peculiarly appertains to that Department of the
Government, without previous reference to their Lordships.

I shall not fail however to transmit a copy of your letter, as well 25 one on
the same subject which I have received from JMessrs. Perlins and Hmith the
owners of the “ George Henry.”

As Her Majesty’s Government can have no other desire than that all the
parties who contributed, whether directly or indircetly, to the recovery of the
“Resolute *” should feel satisfied, I feel assured that the considerations which
you have presentcd to me will receive from them the favourable notice to which
they are entitled. :

I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN F¥. CRAMPTON.

G2
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Report upon Articles” brought home by Captain Collinson,
C.B., Her Majesty’s Discovery Ship ¢ Enterprise.”

No. 22

WM. Rice and Charles Atherton, (v Commodore Juhn Shepliorf e

tRecetved July 23

Sir. Wooliich Yurd, Ju/y 21855,
WITH respeet to the Avticles 1 and 2, ailuded to in the accompanying  Report upon Ar-
paper of Mr. Barrow, we bheg (o report that they have been carcfully examined, ticles brought home

and as regards that marked No. 1, there secms reason to believe that it may

by Captain Collin-
son., C.B.

have belonged to cither the *Tevror” or © Erebus,” founded upon the following —
statement of Mi. Reed, the foreman of joiners, who supcrintended the fitting

of these vessels, viz. “ that the doors of the winter hoods of th

¢ “ Erebus' and

“Terror * were not framed but made of $ board, and ledged similar (o the
fragment of framing brought home by Capt. Collinzon. and that the winter

hoods of other vessels subseyuently fitted out at this yard on
ditions were framed in paunels in the usual manner.”
The piece of iron marked No. 2 decidediy formed no part

scarching cxpe-

of the maclinery

of either of the vessels in question, it Las evidently been part of the <hank
of a hoats anchor; we are confirmed in this conclusion by ihe opinion formed
by Dr. Rue, who lately inspected these relies, and who informed us that three
small anchors were lett with Sir John Richurdson’s boats, on the coast near

the Copper Mine, in 1843 it is, therclore, wore than probab

le that this piece

of iron 1s a portion of one of them, especially as it has been galvanized, as were

the three anchors above alluded to.

The accompanying explanatory slketch will show the part of the shank;
the hole for receiving the stock, and the lower end of the jiece of iron having
been altered in shape by the Esquimaux for use, probably as a cutling tool.

The two articles are herewith returned.
We are, &c.

(Signed) W. M. RICE, Master Shipuright,
CHAS. ATHERTON, Chief Engineer.

No. 23.
Alexander Laurie to Commndore Christopher Wyvill.—(Recei

ved March 3.)

Sir, Chatham Yard, March 1, 1856,

IN obedience to your directions on their Lordship’s Order of the 14th
June last I have the honour to report that the piece of metal therein referred
to appears to have formed part of a  bolt nail,” and secems to have been
reduced to its present shape by slight blows from a rough-faced hammer, or
stone; a file or stone being subsequently used to bring up the cutting edges.

On the flat surface the “broad arrow ™ is very clearly

defined, showing

that the piece of metal may have formed part of the ""El'elJus"’ or “Terror,”
or it may have been obtained from another of Her Majesty’s ships.

I have. &ec.

(Signed) ALEXANDER LAURIE.

¢ These Articles ave deposited in the Unired Se-vice In<tiin

on,



From the London  Gazette” Friday March 8, 1850.

Admiralty, March 7, 1850,

£20,000

REWARD will be given by Her Majesty’s Government to any Party or
Parties, of any Country, who shall render efficient assistance to the
Crews of the Discovery Ships, under the command of Sir John
Franklin :—

1.—To any Party or Parties who, in the judgment of the Board of
Admiralty, shall discover and effectually relieve the Crews of Her Majesty’s
Ships “ Erebus” and ¢ Terror,” the Sum of

£20,000;
OR,

2.—To any Party or Parties who, in the judgment of the Board of
Admiralty, shall discover and effectually relieve any of the Crews of Her
Majesty’s Ships ““ Erebus” and “ Terror,” or shall convey such intelligence as
shall lead to the relief of such Crews or any of them, the sum of

£10,000 ;
OR,

3.~To any Party or Parties who, in the judgment of the Board of

%‘dgni;‘alty, shall; by virtue of his or their efforts, first succeed in ascertaining
thelr fa'e,

£10,000.

(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON,
Secretary of the Admiralty.



Correspondence relating to the adjudication of the sum of
£10,000 as a reward for ascertaining the fate of
the crews of Her Majesty’s ships ¢ Erebus” and
““Terror.”

No. 24.

4. H. Colville, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—{Received
November 16, 1854.)

Sir, Hudsow's Bay House, November 13, 1854,

I PRESUME that there can be no longer any doubt of the lamentable  Correspondence
fate of Sir John Franklin, and the crews of the ships under his command, relating to the ad-
since the arrival of Dr. Rae with the intelligence which he obtained from the ;ﬁﬂcglo&o‘gooﬂﬁ
Esquimaux, and the various articles which he recovered from those people. a roward fo  as-

I therefore submit that Dr. Rae has a fair and just claim to the reward of certaining the fate
10,0001 offered on the 7th March, 1854, to * any party or parties who, in the f the crews °f§ef
judgment of the Board of Admirally, shall, by virtue of his or their eflorts, o jhores  Sobd
first succeed in ascertaining their fate,” and I have to request that you will « Terror.”
bring the subject under the consideration ot myv Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty.

Dr. Rae commanded an cxpedition, fitted out by the Hudsow’s Bay
Company in 1846, for the purpose of completing the survey of the northern
shore of the continent of America, and passed the winter 1846-1847, at
Repulse Bay. During this Expedition he accomplished the survey of a
considerable portion of the coast, but was unable to complete it; and he
returned to this countrv in the antumn of 1547. In 1848, he accompanied
Sir John Richardson in the searching Expedition sent out by Government,
and was left by him in the Arctic regions in charge of the party for a second
year. He was further employed, under instructions from their Lordships, in
prosecuting his search during 1850 and 1851, and his conduct on these several
occasions received the approbation of their Lordships.

In 1853, Dr. Rae commanded an Expedition fitted out by the Hudson’s
Bay Company, with the view of effecting the survey of that portion of the
northern coast which he had been unable to complete in 1846. He passed the
winter, 1853 and 1854, at Repulse Bay, and proceeded onwards in the Spring
of 1854, intending to prosecute his survey of the northern coast ; but, having
received intelligence of the fate of Sir John Franklin and his party from the
Esquimanx, and satisfied himself of its general correctness, he immediately
returned to this country, in place of remaining another winter, wh}qh he found
would have been required to eomplete the object of the Expedition; and I
believe his conduct in this respect has met with the approbation of their Lord-
ships, as it has that of the Committee of the Hudson’s Bay Company. In the
course of these Expeditions he traced upwards of 1,800 miles of cuast,
previously unknown. X .

I have been requested by Dr. Rae to prefer his claim to the reward.
and have entered into these details that their Lordships may have before them
the services of Dr. Rae in Arctic Discovery, and in the search for Sir John
Franklin, when they may be plcased to take into consideratich his claims for
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Correspondence the reward, and I have onli); to add that the Committee of the Hudson's Bay
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Companv will feel gratified by their Lordships coming to a favourable decision

thereon. v
1 ]m\'c, Xe. )
(Signed) A. H. COLVILLE, Governor.
No. 25.
Captain W. A. B. Hamilton to A. Colville, Esq.
Sir, Admiralty, November 15, 1854,

HAVING laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty your
letter of 15th instant, detailing the services of Dr. Rae, and submitting that
he is entitled to the reward of 10,0001, for asccrtaining the fate of Sir John
JFranklin's Expedition, | am commanded by their Lordships to acquaint you that
in the ahsence of the Report from Captain Collinson, of Her Majesty’s Ship
“ Enterprise,” of his voyage and proceedings, my Lords cannot come to any
decision on the subjcct of Dr. Rae’s claim to the reward in question.

Their Lordships take this opportunity of again expressing their sense of

Dr. Rac’s arduous and valuable services in Arctic Survey and Researches,
combined with his strenuous and well-directed efforts to discover traces of
Sir John Franklin.
1 have, &c.
(Signed) W. A B. HAMILTON,

No. 26.
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received January 27, 1855.)

Stromness, Orkney, December 25, 1854.
THE Governor of the Hudson’s Bay Company having intimated to me,
that, as the reward offered by Government for discovering the fate of Sir John
Franklin and party was a matter affecting me as a private individual, rather
than as an officer of the Company, I should myself take the requisite steps to
advance my claim, leaving the Company to support it in the manner they
might consider most appropriate. )
_In pursuance of this view of the case, I take the liberty of bringing the
subject before the notice of my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty,
believing that their Lordships have before this time become acquainted with
the details of Captain Collinson’s despatch, and have been able to decide
whether the tenor of that document be such, as in any way to interfere with

my claim to the reward alluded to. ’
I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN RAL.

No. 27.
Captain W. 4. B, Hamilton, to W, F. Robson, Lsq.

Admiralty, January 23, 1855,
HEREWITH you will receive a number of papers an 's ranging i
date from August to December, 1854, relating topthlg procccié(iglftges1 i)fl aDnlg “}%alen
Clue:f_Factox: of the Hudson’s Bay Company, the last of which, under date
the 25th uliimo, is an application by the above named gentiéman for the
reward offered hy Government on the ¥th March, 1850, to any party who
should first succeed in ascertaining the fate of the discovery ships under the
command o{' Sir John Franklin, and my Lords desire that You will take the
opinion of . M. Phinn, as to Dr. Rae beiug at present in a position to claim the
reward for ascertaining their fate, or whether i will be more expedient to
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wait the result of the further search about to be instituted in the appr ing
spring by the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company. © approaching
You are to return all the papers with your reply.
By command of their Lordships,
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.

No. 28,
W. E. Robson, Esq., to Captain Hamilton.— (Received February 17.)

Sir, Lancaster Place, February 1, 1855.

WITH reference to the commands of my Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, signified to me by your letter of the 23rd ultimo, wherchy T was
directed to take the opinion of Mr. Phinn as to Dr. Rae being at present in a
position to claim the reward for ascertaining the fate of the officers and men of
Her Majesty’s ships Erebus and Terror, or whether it would be more expedient to
wait the result of the further scarch about to be instituted in the approaching
spring by the officers of thc Hudson’s Bay Company; I take the liherty of
reporting to you, for the information of their Lordships, that T sent the papers
to Mr. Phinn, and I return the same with his opinion upon the subject.

I have, &e.

gned) WW. F. ROBSON.

(Si

Inclosure in No. 28,
Case.
The following Letter has been received by the Solicitor of the Admiralty.

Admirelty, January 27, 1853,
HEREWITH you will receive a number of papers and letters ranging
in date from August to December, 1854, rclating to the proccedings of
Dr. Rae, Chief Factor of the Hudson’s Bay Company, the last of' which under
date the 25th ultimo, is an application by the above named gentleman for the
reward offered by the Government on the 7th March, 1850, to any party who
should first succeed in ascertaining the fate of the discovery ships under the
command of Sir John Franklin; my Lords desire that you will take the
opinion of Mr. Phinn as to Dr. Rae being at present in a position to claim the
reward for ascertaining their fate, or whether it will be more expedient (o
await the result of the further search about to be instituted in the approaching
spring by the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
You are to return all the papers with your reply.
By command of their Lordships,
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.

The papers referred to in the above letter accompany this case, and the
opinion of Mr. Phinn is requested according to such letter.

Opinion of Thomas Phinn, Esq.

IT appears to me that Dy. Rae has addl}ccd cvidence as satistactory as
the nature of the service and the peculiar circumstances Qf‘ the case would
admit, of the fate of the crews of Sir John F_mnk]m’s shlp,\'.. The ﬁndjng
articles clearly belonging to officers of both ships scems to point to ,t.he fact
that the party which met so melancholy a fate (o the north-west of Back’s Great
Fish River was composed of the survivors from both ships. And this view
seems to have heen adoped by my Lords, as evidenced by the letter of their
Secretary, under date of October 24, 1854.%

* Sec Parliamentary Papers, page 834, «“ I'urther papers {‘clutivc to recont Arctic £ \'p({litions
in search of Sir John Franklin and the crews of Her Majesty's ships ¢ Iliebus’ and * Terror)
Presented to both Houses of Parliament by comnﬁnd of Her Majesty, Januuwy, 1855,”

Correspondence
i¢lating to the ad-
judication of the
sum of £10,000 as
a reward for as-
certaining the fate
of the crew of Her
Majesty's ships
¢ Erebus ” and
¢ Terror.”



Correspondence
relating to the ad-
judication of the
sum of £10,000 as
a reward for as-
certaining the fute
of the crews of Her
Majesty’s ships
+ Erebus ” and
¢ Terror."”

av

It appears to my, thercfore should my-Lords still be of opinion that the
vidence furnished by Dr. Rae is conclusive of the fate of Sir J. Frankli,
and of the survivors of the Expedition, that he has brought himself \ylthm t'he
terms of the-notice of March 17, 1850 ; and that any s_ubsequqnt discoveries
by a fresh party which did not invalidate the conclusions arrived at on the
evidence furnished by Dr. Rae could not affect his clqlm.

In order to avoid the difficulties which occurred ln.reference to the reward
offered for the discovery of the screw propeller, 1 sp_bmlt that my Lords should
cause a notice to be inserted in the ¢ Gazette,” reciting Fhe placard of March 7,
1250, and Dr. Rae’s claim in pursuance thereof, stating that my Lords are
about (within a time to be limited by their Lordships) to adjudicate thereon,
and that all persons who have any claim to prefer to the offel:ed re.ward should
do =0 within the time specified, or in default thereof, that their claim would be
barred. I do not understand that Captain Collinson prefers any claim founded

the articles which he has recovered.
o (Signed) THOS. PHINN.
Temple, January 31 1855.

No. 29.
R. Osbhorne, Esq., to W. F. Robson, Esg.

Admaralty, February 16, 1855.

WITH reference to Mr. Phinn’s opinion upon Dr. Rae’s claim to the
reward offered to any party who should first succeed in ascertaining the fate of
the ships under the command of Sir John Franklin, I am to signify their
Lordship’s direction to you to frame a notice for the ‘“ Gazette,” stating that
adjudication of the £10,000 will be made as soon as my Lords receive the
report of the expedition now directed to proceed to the mouth of the Great
Fish River.

By command of their Lordships,
(Signed) R. OSBORNE.

No. 30.
W. F. Robson, Esg., to R. Osborne, Esq.—( Received February 20.)

Sir, Lancaster Place, February 17, 1855.
WITH reference to the commands of my Lords Commissioners of the
Admu:alty, signified to me by your letter, dated the 16th instant, whereby I
was directed to frame a notice for the *“ London Gazette,” stating that adjudi-
cation of the 10,000 will be made as soon as my Lords rcceive the Report of
the E:‘(pedxt;on now directed to proceed to the mouth of the Great Fish River, 1
submit to you, for the consideration of their Lordships, that it will be advisable
E‘o wail the result of the intended expedition hefore framing any notice for the

Gazette,” or holding out any expectation as to the money being awarded.
yourllel:tt?,m the casc and opinion, which was the only paper accompanying
1 have, &ec.
(Signed) W. F. ROBSON.

No. 381.
Captain V. A. B. Hamilton, to W, F. Robson, Esq.

Admiralty, February 19, 1855.

e 17th instant, No. 186, and the
ion of reward to the discoverer of
,my Lords desire that you will

REFERRING to your submission of th
enclosed opinion of Mr. Phinn upon the quest
the fate of Sir John Franklin’s expedition
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consult Mr. Phinn as to 1':he nature of the notice intended for insertion in the
“ Londo(;l Gazette,” provided that he be of opinion that a notice ought to be
prepared.

By command of their Lordships,

(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.

No. 32.
W. F. Robson, Esq., to R. Osborne, Esq.—(Received February 24.)
Sir, Lancaster Piace, February 23, 1855,

WITH reference to the commands of my Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, signified to me by the letter of Captain Hamilton, dated the 19th

instant, whereby I was directed to consult with Mr. Phinn as to the nature of

the notice on the above subject, intended for insertion in the ¢ London
Gazette,” provided that he be of opinion that a notice ought to be prepared. 1
take the liberty of reporting to you, for the information of their Lordships,
that T have consulted with Mr. Phinn, and he states that as an expedition is to
proceed for the purpose of further inquiry, that the insertion of the proposed
notice in the “ Gazette ” had better be deferred until my Lords receive the
report of the gentlemen so engaged.
I return the papers,
[ have, &c.
(Nigned) W. F. ROBSON.

No. 33.
Further Opinions of Thos. Phinn, Esq.

I HAVE seen Mr. Robson, and concur with him in thinking that, as an
expedition is to proceed for the purpose of further inguiry, with a view to
testing the accuracy of Dr. Rae’s information, that the insertion of (he proposed
notice in the “ Gazette ”” had better be deferred wuntil my Lords reccive the
report of the gentlemen so engaged.

(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 34.
Captain V. A. B. Hamilton, to 1I". F. Robson, Esq.

Admmiralty, February 23, 1855.
REFERRING to former correspondence and to your letter of this dayv's
date, No. 208, relative to the reward to be given to those who should first
ascertain the fate of Sir John Franklin, I am to acquaint you that their
Lordships have decided to defer the inscrtion of the proposed notice in the
“(Gazette ” until they receive the report of the gentlemen employed in the

expedition about to proceed on a further search to the Great Fish River.
By command of their Lordships,
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.

No. 35.
A. Colville, Esq., to Cuptain W. A. B. Hamilton.—(Received March 24.)

Sir, Hudson’s Bay House, March 19, 1855.

WITH reference to your letter of the 15th November, in answer to mine
of the 13th November, on the subject of Dr. Rae’s claim for the reward offered

by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty for ascertaining the fate of Sir
H2
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-anklin’s party, I presume that the report from Captain Collinson has
‘11)21612 E;?éived, a}ld ai youlr letter addressed to Mr. Smith, the Sec:retar_y ‘c‘)f th_e
Hudson's Bay Company, dated 24th October* last, commumcates. their
Lordships’ high approval of the services of Dr. Rae, \Xho has set at rest the
unfortunate fate of Sir John Franklin and his party,” I have the honour to

«

submit that the time has arrived when their Lordship’s decision on Dr. Rae’s

claim may be expected.
I have, &c.

(Signed) A. COLVILLE, Governor.
No. 36.
Captain W. A. B Hamilton, to A. Colville, Esq.
Sir, Admiralty, March 23, 1855.

IN reply to your letter of the 19th instant, relating to Dr. Rae’s claim to
the reward for ascertaining the fate of Sir John Franklin and his party, I am
commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint you that
no further report has as yet been reccived from Captain Collmson,_ and the
circumstances remaining the same, my Lords are unable to add anything to, or
depart from, the intimation made in their former letter,

I have, &c.

(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.
No. 87.
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received April 19.)
Sir, Hudson’s Bay House, London, April 2, 1855.

I HAVE been favoured by the Sceretary of the Hudson’s Bay Company
with copies of letters from vou, written hy direction of the Lords Commis
sioners of the Admiralty, replying to two communications addressed by
Governor Colville to their Lordships on the subject of the reward offered for
ascertaining the fate ot Sir John IFranklin and party.

In the first of these lctters the absence of « Captuin Collinson’s Report”
is assigned as a cause for not coming to a decision as to the justness of my claim
to the reward above referred to; in the second lctter the absence of a * further
report” from Captain Collinson is the plea urged.

What ¢ further report,” as far as vegards the fate of Sir John Franklin
and his party, their Lordships exjpect to receive, I am at a loss to imagine.

It is evident that had Captain Collinson obtained any information, even
the slightest trace, of the long lost party, to search for which was the special
mission of the Expedition he commanded, it would have appeared in his
despatch, dated at Port Clarence on the 22nd August, 1854, and would have
been published in the last Arctic Blue Book, yet, with the exception of the
mention of finding a piece of wood having on it a copper hasp,” marked with
the broad arrow (M) there is not a single sentence in the report that can bear
on the subject.

_Inaletter of date the 24th October last, written by direction of the Lords
Commissioners, and addressed to W. G. Smith, Esquire, it is stated that I had
© set at rest the unfortunate fate of Nir John Franklin and party.” DMy claim
tp the reward being thus clearly acknowledged, and as nothing as far as I am
aware, has since that date come to light which could alter the views or opinions
of their Lordships, I cannot help feeling some surprise at the difficultics and
delays made in deciding the question.

. _As I'am desirous of communicating on the subject of the reward by the
Spring express to Hudson’s Bay, with the men who formed my party to the
Arctic Sea, I should be extremely ohliged by a reply to this, at as carly a date
as circumstances will permit.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN RAE.
* See page 834. * Further papers relative to recent Arctic Expeditions in scarch of Sir John

Fran“lin and the cr ws of Her Majcsty’s shi ’
! ajests’s ships ¢ Ercbus’ and ‘Terror.” Presen
¢t Parliament by command of Her Majesty, January, 1855.” resented to both Houses
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No. 33.
Captain 11". A. B. Hamilton, to Dr. Rae.

Sir, Admiralty, April 18, 1855,
IN reply to your letter of the 2nd instant, relating to the reward offered

Correspondence
relating to the ad-

for ascertaining the fate of Sir John Franklin and his party, I am commanded judication of the

by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint you that having
taken legal advice, they do not feel that they are in a condition at present to
come to any decision on the claim for the reward offered for ascertaining the
fate of that officer.
I have, &e.
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON,

No. 39.
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received April 26.)

Sir, 5, Beaufort Buildings, Strand, April 23, 1853.

I AM in receipt of your letter of the 18th instant, informing me that the
Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, having taken legal advice, do not feel
that they are in a condition at present to come to any decision on the claim
to the reward offered for ascertaining the fate of Sir John Franklin and
his party.

In reply, I have to request that you will be pleased to inform their Lord-
ships that if this decision has been arrived at by the legal advisers of the
Board with a full knowledge of the contents of your letter of the 21th October#
last, addressed to the Sccretary of the Hudson’s Bay Company, in which it is
admitted that I had set at rest the fate of Sir John Franklin and his party,
rather than enter into a question of law, I would prefer to have recourse to
one or other of the following alternatives, having myself taken legal advice on
the snbject, which is at total variance with that of the legal advisers of the
Board.

I am willing to refer my claim to the decision of arbiters mutually chosen,
or to defer the matter until the return of the Expedition which is about to
descend the Back River to search any further traces (journals cspecially) of
Sir John Franklin’s party, with the clear understanding that, in the event of
my rcport being confirmed, or should no information in contradiction of any
material part of it be obtained, my claim be admitted, at the same time
reserving to myself all legal and moral claim that now cxists, should the
Expedition fail in its object.

Begging the favour of a reply at your ecarliest convenience,

1 have, &e.
(Signed) JOHN RAE.

No. 40.
Captain W. 4. B. Hamilion, to Dr. Rae.

Sir, Admiralty, April 26, 1855,

IN reply to your letter of the 23rd instant, referring to my letter to you
of the 18th instant, relating to your claim to the reward offered by Her
Majesty’s Government for ascertaining the fate of Sir John Franklin and
his party, I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
to refer you to the coutents of that letter, in answer to your present com-

munication.
I have, &c.
(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON

* Page 834, * Further Papers,” 1323,
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No. 41.
V. G. Sith, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.

Qir Hudson’s Bay House, June 19, 1855,

WITH reference to the correspondence that has already passed between
the Governor of the Hudson’s Bay Company and the Admiralty, respecting the
claim of Dr. Rae to the remuteration offered by Her bMajesty’s Government for
the discovery of the fate of Sir John Franklin, and specially to the letter of
Captain Hamilton, dated 23rd of March, 1855, I am directed by the Governor
and Committee to request that you will submit to the Lords Commissioners
that, as Captain Collinson has now been some time In this country, it is
presumed that the farther report required from that gentleman has been
received, and the Governor and Committee trust that their Lordships may
now be in a position to entertain favourably Dr. Rae’s claim to the reward in

(question.
l I have, &ec.

(Signed) - W. G. SMITH.

No. 42.
V. G. Smith, Esq., to Thos. Phinn, Esq.

Sir, Admiralty, June 29, 1855,
REFERRING to your letter of the 19th instant, in which in behalf of
the Governor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay Company you express a
hope that the time has arrived when Dr. Rae’s claim to the reward offered for
the discovery of the fate of Sir John Franklin may be entertained; referring

also to Dr. Rae’s letter of the 25th December last, in which he states that the

Governor of your Company had upon the same subject intimated to him that
the reward in question affects him more in the character of a private individual
than as an officer of the Company. I am commanded by my Lords Commis-
sioners of the Admiralty to acquaint you that they concur in the opinion
expressed by the Company to Dr. Rae; they, however, desire that the
Company should be informed that they still retain their opinion that under
any circumstances Dr. Rae will be entitled to a portion of the reward offered
to the persons who should first ascertain the fate of Sir John Franklin, and
the officers and men under his command; but it secms to them impossible to
come to any final conclusion until the result of the further search which has
been undertaken by your Company for the purpose of ascertaining, as far as
possible, the fate of those officers and men, shall be known, as their Lordships
are placed almost in a judicial capacity with reference thereto.

It must be obvious that the renewed search, if successful in ascertaining
the fate of members of the expedition constituting a party, other than that
which is supposed to have met with so melancholy a fate near Great Fish
River, must, at any rate, very materially affect the proportion of the reward, if
any, receivable by Dr. Rae.

I have, &e.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 43.

Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received April 10, 1856.)

Sir, ‘
_ MY attention having been called
entitled “The Great Arctic Mystery,
attempt to influence the Lords Commis

of the _question of the Government re
Franklin and party, and

London, April 10, 1856.

to a pamphlet recently published,
" the object of which is evidently an
sioners of the Admiralty in their decision
ward for tracing the fate of Sir John
as my name and proceedings are not unfrequently
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mentioned therein, I venture to trouble you with a few remarks on its
contents.

At page 4 it is said, ““I was dispatelied on a purely geographical expe-
dition ;” again, from a lettef of mine to the * Times” mnewspaper of
November 27, 1852, “I do not mention the lost navigators, as there is not the
slightest hope of finding any traces of them in the quarter to which I am
going.”

Both these statements are perfectly true. In making the latter I was
influenced by the same circumstances that appear to have influenced others.

Sir John Franklin, on a former Arctic IXxpedition (not a ship one), lost
half his men and very nearly his whole party, in a journcy overland of not
more than two hundred miles, and 1 did not think it probable that he would,
after such former bitter experience, endeavour to save himself and those with
him, by travelling southward over the American continent towards the
Hudson’s Bay Company’s posts, the neavest of which, by the route he would
have to follow, was little, if at all, short of six hundred miles distant.

On the other hand, he and his offcers had the example of Sir John Ross
and party saving themselves, or rather being saved, in 1833, by travelling up
Regent’s Inlet to Barrow Strait.

The expedition on which I was last employed was a purcly geographical
one, and having heen proposed and planned by mysclt, I was bound in honour
to accomplish it as long as no very great risk was incurred. My belief was, and
is, that by passing another winter at Repulse Bay (for doing which [ had the
means) the intended survey might have been effected, had I'not thought that the
information obtained regarding the lost navigators was of too much importance
to be withheld for another year, 1 consequently came to England, and Ieft
the object of my visit to the Arctic Sea unaccomplished.

In justice to myself permit me to say, that it was not until my arrival in
London on the 22nd October, 1854, I was informed that a reward had heen
offered for tracing ¥Franklin’s fate; so that it was no expectation of pecuniary
advantage that induced me to act as I did.

At page 6 it is said, ** T was made acquainted on my outward journcey.

from Repulse Bay, with the locality, namely, Montreal Island, Point Ogle, and
its vicinity, at which the remains of Sir John Franklin’s party were found.”

This is incorrect, for it wax not until afler my return to Repulsc Bay that 1
learnt the particulars which cnabled me to fix upon the locality with any
approach to certainty. '

My rough notes of 21st of April, written at a snowhouse about ten miles
west of Pelly Bay, and at Simpson’s Lake the following day, on my outward
journey, are :—

«Met a very communicative and apparently intelligent Esquimaux ; had
pever met whites before, but said that a number of Kabloonans, at least 35
or 40, had starved to death west of a large river a long distance off. Pecrhaps
about 10 or 12 davs’ journcy? Could not tell the distance, never had been
there, and could not accompany us so far. Pead bodics scen beyond two large
rivers; did not know the place. Could not or would not explain it on chart.
Had seen a pillar of xtones that had been built by whites near a small river.
Top of pillar had fallen down ; suppesc Simpson and Dease cairn at Castor
and Pollux River?” This last remark I need scarcely say is mine, and I found
that the surmise was correct. The top of the cairn had fallen down.

Reverting to my notes of 21st and ?211(1 April, 1 find, ¢ Th}s in_format‘ion
too vague to act upon, particularly at this season, when everything is covercd
with snow.” ‘ )

It is perhaps ncedless to give my reasons for not attempting to reach the
mouth of the Back River during the summer of 1854. The difficulty, nay,
almost impracticability, of travelling overland in'the_north at that season, is
exemplified in the narratives of those very distinguished {ravellers, Captain
McClintock and Commander Mccham, at pages 535 and 584 of the Arctic blue
book for 1855, )

Had I waited until spring, 1855, for the purpose of proving by 1301‘s0¥1al
observation the truth of the Esquimaux report, of the correctness of which
on all important points I had no doubt, T could have reached England only
three months carlicr than Mr. Anderson’s report did, and the search by him
and his party during the summer, when the ground was thawed and bare of
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snow, was much more perfgct than .mine.could_have be.en lkr)l’sl})]rmg, when
everything on low flat land is almost invariably hid from view by bt e sx;low.

Page 11.— Nor was the Admiralty satisfied that the report brought home
by Dr. Race was trustworthy.” )

~ On this extract T shall not hazard any observation; but I may say, that
nearly all the leading newspapers of the day (althongh some of them deprecated
one part of my report), agreed in considering the lnf‘ormgtlon obtamfad, taken
in conjunction with the articles purchased from the natives conclusive as to
Franklin’s fate, and nothing, so far as I am aware, has since come to light, to
weaken the force of the evidence. _ _

Folios 11 and 12.—“Tt is, we contend, extremely unlikely that while such
articles as small pieces of rope, bunting, a letter nip, &c., were preserved, the
bones of human beings should not have also remained to attest the truth of the
tragical report.” . .

The articles above named were cvidently collected by the Esquimaux,
and put in a safe place or “en cache ” on the high ground of Montreal Island,
and thus preserved, whilst the bodies left on the low flat beach dlsappfaared.

M. Stewart, who accompanied Mr. Anderson down the Back River tells
me, that there was certain indication that the water at times covered the land
to the distance of fully a hundred yards in shore of the usual tide mark, on
the low flat coast near Point Ogle and Montreal Island.

That gales of wind would produce this effect is proved by the experience
of Sir George Rack, who mentions in his journal, the being obliged by the
rise of the walcr when encamped in this very locality to move his baggage,
stores, &e., further from the sca, to save them from injury or destruction.

Would not such rises of water he apt to cover up with sand and mud, or
carry away any remains of dead persons during a period of five summers,
aided as they would be by the current from the river and the ice.

Folio 12.—Indeed, it is probable that the party in question were detached
on special service, and that the main body of the expedition remained with
the ships.”

Is it probable that such (detached party on special serviee), would carry
with them Rir John Franklin’s cross, a number of silver spoons, forks, &c.,
hearing the initials or crests of most of the officers of hoth ships? Besides, is
there any probability that documents, if such therc be, deposited at or near
the position (which is wholly unknown) where the Erebus and Terror were
abandoned, would give any account of the party that perished in the neighbour-
lood of Montreal Island, and Point Ogle.

The claim set up to the discovery of a north-west passage by Franklin’s
party is not the least curious portion of the pamphlet. We have not the
slightest evidence to show that the boat found at the estuary of the Pack River,
had heen conveyed thither by water, or even hauled all the way on ice. It
may have been taken 20, 30, or cven 40 miles overland, in the same way
as mine was in 1846, hetween Repulse and Committee Bays.

Apologizing for troubling you with this long letter.

I have, &ec.

(Signed) JOHN RAE,

No. 44.
Thos. Phinn, Esq., {o Dr. Rae.

Sir, Admiralty, April 11, 1856.

I AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to
acknowledge the reccipt of your letter of yesterday’s date, containing some
i(;m?rks.upon a pamphlet recently published, entitled the ¢ Great Arctic
Mystery.”

I have, &ec.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN,




57

No. 45.
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty. —(Received May 23.)

Sir, 29, Norfolk Street, Strand, May 21, 1836.

IT is now more than eightecn months since I brought home information
from the Arctic Sea, which the Secretary of the Admiralty, in a letter dated
a few days afterwards, and written by command of the Lords Commissioners,
stated ‘‘ set at rest the unfortunate fate of Sir John Franklin and his party.”
Anything that has since been learnt, instead of weakening the force of that
information has tended to confirm it.

Four weeks have now elapsed since the expiration of the three months
allowed by my Lords Commissioners for parties to send in claims to the
reward offered for obtaining first information of the fate of Sir John Franklin
and his party.

By letter addressed to the Secretary of the Admiralty in November 1854,
from A. Colville, Esquire, Governor the Hudson’s Bay Company, a claim
to the reward above alluded to is made in my favour: since then, I have lost
much of my time (which, although not worthy the consideration of their
Lordships, is of great valuc to mc) in waiting the decision of this question, and
I now beg most humbly to cxpress a hope that their Lordships will not keep
me much longer in suspenze on a matter which the multiplicity of” other
affairs of infinitely morc impurtance, may have caused them hitherto to
overlook.

i have, &c.
(Signed) JOHN RAL.

No. 46,
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiraily.—(Received June 19.)

Sir, 29. Norfoll Mireet, Sirand. June 18, 1236,

WITH reference to the subject of the reward oflered by Government tor
the first information regarding the fate of Sir John Franklin and his party, 1
beg to say that should it please my Lords Commissioners of’ the Admiralty
favourably to consider my claim thereto, a difficulty may possibly arise as (o
what proportion ot the reward in question ought to be given to the men who
cheerfully shared with me the privations and hardships (such as they wore
of the recent Expedition, during which information of the lost navizators was
obtained.

Should such difficulty exist, may I presume to suggest that it might be
left to the Governor and Commitlee of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who,
perhaps, would have no objections to tike it upon themselves to decide this
point.

As regards myself, I should consider their decision final.

Hoping that you will pardon me for again troubling you,

I have, &ec.

(Signed) JOHN RAE.

No. 47.
Thos. Phinn, Esq., to IT. G. Smith, LEsq.

Sir, Admiralty, June 19, 1850,

~ WITH vreference to your letter of the 19th November 1854, and the sub-
sequent correspondence on the subject of Dr. Rac’s claim to the rewurd oflered
by the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, by their proclamation of
7th March, 1850, T am commanded by my Lords to acquaint you, for
the information of the Governor and Committee of the Hudsons Ba
Company, that upon a full considelration of all the circumstances con-
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Comrespondence nected  with the information obtained relative to Sir John Franklin’s
relating to the ad- Jpyedition. my Lords are of opinion that Dr. Rae and his companions are

j?ﬁc%}ioﬁmo&)ot " entitled to the reward of 10,0001 assigned under the third paragraph of such
o Jeward for ws. proclamation; and I am to request that you will be good enough to undertake

certaining the fate {he distribution of this sum between Dr. Rae and his companions. My Lords
of the erews of Her 1. poquest the Hudson's Bay Company will inform them how this money may
?Ii{f:&: . ~1::§3 Dest be paid to the companions of Dr. Rac, who are supposed to be now in the
« Terror.” employment of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
1 have, &ec.

(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 48.
Thos. Phinn, Esq., to Dr. Rae.

Sir, Admiralty, June 19, 1856.

T AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to acquaint
you that upon a full consideration of all the circumstances connected with the
fnformation obtained relative to Sir John Franklin’s Expedition, my Lords are
of opinion that you and your companions are entitled to the reward of 10,0001
assivned under the third paragraph of the Admiralty proclamation of the 7th
August, 1850, viz:—

*“To any party or parties, who in the judgment of the Board of
Admiralty should by virtue of his or their efforts first succeed in ascertaining
the fate of such Expedition.”

My Lords further desire me to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 18th instant, signitying your willingness (should your claims be tavourably
considered by my Lordy) that the distribution of the reward should be appro-
priated according to the rccommendation of the Governor and Committee of
the Hudson’s Bay Company, and to acquaint you that in furtherance of your
proposal, the necessary application has been made to the Hudson’s Bay
Company.

I have, &c.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

‘No. 49.
Letter from Lady Franklin.—(Recetved April 16.)

LADY FRANKLIN presents her compliments to the Secretary of the
Admiralty, and requests he will do her the favour to place the accompanying
1ett'etr betore the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty at the earliest oppor-
unity.

60, Pall Mall,

April 18, 1854,

Inclosure 1 in No. 49.

Lady Franklin respecting the adjudication of the Reward, to the Lords
Commissioners of the Admiralty. .
My Lords, ‘ 60, Pall Mull, April 12, 1856.

I HAVE the honour of laying before your Lordships a copy of the notice
published by your orders in the Gazette of the 22nd of J anuary last, and of
soliciting your consideration of the motives which compel me respeczfully.to
enter a 1protost against the carly adjudication thercin proposed. I should not
have delayed until this late moment the execution of an intention formed soon
after the publication of the notice and communicated many weeks since to Dr.

Rae, but that I have been incapaci iti
R ) e pacitated from writing b i i
which I am indeed but partially recovered, g by serious illness, from
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The grounds upon which I venture to appeal to you against the present
adjudication of the reward ave the following :—

1. Because it cannot truly be affirmed of the crews of the Erebus and
Terror that their fate has been ascertained, and thercfore to adjudicate on such
an assumption seems to h2 premature.

2. Becanse Dr. Rae has not by his efforts ascortained their fate.

3. Because it may yet happen that their fate will be positively and fully
ascertained, and if so, those who by their efforts succeed in ascertaining i,
will, should a prematurc adjudication take place, he deprived of their legiti-
mate reward.

4. Because the adjudication, by aflirming that there is nothing more to be
disclosed, opposes a check to any further efforts for ascertaining the fate of the
expedition, and appears to counteract the hnmane intention of the House of
Commons in voting a large sum of money for that purpose.

1 trust that in making some observations in explanation of these points,
I shall not fail in the respect due to your Lordships, and that you will accord
me that indulgence which the subject and my own decp personal interest in it
may appear to claim.

1. It is not my intention, under the first of these heads to throw doubt
upon the reports brought home by Dr. Rae, confirmed as they are, in some
points, by the indisputable relics procured from the Esquimaux, but only to
point out that they are convincing within certain limits only: and that much
that has hitherto been considercd as established, is only conjectural, and should
lead to a suspension of judgment, rather than to a hasty enunciation of it.

It is not proved, by any facts we are in possession of, that the party of
white men who arrived with their large boat (the remains of which, with many
articles belonging to it have been found) within the estuary of the Great Fish
River, and who are said to have perished there, were the only survivors of the
crews of the Erebus and Tervor, and that no other remnant of the orivinal
ships’ companies, amounting to about 135 men, tock a different route.

And even as to thiz (known) boat party, it has not been traced hacl to
the ships or to the wrecks from which it was cquipped; nor have the ships
been sought for at all, though there is much reason to conclude from the
nature of the objects brought home by Dr. Rae, and of others seen by Lir.
Anderson on Montreal Island and the adjacent shore, that they had been
pillaged by the Esquimaux, and were not far distaut.  What secrets may Le
hidden within thnse wrecked or stranded sbips we know not—what may be
buried in the graves of our unhappy countrymen or in caches not yet discovered
we have yet to Tearn.  The bodies and the graves which we were told of have
not been found ; the books (journals) said to be in the liands of the Escuimaux
have not been recovered, and thus left in ignorance and darkness with so little
obtained and so much yet to learn, can it be said and is it fitting to pronounce
that the fate of the expedition is ascertained ?

That your Lordships did not consider that this question was vesolved by
Dr. Rae’s reports at the closc of 1854, and by the relies which to a certain
extent authenticated them, is shewn by your own proceedings when that tragic
intelligence arrived, for it wasimmediately decided that steps must be taken to
verify the truth of these reports which could not he accepted as conclusive, and
that further intclligence must be sought for.  There was but one feeling in the
country on this sad occasion. INoamount of expense would have heen grudged
to make a final expedition of search complete, for it was felt that after six
long years of failure and disappointment, the clue which we had asked and
prayed for was now in our hands, and that Englan@’s honour and credit were
concerned in holding it fast and following it up till it led to the solution of the
mystery. . .

My Lords, I shrink from recalling the pain and woful disappointment I
felt, and which many others felt with me, when the response to this generous
excitement in the public mind, and the sole result of vour deliberations, was
no more than a birch bark canoe expedition duown the Great Fish River, con-
fided to the Hudson’s Bay Company, but unsustained by any naval resources.
In vain was it pleaded that a vessel might be sent to co-operate with this river
party, who, if they ever rcached the sea, could not venture to embark upon
it in their frail canoes: and, if this were not granted, that at least a naval
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officer might accompany and direct the expedition, since 't wia'sl“;(;lll klt)x.own
that the Hudson’s Bay Company, with all their zeal to accomplish the objects

ired of tl in th st eflectual manner, would not be able to supply to
required of them in the mos al n > srvations for latitude and
it an officcr competent to make the indispensable obsu\atlox,lf Bo'1 C ude an
longitude. To the credit of Dr. Rae and of the Hudson'’s Bay Company’s
officers about to he employed, [ may observe that he made a similar lecomfl:neln-
dation, heing persuaded that those brave and rlght-n‘nnlde(} tqeilrv.a?lgs o f‘tle
company would not hesitate to place themselves under the ef} ((lels g)dq an
officer in Her Majesty’s Navy, provided he were one already tried and distin-
guished in Arctic service.  To add to the prxgnml deficiencies Of, this over—la.nd
or river expedition, it failed to securc an interpreter, so that all the information
it has brought back from the Esquimaux, and that derived chicfly from a few
women, was transmitted only by signs.

Every praise is due to the exertions of tl}e two Zea'lous ofﬁC(.ars., who, under
all these disadvantages, were able to accomplish anything : but it is scarcely to
be wondered at if, after a rapid survey of 9 days only, within a very limited
district, which did not extend even to King William Island where our fugitive
countrymen were first scen, they were compelled by the state of the damaged
boats hastily to return, and have thrown no new light upon the history of those
whose fate they went to ascertain.  Mr. Anderson has beel_l able to confirm the
evidences of a large party from the Erebusand Terror having arrived from the
sea within the estuary of the Great Fish River; but his negative testimony on
other matters, such as the bodics and the graves which were not to be found,
tends rather to throw doubt upon than to confirm them. o

I may here, perhaps, be allowed to add, without prejudice to that
excellent servant of the Hudsow’s Bay Company, Mr. Anderson, that ke is so
far from considering, the fate of the expedition has been fully ascertained by
the results of his late survey, or that there is nothing more to be done, that he
has felt it to be a duty to express to me since his return, as he had done before
he started, his decided opinion that a vessel should be sent out to the vicinity
of King William’s Land to pursue the search. With about twenty men, well
armed, and two interpreters, he considers that two parties might be dispatched
from il to explore the cast and west sides of Victoria Strait, as well as the
lower part of Regent Inlet, his own opinion being that the wrecks of the
vessels are (o be found in Victoria Strait, on the west coast of Boothia, between
Bellot Strait and King William's Land. On the 15th of September last,
Mr. A. writes to me, that he had himsclf made preparations for a second
scason of search; but, I presume that, having no instructions on this head,
they have not heen turned to any account. It is evident he considers, that
the Esquimanx tribes on the shores of the strait hold the secret we are in
search of, and that something more than a flying visit of a few days must be
effected, hetore their, perhaps guiliy, fears can be allayed, and their confidence
Wol.

The vicw I have thus ventared to submit, that there is much more con-
clusive evidence to be yet obtained as to the fate of the expedition, and that
the means of obtaining it had not been used, but are within our reach, is not
confined to mysclt” alone, in which case I might, notwithstanding my deep
personal interest in the matter, hesitate to advance it. It would be in my
power to adduce the most positive evidence that the sentiments and views I
have taken the liberty of expressing, are shared by some of the highest
authorities to whom yvour Lordships have been accustomed to vefer in Aretic
matters, as also by those brave and expericnced officers who have most distin-
guished then.)selv.es in Arctic service; and I would entreat of you, before you
place an extinguisher upon the light which has arisen in that ‘dark cormer of
the earth, whither we have been directed as by the finger of God, that you
will, as you have done before, call together those Arctic officers, and obtain
their individual and collective Jjudeiment in this emergency.

2. It seems almost superfinous to observe, if the fate of the crews of the
gﬂrebus.tar}d.Tfn:ror h\as not been z}scertained, that Dr. Rae has not succeeded

1 ascertaining 1t.  And thus [ might be spared the ungrateful task of con-
sidering whether or not he made the efforts implied in your Lordships’
proclamation as a condition of reward, were it not that, by passing over this
clause, | seem to admit an assumption that endangers the main truth I wish to
establish. It is with great reluctance that I find myself obliged to contest
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Dr. Rae’s claim to having, by virtue of his efforts, ascertained the fate of my
husband and his companions, for we are indebted to him (short of this), for

such valuable information, supported by such tangible proofs of a few facts, ?

as might have enabled us, had ampler means been employed, to set the question
at rest, and as enables us still to do so. Had Dr. Rae verified some of the
reports he received at second or third hand from the Esquimaux, by personal
investigation, and made use of the facts thus attained to get at further
truths, or even, had he hastened home with no other object than to provoke
the organisation of a much more complete and effective search than any he
could himself accomplish on the spot, his claims would bear a different aspect.
But he did not go out of his way to test the startling facts communicated to
him, and he returned home, as he expressly tells your Lordships in his official
letter, to stop further expeditions (in other parts)—a praiseworthy object,
perhaps, but one widely different from that for which the reward was offered.
It is but due, however, to Dr. Rae, to add that, when the Fish River
Expedition was resolved upon, he gave his ready advice for ifs organisation,
though he declined the command of it, which was proposed to him. He also
declares himself favourable at this moment, to farther search, were it only, as
he has assured me, to secure for his statements that confirmation which he
anticipates. Much more gladly would I plead, did I not feel that it is beyond
my province, that Dr. Rae should receive an adequate reward for his late and
former services, than oppose his right to that which is put forth in the third
clause of the Gasette notice, to which it appears to me he has not made good
his title.

3. For the sake of those who may yet advance a stronger claim to it, [
am again compelled respectfully to protest against the premature adjudication
contemplated in the Gazette notice. When in the early part of the Scssion of
1649, the House of Commons unanimously voted £20,000 for the encourage-
ment of private enterprise and of private enterprise alone, in the scarch of the
lost objects of national solicitude, they placed no restrictions as to the period
during which the reward was to be held out, it could never have been
contemplated that while the community was divided in opinion as to the
evidence of facts, and while a great majority of those best informed on the
subject and others the most deeply interested in it, were dissatisfied with that
evidence, and demanded better, an arbitrary edict such as that involved in the
premature adjudication of the reward, should, in favour of any one candidate
of doubtful pretensions, shut out all future ones. I would fain submit to your
Lordships, that so long as private funds are embarked in the same cause, and
that active measures are in progress or in contemplation, to clear up the
mystery as to the fate of the crews of the Ercbus and Terror, it would be
unjust” to place an arbitrary limit to the operation of an act designed
expressly for that object, and so proclaimed at the time By Her Majesty’s
Government.”

And here 1 feel compelled to state that, though it is my humble hope and
fervent prayer that the Government of my country will themselves complete
the work they have begun, and not leave it to a weak and helpless woman to
attempt the doing that imperfectly which they themselves can do so easily and
well, yet, if need be, such is my painful resolve, God helping me.

Tn the name then of those brave men who will devote themselves to this
labour of love and duty, I feel called upon to claim that they should not be
shut out, by a premature adjudication, from the reward which may become
their due. It may yet fall to their lot to ascertain all, or much of what we
want to know, and to bring back some journal, or some precious fragment,
otherwise lost to us for ever.

Should these last of the explorers accomplish any of these things, will you
ignore their services and claims, because, in the spring of 1856, you had
decmed that the fate of the expedition was ascertained, and had given away
the reward? 1 have a right to use this argument, though in carrying it into
its consequences I feel it may be doing injustice to your Lordships, as well as
to the devoted volunteers who will undertake what they have to do in a
higher spirit than any hope of pecuniary recompense can put into them.

But T may illustrate the argument by a more immediate example—that of
the zealous and enterprising Captain Penny. It may not be known to vour
Lordships that Captain Penny, before his departure from England last vear,
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in command of two whaling ships, informed me that the reports brought home
by Dr. Rac reminded him of some vague rumours of a fight between whites
and Esquimaux, which had reached him in _l\orthumberland S.oyund the
preceding season, from a great distance, trav'elhng through successive Frlbes
of natives. And Captain Penny added, that in spite of all the difficulties he
foresaw in the execution of his project, it was his intention to engage some of
the most intelligent and trustworthy natives, domesticated at his whaling
station, to trace back these rumours to their source, \\'llet}lel' that source were
the catastrophe at the Great Fish River, or any other which may have over-
taken a separate portion of the crews of the Erebug an.d Terror, in some other
locality. Now, though I have no great hope (considering the distance to b,e
traversed and other obstacles), that much success will- attend Captain Penny’s
landable efforts, and am sure that no thousht of qualifying himself for the
Government reward entered into his speculations, yet, would it be fair to
adjudicate that reward at this moment, in the face (?f such a fact ? _

" T have spoken rcluctantly of a private expedition, at my own cost, which,
in despair of your Lordships completing the }\*01‘1{ you have begun, and not
till then, I may be forced to undertake. And it may not be superfluous, though
I trust it isso, that I should state 1 can have no personal interest in desiring
that the adjudication of the reward should be delayed till the result of that
expedition, or of any other be known, Even in the event of the reward being
adjudged in whole or in part, to those engaged in my private expedition, this
could in no degrec relieve me from any portion of my own pecuniary obliga-
tions to them, or from any expenditure whatever. My funds since the settle-
ment of my late hushand’s affairs, are equal to the ample equipment of the
Isabel schooner, which is now lying in dock, waiting, at a considerable current
expense to me, her possible destination; and, unless these my independent
funds should become exhausted, which I do not forsee, I shall not even ask
vour Lordships for the ordinary pension of a rear-admiral’s widow, to which I
presume I am entitled. My request to your Lordships will be limited to such
assistance as is entirely independent of money, and indeed, to such as 1 have
been assured, on the Lighest authority, will not be denied.

4. And this leads me to add, as my last ground for remonstrating against
the immediate decision which Dr. Rae’s claim have given you occasion to
announce, that its greatest evil, and that of which I should have the most
reason to complain, would be the discouragement it gives to many a noble-
minded man, who, in volunteering for this service, desires to do so with the
confidence that he has your Lordships’ approbation as well as permission.
Your present adjudication weuld be to tell the public and the navy in particular
that, in your Lordships’ opinion, all has been done that can or need be done;
that there is nothing more to learn or nothing worth knowing, or nothing com-
mensurate with the cost and risk incurred (little as that cost and risk would be)
to obtain it; and it is to brand with infatnation and obstinacy the feelings and
convictions that prompta different course. But ifindeed the object of' so many
vears’ labour and anxiety spent, but not wasted, in wrong directions, is to be
abandoned at the very moment when we know where and how to gragp it—if
that which has hitherto been a nation’s duty, be now dwindled to a private
concern—at least let me cntreat that you will not strive to.stifle these last
private efforts by any act 5t yours.

Permit me to add one concluding observation :—

It may be surmiscd that, at the preesnt moment, I have a new incentive
to farther search, inasmuch as Justice has hitherto heen withheld from my
husban'd and his companions as the first discoverers of a north-west passage,
and withlield on the ground that future investigation was necessary, in order
to dctemnne the extent to which it might be found that theyv had carried those
discoveries to which they had sacrificed their lives. ’

_ S.uch was thg barren, though kindly-expressed result of an appeal, which,
believing my motives must be above suspicion, I took courage to make to a
Sel_ect Comﬁxpltt% of the House of Commons, appointed to inquire into the
claims of Sir R_o_bert Maclure to reward, when [ found that the right of my
husbfmd’s expedition—not to reward, but—to the distinction of prior discovery
was lg%m‘ed" or not understoed, or forgotten. And yet one would have sup-
po'suesdt t_ue:]t ;{]‘10 t;ull e(icar;nnaum} ofvany conflicting claims lay at the very root of

Just judgment, and that those who could not plead their own cause because
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their voices were hushed in the grave, would have found an advocate in every
man in that assembly, as they did find, I gratefully acknowledge, in some.

_But this painful remembrance does not enter, or enters but little into the
feelings which prompt my efforts for farther scarch, which I should not d-sive
the lesspeven did I anticipate that its consequences might be to dissipate the
convictions I now have, msiexl of to confivm them. Nor, perhaps, should [
have touched upon this subject at all, except as leading me with less appuar-
ance of presumption to express my opinion, that it is due to a sct of men who
have solved the problem of centuries by the sacrifice of their lives and in the
very act of dying, that their remains should be sought for in the place where
they perished, and that, as they assuredly devised some means of preserving
from destruction the last words they dictated to those they loved and the
records of their five long years of suffering and adventure, the recovery of these
precious documents should be the aim of perscvering cxertion and held out as
a fitting object for reward.

The best tribute that conld be paid to the first and only martyrs to the
great Arctic discoveries of the present century, would be a national and final
expedition for this holy purpose. The objections against a useless repctition
of the attempt will be unanswerable, shen once an adequate effort for the
attainment of thesc objects has been made in vain; and then may England feel
that she is relieved of her responsibilities, and can close with honour one of the
noblest episodes in her naval history.

I have trespassed long on your Lordships’ paticies, for which 1 beg to
apologise, while renewing my respectful protest against the impending adju-
dication of the reward, and my carnest request that it may be delayed till such
time as the result of the last expedition be known.

I have, &c.
(Signed) JANE FRANKLIN,

Inclosure 2 in No. 49.
From the Gaszette of January 22, 1850,

THE Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty having, hy a Proclamation of
the 7th March, 1850, offered : -

Ist. A reward of £20,000 to any party or parties who, in the juldyment
of the Board of Admiralty, should discover and cffectually relieve the erews of
her Majesty’s ships Ercbus and Terror ; and _

ond. The sum of £10,000 to any party or partics who, in the judgment
of the Board of Admiralty, should discover and cffectually velieve any of the
crews of her Majesty’s ships Erchbus and Terror; or should convey such
intelligence as should lead to the relief of such crews orjany of them ; and

3rd. The sum of £10,000 to any party or partics who, in the judgment
of the Board of Admiralty, should, by virtue of hisor their efforts, first succeed
in ascertaining their fate

Hereby give notice that Dr. Rae having claimed to be entitled to the
reward of £10,000, under the terms of the third paragraph of such Proclama-
tion, they will procced within threc months from the date lhereof to adjudicate
on such claim ; and that all such persons who, by virtue of such Proclamation,
deem themselves entitled to the whole or any part of the reward in uestion,
must prefer their claims within such time, after the expiration of which no

claim will be entertained.

No. 5.

Lady Franklin to the Secretury of the Admiralty—(Received May 9.)

60, Pall Mall, May 9, 1856.
I BEG the favour of your laying betore the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty the accompanying letter from Dr. Kane, sent to me by his desive. 1
have had'it printed for the convenicnce of’ the many friends who desive to learn
the opinion of =0 high an authority upon the present position of the Arctic

question. 1 have, &c. o
(Signed) JANE FRANKLIL,

Sir,
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No. 51.
Extract of a Letter from Dr. Kane to Mr. Grinnell.—(Received Maf) 9.)

My Dear Friend, _

I WRITE with my heart full of my subject to say that I have been
studying critically the question ot: thq missing vessgls, and the more my Jlldgmcx}t
matures the facts, the more I mcl_me to th.e views taken.by Osborn in h}s
remarkable letter. I have sympathies with him, which convinces me that he is
a rare union of the gentleman and the conscientious man.

In my opinion the vessels cannot have been suddenly destroyed, or at least,
so destroyed that provisions and stores cpuld not'have been establls_hcd in a S'c.lf'C
and commodious depot.  With this view, which all my experience in ice
sustains, comes the collateral question as to the safety of thq documents of the
Expedition. But this, my friend, is not all,—I am really in doubt as to the
preservation of human lite. I well know how glad I would have been_, had my
duties to others permitted me, to _have taken refuge among the Esquimaux of
Smith’s Straits and Etah Bay. Strange as it may seem to you, we regarded
the coarse life of these people with eyes of envy, and did not doubt but that we
could have lived in comfort upon their resources. It required all my powers,
moral and physical, to prevent ny men from deserting to thq W alru§ Settle-
ments, and it was my final intention, to have taken to Esquimaux life, had
Providence not. carried us through in our hazardous escape.

Now, if the natives reached the seat of the missing ships of Franklin, and
there became possessed, by pilfer or by barter, of the articles sent home by
Race and Anderson, this very fact would explain the ability of some of the
party to sustain life among them. If, on the other hand, the natives have
never reached the ships or the seat of their stores, and the relics were obtained
trom the descending hoat, then the central stores or ships are unmolested, and
some may have been able by these and the hunt even yet to sustain life. All my
men and ofticers agree with me that even in the desert of Rensalaer Bay we
could have descended to the hunting seats, and sustained life by our guns,
or the craft ot the natives. Sad, and perhaps useless, as is this reflection, I
give it to you as the first conscientious outpouring of my opinions.

Now for the question as to the probable position of the lost ships, or their
remains. This question is no longer a vague one. The lines of retreat
by hoat, as determined by Rae and Anderson, when combined with the infor-
mation of Collinson at Gateshead Island, in 1852; Osborn, Winniat, and
Ommancy, in 1851 ; and Ross and Kennedy on the North Somersct coasts,
seem to point to a narrow and circumscribed area, within which must be the
missing vessels or their remains. The thing to a practical mind is not to be
mistaken.  How else came a party from the northward at Montreal Island ?
Whence clse could they have issued?  Their locality is absolutely surrounded
hy searchers, yct, by some irscrutable fatality, the ‘scene of the tragedy has
never been reached.

Ax to the direct question of how to reach and examine this unsearched
centre, I am more in doubt. Peel’s Sound is unknown to our actual obser-
vation, south of Bellot Strait. Of Rae’s incomprehensible journey to Cape
Porter, 1 can learn nothing beyond his report; and of the ice around King
William Land, nothing is reaily known. I have written to Osborn for his
opinions. 1 fear that he cannot add to my facts.

By dogs—the great blessing of arctic travel—this wlole area could be
scoured ; and we must remember that Rae had these animals at Repulse Bay,
and, lzut for his rcturn, could, in a single month, have cleared up the mystery.

From the pr'obable. point attainable by a steamer through Peel Sound to
the scat of Captain Collinson’s farthest in lat. 70°, not more than 175 miles of
travel would intervene:

With true regard, &e.

(Signed) E. K. KANE.




Claims to Reward reccived since the Notice in the
“ Gazette” relating to the intended adjudication of
the £10,000 to Dr. Rae.

Gazelte Nolice of intended adjudication of the Reward.

No. 52,
Extract from the * London Gazette” of January 22, 1856.

THE Lords Commissioners of thc Admiralty having, by a Proclamation of ,,Celcaeli““,zdt"si;i‘:i;i
the 7th March, 1850, offered— notice in the
Ist. A reward of 20,0001 to any party or parties who, in the judgment of “Gazette” relating
the Board of Admiralty, should discover and effectually relieve the crews of Her f‘:].‘he. intended
Majesty’s ships ‘“ Erebus” and “ Terror;” and adjudication of
jesty s ship u ¢ ror;” a the 10,000/ to
2nd. The sum of 10,000l to any party or parties who, in the judgment of Dr. Rae.
the Board of Admiralty, should discover and eflectually relieve any of the crews
of Her Majesty’s ships «* Erebus ”” and « Terror,” or should convey such intelli-
geuce as should lead to the relief of such crews, or any of them ;
And 3rd. The sum of 10,000/ to any party or parties who, in the judgment
of the Board of Admiralty, should, by virtue of his or their efforts, first succeed in
ascertaining their fate ;
Hereby give notice that Dr. Rae having claimed to be entitled to the
reward of 10,0000 under the terms of the third paragraph of such Proclamation,
they will proceed within three months from the date hereof, to adjudicate on
such claim, and that all persons who by virtue of such Proclamation deem them-
selves entitled to the whole or any part of the reward in question, must prefer
their claims within such time, after the expiration of which no claim will be
entertained.

No. 53.
Lizutenonl Cheyne to the Secreiury of the Admiralty.—(Received Murch 16.)

Sir, H.JM.8. ¢ Seahorse,” Devonport, March 13, 1850.

THE Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty having ordered that all
persons having claim to a portion of the reward about to be given for finding
traces of thc missing expedition under Sir John Franklin are to send in such
claims before the 1st April, [ respectiully beg to remind their Lordships that 1
have served in the three consecutive expeditions under Captains Sir James
Clarke Ross, Kt., II. T. Austin, C.B., and Sir Edward Belcher, C.B., of
which that under Captain Austin first discovered the winter quarters of Sir John
Franklin at Beechy Island. _

I beg also to say that I only send this in to be submitted to their Lordships’
consideration whether or no my perseverance in the Arctic scarch justifies me
in asking for a share in the intended reward.

1 have, &c,
(Nigned) JOUN POWLES CHEY NI
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No. 54.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to Lieutenant Cheyne.

Sir ' Admiralty, March 18, 1856.

I AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to
to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 13th instant, on the subject of
your claims to share in the reward for the discovery ?f Sir ‘8Iz . Franklin.

am, &c.

(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 55.

John Garland, Esq., to the Lords Commissioners of the Admuralty.—
(Received March 19.)

My Lords, 66, Arlington Street, Islington, March 17, 1856.
WITH reference tv Dr. Rae’s claim to the 10,0001., respecting the Franklin
Expedition, 1 beg leave to acquaint your Lordships that I should have preferred
a similar claim long since, under the third paragraph, had I known such a
paragraph existed ; it was only on reading the Proclamation afresh, as notified in
the “ Gagette’ of 22nd January last past, that I was awarc this paragraph
existed. There had been an offer, on the part of your Honourable Board, of
this 20,000L., and 10,0001., respectively, previous to March 1550, because my
letter to the Honourable Board is dated December 1849, and it was in con-
sequence of that proclamation or notification that my letter was written : either

I never saw the proclamation of March 1850, or, I must have forgotten its

clauses ; the probability is, it escaped my observation altogether.

Assuming that the first and second paragraphs only existed, I never
preferred my claim in a formal manner, because the second clause distinctly
says that the party must render some effectual assistance to the crews of the
expedition ; but the third clanse waives, or omits, that condition altogether.

My object in addressing that letter to your Honourable Board in
December 1849, was to give the Lords of the Admiralty the information they
sought, chiefly with respect to the fate of the expedition itself; to afford, if
possible, some relief to the crews, and to soothe, as far as possible, the feelings
of Lady Franklin on the subject; for public sympathy at that time was most
intense as to the fate of the expedition ; that was my object in addressing the
Admiralty. I had little or no hope of ever claiming the reward offered ; because
my ixpcctation of any effectual relief ever reaching the crews was proportionably
weak.

The unswer that T received to my letter (I am not going to publish or
make that answer public in any way, but merely state it to your Lordships in a
confidential and official manner) is dated Admiralty 29th December, 1849,
and signed by W. A. B. Hamilton. It says my “letter of instant
has been laid before the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, relative to
the expedition then fitting out in search of Sir John Franklin.” This was
the first expedition, your Lordships, that was sent in search (I need not say
that several have followed) ; public feeling at that time was extremely alarmed
for the safety of Her Majesty’s ships “ Erebus* and “ Terror,” and Lady
Franklin was in particular, and " this, probably, was the chief inducement to my
humble efforts. )

I stated candidly and unequivocally at the time that the ships themselves
were lost, that they had foundered by coming in contact with icebergs ; but
that there might be just a possibility of saving the crews, in some overland, or
over-ice, route, in sledges or boats, provided such assistance was prompt.
howe’xl:g}S i?lla;n v:gs tngd, and 11\1:I failed in discovering the party; it succeeded,
ey West rll_;‘ > ing Captain cCluye some years afterwards to ascertain the

-We sage, which otherwise, probably, he never would have done.

So here, y>rhaps, I ought, in justice, to have gone st t -
Captaiu Me Clure. J ’ g hares, to some extent, with
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But I had good reasons, my Lords, for stating to the Admiralty what I did,
in that positive manner. T knew Sir John Franklin was an experienced man,
none more 80, and a prudent man, and that if he could not accomplish the
object of his search in four vears, he was not likely to do so the fifth, as his
ships were only provisioned for five years, and then, of course, he would think
of nothing but making the best of his way home; and, therefore, I felt certain,
when he did not return in the autumn of 1849, and more particularly as the
winter approached, that he had found it altogether impossible to do so: hence
my letter to the Board in December of that year.

It was the opinion of the Naval Lords of the Admiralty themselves,
expressed some time after my letter, that the ships must have foundered in the
way I had stated ; but time, and Dr. Rae, have been my best friends in this
matter—time in particular. Had the ships drifted. or had they been embedden in
the ice, like Captain Collinson’s ships, they must have been discovered by some of
the numerous expeditions that have been sent in search: if Captain Collinson’s
ships had not been discovered in two years, in all probability they would not
have been discovered at all; they would have drifted and foundered. It would
be the extreme of folly for any one to suppose that the “Erebus” and “Terror”
ever could or ever can have been embedden in the ice all these years ; no reason-
able man can for a moment suppose this.

Captain Parry, I believe, penetrated as far north as 82° odd, and saw open
water ; other navigators have done the same, with the same result, but it is only
once in several years that such a latitude can be reached, and this proves to us
that there is no part of the Arctic Seas, that we arc acquainted with, but what is
open water at times and seasons.

There is no reason to suppose that Sir John Franklin penetrated farther
north than 78° or 79° (quite enough to cut off his retreat), but supposing he
made 80° or more, no reasonable man in his senses can imagine that those ill-
fated ships, ¢ Erebus ” and ¢ Terror,” could have been embedden in the ice for
nine or ten consecutive years—that would be an absurdity ; they have gone to
the bottom, as I said in my letter of December 1419, like the “ Royal George,”
or, more recently, like the Russian ships in the harbour of Sebastopol.

In all countries all over the world, the seasons greatly vary in the course of
afew years. 1 was born on a Whit-Sundliy, my Lerds, and 1 have heard my
parents frequently say there was a heavy shower of snow on that day ; altogether
1t was a very cold day: and I myself can remember it being quite as cold in this
country on the evening of the longest day in some years, as in other years on
Christmas day, so greatly will the seasons vary; and yet if we take a cycle of
the sun, or a century, there is little or no variation at all; the seasons come
round again.

I have therefore demonstrated as clearly as if I had been an eye-witness on
the spot, t"at it would have been quite impossible for the ¢ Erebus” and
“Terror 7 to have existed for ten consecutive years in the Arctic regions
without foundering, and it is now all but eleven years since the expedition
sailed.

As for Dr. Rae, his evidence goes to corroborate my statement, but he has
in truth discovered nothing, nor added anything new as to the fate of the
Expedition. It has been customary with all Arctic voyagers of discovery to
exchange some trifling articles with the Esquimaux natives, for the sake of «:uls
or other articles of food, and for the sake of their goodwill ; but that Sir John
Franklin and party should have parted with valuable articles of plate, &c., only
proves, and proves but too positively, that the party were in the last stage of
existence, and that their situation was most desperate; but Dr. Rae has
discovercd nothing of the men themselves, not even their benes; and of the
ships he knows even less, absolutely nothing.

And yet, taking the two statements together, Dr. Rae’s and my own, your
Lordships have the positive fate of the Expedition, as required or sought by the
Proclamation ; we know that it has perished in the way I have stated.

Had Dr. Rae been sent out by your Honourable Board to search for the
Expedition expressly, the case would have been somewhat different, though even
then, my information was first by several ycars; but it so happened, that chance
threw him on the spot (or rather divine Providence, for I believe nothing happens
by chance). Dr. Rae was, I think, engaged in the Arctic regions on some other
business—the Hudson’s Bay Compan&, I believe, or some company, and had
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been for years—and perhaps he might have gone a little out of his way in conse-
quence of my recommending a search over the ice or snow in sledges; this it
was that led Captain McClure to discover the North-West Passage; and I had
some doubt or hesitation in my mind whether I ought not to have preferred my
claim then to a moiety of the reward, but I never did. .

Well, my Lords, there is nothing done in this life without trouble and
exertion, bodily as well as mentally.

I have been a servant of the state now for fifteen years,and I have an aggre-
gate case before the Government for their gracious consideration, and expect they
will adjudicate upon it in a short time. '

Sir Charles Wood is well acquainted with my case as an aggregate one, but
1 have thought it my duty to prefer this special claim to your Honourable Bo’ard,
according to the terms of the Proclamation, as notified in the  Gazette ” of
22nd January last, but under no circumnstances, as I view the.matter, can Dr. Rae
claim more than one moiety of the 10,000.., whether I receive ornot; I do not
stand in that gentleman’s way at all; but for fourteen long winters I have gone
from Islington to Downing-street and back—a distance, I think, of not less than
seven miles—in all weathers, in frost, in snow, in wind and rain ; I have frequently
got wet through, for 1 do not think during the whole period I have taken a
conveyance more than half-a-dozen times—it did not quite suit my finances;
besides, it has generally been late in the evening, and sometimes I have been
fearful lest I should get my papers crushed ; neither could I take the liberty of
sending them by post.

I calculated my many journeys to and from Downing-street on various
Governmental business have been fully equal to any exertions Dr. Rae has made
respecting the Franklin Expedition, and fully equal to the journeys of Her
Majesty’s Ministers to and from their country seats to town—about the same.

I dare say the Government will prefer entertaining my case as an aggregate
one; I should prefer this course myself, because there ave other matters of service

" and assistance, of far greater importance than the Iranklin Expedition ; but I am

entirely in their hands to do as they please.
I am, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN GARLAND.

P.S.—1 have to apologise for a little delay in preparing this case. I have
suffered a good deal lately from the very cold easterly winds, felt quite poorly,
and have been very busy at the same time in doing other work for the Govern~
ment, which 1 was most anxious to accomplish in time, because of the public
service.

No. 56.

John Roy, Esq., to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.—(Received
March 15.)

My Lords, Aberdeen, Murch 14, 18506,
REFERRING to your Lerdships’ Proclamation of 7th March, 1850,
offering :
Ist. A reward of 20,0001 to any party or parties who, in the jud
: : , judgment of
the Board of Admiralty, should discover, and effectually relieve the crews of
Her Majesty’s ships *“ Erebus * and * Terror.” .
2ndly. The sum of 10,0001 to any party or parties who, in the judgment
of the Board of Admiralty, should discover, and effectually relieve any of the
crews of Her Majesty’s ships ¢ Erebus ” and  Terror,” or should convey such
intelligence as should lead to the relief of such crews or any of them. And,
3rdly. The sum of 10,000l. to any party or parties who, in the judgment of
the Board of Admiralty, should, by virtue of his or their efforts, first succeed in
ascertaining their fate,
And your recent notice in the *“ London Gazette of 22
: ( : nd January, 1856,
’(hi.i.t D)i'Rae having claimed to be entitled to the reward of 10,0001. ur?iler the
ter msl of the third paragraph of such Proclamation, you will proceed within three
months from that date to adjudicate on such claim, and that all persons who, by
virtue of such Proclamation, deem themselves entitled to the whole or any part
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of the reward in question, must prefer their claim within such time, after the
expiration of which no claim will be entertained.

I beg to state that I am aware that Captain William Penny considers that
lie has a just claim to the reward of 10,000L, under the terms of the third
paragraph of such Proclamation; and in his absence from this country, he
having sailed from this port in June last, in command of the ships “.Lady
Franklin,” and * Sophia,” to the Arctic seas, on a whaling expedition, and isnot
expected to return till the month of August next; I consider it incumbent on
me, as Managing Director of the Aberdeen Arctic Company, of whose vessels
Captain Penny has the command, to bring his claim under your consideration,
and humbly to crave that the adjudication on the claims lod‘gcd should not be
made until the return of Captain Penny to this country, when he will personally
appear before your Lordships, and state the grounds upon which he believes that
he is entitled to receive said reward.

I have, &e.
(Signed) JOHN ROY, Jun.

No. 57.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to John Roy, Esq.

Sir, Adnivalty, March 17, 1856,

IN reply to your letter of the 14th instant, referring to the Proclamation of
the 7th March, 1850, relating to the reward to be granted to those who should
relieve or bring intelligence of Her Majesty's ships ¢ Erebus ™ and ¢ Terror,” and
also referring to the notice in the ““ London Gazette ”” of the 22nd January last ;
I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners o the Admiralty to acquaint you
that they do not think it necessary to postpone their decision on the question of
the reward for the discovery of the fate of Sir John Franklin’s Expedition until
the return of Captain Penny. ‘

The presence of the claimants is not neccisary in order to enable their
Lordships to adjudicate upon the claims.

The service performed by Captain Penny, which is perfectly well known to
their Lordships, shall be taken into con:ideration with that of any other

claimant. I am, &c.
(Higned) THOS. PHINN.
No. 58.
Lieutenant Bedford Pim to the Secretary of the ddmirally.—(Received
March 31.)
Sir, “ Magpie,” Motherbank, off Ryde, Murch 28, 1856,

I HAVE the honour to request you will be pleased to lay the papers named
in the margin,* touching my claim to 10,000!. reward, under the third paragraph
of their Lordships’ Proclamation dated 7th March, 1850, before my Lords
Commissioners of the Admiralty for adjudication, agreeably to their Proclamation
published in the ¢ Times” of January 23, 1856.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) BEDFORD C. T. PIM.

Tuclosure 1 in No. 58.
Lieutenant Bedford Pim to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.

My Lords, « Magpie,”” Portland, Mnrch 26, 1856.

IN accordance with the following notice, published in the ¢ Times” of
January 23, 1856, I beg to forward, for the adjudication of wy Lords Commis-

* 1st. Detail of claim for 10,000L. reward, including Commander Moore’s orders to My, Bedford
Pim, and Mr. Pim’s plan and proposal to rencw his search.
2nd. Travelling journal and proceedings from March 10 till April 20, 1530.
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sioners of the Admiralty, the inclosed proof of my having been the first to obtain
intelligence of the fate of Sir John Franklin’s Expedition :—

“ The Arctic Expeditions.

«The Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty having, by a Proclamation of the
7th March, 1850, offered— . ' ‘

<1, Areward of 20,0001 to any party or parties who, in the judgment of the
Board of Admiralty, should discover and effectually release the crews of Her
Majesty’s ships < Erebus’ and ‘ Terror ;” and . . .

«9. The sum of 10,0001 to any party or parties who, in the judgment of the
Board of Admiralty, should discover and effectually relieve any of the crews of
Her Majesty’s ships ¢ Erebus’ and ¢ Terror,” or should convey such intelligence
as should lead to the relief of such crews, or any of them ; and

3. The sum of 10,0001 to any party or parties who, in the judgment of the
Board of Admiralty, should, by virtue of his or their efforts, first succeed in
ascertaining their fate ; .

“ Hereby give notice that, Dr.Rae having claimed to be entitled to the reward
of 10,0001., under the terms of the third paragraph of such Proclamation, they
will proceed, within three months from the date hercof, to adjudicate on such
claim ; and that all persons who, by virtue of such Proclamation, deem them-
selves entitled tc the whole or any part of the reward in question, must prefer
their claims within such time, after the expiration of which no claim will be
entertained.”

In making my present claim for the reward of 10,000l., under the terms of
the third paragraph, I must premise by stating that I served during the winter
1849-1850, on board Her Majesty’s brig ¢ Plover,”” having been lent from the
“ Herald,” and it was during the above period the intelligence on which I found
my claim was obtained.

When the ““ Herald ” visited Kotzebue Sound, in 1848, the natives reported
that some white men were travelling in the interior: this report, from want of
confirmation, led merely to vague conjectures, but in November 1849 another
rBf:port was brought, stating that two ships had been seen to the eastward of Point

arrow.

I had always entertained a strong opinion that much information might be
obtained by travelling to Michaelowskoi, a Russian fort in Norton Sound; the
report now received was calculated to strengthen this opinion, and induced me to
offer to journey to that place. Commander Moore, however, did not accede to
my wishes, because ‘“he did not place any reliance in the report.”” Constant
intercourse with the Esquimaux convinced me of its truthfulness, and at length,
after repeated solicitations, Commander Moore was induced to allow me to
undertake the desired journey to Michaelowskoi Redoubt.

Copy of Commander Moore’s orders to Mr. Pim:—

“By Thos. L. E. Moore, Esq., Commander of Her Majesty’s brig ‘“ Plover.”

.“ The impox'taxlce of obtaining information of any description, especially that
relative to Sir John Franklin and his Expedition, being the principal object to
be'observed, :fmd Michaelowskoi Redoubt in Norton Sound forming the central
point of meeting for the natives from all the northern distficts, for the purpose
of disposing of their furs, &c., and from whom much useful and, may he, momen-
tary intelligence may be obtained ;

“ You are hereby required and directed to proceed to Michaelowski Redoubt,
accompanied by Paolo Oclagook (interpreter), who has my permission to bring
his wife to the ship on your return.

“On your way you are to be particular that you make every inquiry in your
power as to the missing Expedition, and making notes of every circumstance
you may deem worthy of remark.

‘Should you have any trouble with the interpreter as to returning, or on
any other grounds, you are to chtain from the authorities at the Redoubt any
assistance you may require either in the way of a guide or provisions.
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“ When you have gained all the information you possibly can, and you can
consistently leave the Redoubt with proper conveyance, &c., you are to do so,
permitting the interpreter to bring his wife with him should it not retard your
movements.

“ Should you, on arriving in Kotzebue Sound, find that this ship has left for
the northward or elsewhere, you will find provisions and instructions buried
10 feet due north of the post on Flag Staft Point, which will meet all your
necessities.

¢ Given under my hand on board the ‘ Plover,” Kotzebue Sound, this 10th
March, 1850.

(Signed) “THOS. E. 1. MOORE, Commander.”

For the information of my Lords, I inclose a copy of myv journal whilst
employed in carrying out the foregoing orders, viz., from the 10th March to the
30th of April, 1850, a copy of which journal was furnished, by order, to
Commander Moore, on my return, but which not having appeared in the Blue
Book I conclude has never reached their Lordships.

As a proof of the importance attached by the senior officer (Captain Henry
Kellett, C.B.,) to the above journey and journal, [ annex an extract from his
public despatch dated 14th October, 1850, also, and from a certificate given
me by that officer dated June 1851 :—

(Copy.)

“ One of these journies is, 1 consider, deserving of more particular mention.
It was performed by Mr. Pim, Acting Mate of “ Herald * (lent tfor winter to the
‘ Plover ”). He travelled across the country to Michaelowskoi, a Russian Settle-
went in Norton Sound, accompanied only Ly a Russian interpreter and a native
as a guide. He was twenty-eight days on the road, and suffered much from
want of food and fatigue; his patient endurance, however, and spirit enabled
him to overcome all difficulties. Commander Moore has, Sir, no doubt,
furnished their Lordships with the details of this injeresting journey.”

Again,—

“ When lent to the ¢ Plover,” he performed, durmg an Arctic spring, a
journey from Kotzebue Sound across the mountains to a Russian Settlement in
Norton Sound : the privations that he suffered during this journey show that
Mr. Pim possesses great strength of mind, hardihood of constitution and
perseverance, otherwise he could not have reached his destination. By thesc
means also he was enabled to help the Russian interpreter, his companion, who
would have perished but for him.

“1 shall always be glad to forward Mr. Pim’s views in the service as far as
in my power.

(Signed) “HENRY KELLETT, Captain.”

I shall now briefly state the nature of the intellizence obtained, and beg
to refer to the above-named journal for more detailed particulars.

On the 10th March, 1850, I started for Michaelowski with fifteen days’
provisions, accompanied only by Paolo Oclagook, a Russian half-caste. On
the twenty-eighth day after leaving the «“ Plover” 1 arrived at the Redoubt in a
very destitute condition.

The intelligence I obtained from the Russian Governor, Andrea Gusef, is to
the following effect: .

That a party of white men (twd officers and ten men, in two boats) were
living on the banks of a river called by the natives *“ Ekko,” and that they were
suffering from want of provisions, having been compelled to barter their guns
for food, one of which, a double-barrelled percussion fowling-piece, had been seen
in the porscssion of the Indians by V. orsele Maxemoff, Governor of Derabin.
The Russians supposed the strangers to be traders.

Gusef obtained the above information from an official letter forwarded by
Worsele Maxemoff' from Derabin, dated April 1849. I saw the letter myself.
The natives explained circumstantially the distress of the white men, and
tendered their peltries in exchange for provisions, powder and shot; but tuc
policy of the Russians not to allow the natives firearms, as well as a coinmeriial
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jealousy, prevented any exchange of that sort, hoping by thus cutting off supplies
to drive their supposed rivals from the field. o b the str i

On inquiry as to the best mode of communicating ‘?lth t 3 s 1ar]1)gers£. W{:S
informed that a supply of provisions was annually forwarded to Derabin by
wscending  the Co-eack-park. The voyage was commienced HAfJ U'mi, and
eenerally accomplished in from thirty days to thirty-five days. ter leaving
Derabin the searching party must rely on their OWD resources.

Being utterly destitute of even the necessaries of life, T was compelled to
yeturn at once to the « Plover,” never losing a,lll opportunity, however, to facilitate
mv intended journey up the Co-eack-park in June. . ,

" On the %9th og AII))ril, after an absence of fifty days, 1 rejoined the.“ Ployere ’
and imparted the important intelligence of our missing countrymen being within
yeach ; at the same time proposing to return {mmedlately and relieve them.
Commander Moore did not accede to my proposition.

During the remainder of the winter my information was confirmed by more
native reports. Upon the breaking up of the ice, Commander Moore proceeded
to Point Barrow, and everywhere found the same story n circulaton, with the
melancholy addition that the white men had all perished in an affray with the
natives. One of their boats had been washed out to sea, but the other still
remained on an island, where the bones of some of the party were buried,
while other corpses were deposited on an adjacent point, and the spot marked
by whalebones, &c. One of the natives even drew a sketch of the river,
islands, and vpoint where the remains of the party would be found. [See fac
simile drawing annexed.] .

It will be observed that this information is identical with that obtained by
Dr. Rae four vears later. .

Captain Moore was so impressed with the tiuth of reports so widely
civeulated, that he urged Captain Kellett to dispatch a boat expedition round
Point Barow to the eastward; this, however, Captain Kellett considered too
great a risk at so advanced a period of the season (middle of August).

Feeling more than ever the necessity of clearing up all doubts on this
painfully interesting subject, I forwarded the following plan to Captain Kellett.
It was considered too hazardous, and therefore decided against.

"The above proposition was subsequently acted upon by Captain Collinson,
who dispatched Lieutenant Barnard, Mr. Adams, assistant surgeon, and a seaman,
to follow up the clue I had obtained. The unfortunate result of that expedition
is too well known. Lieutenant Barnard, some Russians, and about fifty
Fsquimaux, were killed, by a night attack of the Konchin Indians. The
attemipt, therefore, was a failure.

It is uscless regretting, at this time, that I was not permitted to follow up
the trace ; but I cannot help thinking that, with. my knowledge of the manners,
cu~tomr, and language of the natives, a different result would have taken place,
and Lieutenant Barnard (who was a stranger in the land) been spared to his
fiiends, as it is supposed he fell a victim to an imaginary insult from a Chief.

In conclusion, I beg to remark, first, that the intelligence I have detailed
above, and which is identical with that obtained by Dr. Rae, and no doubt refers
fo the zainc catastrophe, was reported by me officially to the proper authorities,
first to Commander Moore, in April 1850, secondly to Captain Kellett, in July
1850, whereas Dr. Rae heard nothing about the fate of Franklin until 1854, and
even thei} b_},' mere accident, whilst on a surveying expedition, and not in search
pf the missing ships; secondly, in reading their Lordship’s proclamation, it is
impossible not to be struck with the words, ©by virtue of his or their efforts.”
In justice t9 myself, I must observe that, as far as effort is concerned, I have
hegn second to no one in the search for Sir John Franklin and his companions.
! was cmployed in the carliest attempt to rescue the missing ships, and afterwards
prop'oi,cd,. and voluntarily undertook, the journey, which resulted in obtaining
ﬂ}fi _nn.elh%ence "r‘hat a portion at least of the Franklin Expedition had perished
1(. 18)0) ' :\{‘\;'~ cfivrts, as have been shown above, were untiring, to be allowed to
"\’;_v °~ '“tp t 1;l>mt race, but, unfortunately, I could not obtain permission to do so.
¥ e '1.11.6 “%'?j“:’: to Lingland, I made another cffort to extend relief to Sir John

lcm slin, by travelling through Siberia, and although that attempt failed, I am
[ i to tllm]\ the \"el‘(]i(‘t of my countrymen was approval of my conduct.
Jeults "‘,;1' ‘]‘qum t]‘} ast e.‘_{pedltmn (1852—1854), and although without

St as peeavis Frankling vet T had the good fortune to extend relief to
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Captain McClure, and the officers and crew of Her Majesty’s ship “ Investi-
gator,” and, In the \yords of the Select Committee of the House of Commons
uppointed to inquire into the circumstances of the discovery of the North-West
Passage, *‘ it is impossible to exaggerate the importance of this succour.”

I now place my case in the hands of my Lords of the Admiralty for adjudi-
cation, in the full confidence that the justice of my ciaim will meet with due
consideration.

{ have, &c.
(Signed) BEDFORD C. T. PIM.

Inclosure 2 in No. 58.

Qutline of a Proposal lo trace the shores of the Arctic Sea, to ascertain the truth
of the report obtained by Mr. Bedford Pim at Michaelou:skot.

I FROPOSE to ascend the Coeack-pack, a river emptying itself into Norton
Sound, and to establish a party at Derabin, a Russian fort, which is situated
upon the head waters of that river, and according to Gusef, the Commandant of
Michaelowskoi, the most northern Russian settlement. Thence I propose to cross
a range of intervening mountains in order to reach a river, probably called the
Colville, which flows into the Arctic Seca, descend it, and build at the limit of the
pines, a log hut as an advanced post of the party. During the winter 1 would
maintain a communication with Derabin by means of sledges, and thus enable
the searching party, at the commencement of spring, to carry their explorations
to the shores of the Polar Sea with « supply of at least 100 days’ provisions, to
be obtained from the Fort.

The coast® proposed to be explored trom this river (gy. Colville) to the
mouth of the Mackenzie, 15 somewhat less than 400 miles in extent; this T hope
to effect in 60 days, whence to proceed to Fort Good Hope and England.

I would leave Michaelowskoi on or before the middle of September, and
probably arrive at Derabin in about 30 or 35 days; the latter is con-
sidered to be a long passage. I should then have, with the assistunce of the
Russiuns, the latter part of' October to travel over the range separating Derabin
from the river, and c¢stablish winter-quarters in a log hut, or, perhaps, in the
yourts of the natives. If the winter was sufliciently mild, I could visit the
scene of the catastrophe, but at all events commence the search in the
beginning of April.

According to Gusef’s report, the Russian trading postz arc well sup-
plied with provisions, so that an addition of a few men would not materially
affect their resources; besides which, Sir John Richardson describes the valley
of the Yucars or  Colville,”” as abounding in reindeer, moosedeer, and white
fronted geese, although the moosedeer arc not easily shot by unpractised
hunters.

According to Sir John Richardsons’s report, and that of Guscf, the Com-
mandant of Michaelowski, an uncertainty appears to exist as to the position
of the Russiun northernmost Settlement, which somewhat tends to increasc
the difficulty of the arrival of the party on the banks of the Mackenzie, ax
it is not likely that the position can be nearer or advantageously situated
for an approach to the sea than that narked in the charts. Gusef’s report
is that thirty-five davs are occupied between Michaelowskoi and Derabin.
The direct distance between Michaelowskoi and the position assigned to the
most northern Russian Settlement is 400 miles, which, in travelling distance,
is not less than 700 to travel over, which would probably oceupy at least
50 days.

The party would have to cousist of two officers and two men. Russians or
Indians could be hired if it was thought necessary ; sledges, dogs, and presents
for the natives could also be purchased at Michaelowskoi Redoubt. I would
land provisions to prevent the possibility of distressing Derabin, viz., full

# It cannot be doubted that this method of searching the coast-line is far more effective than a
voyage in boats; in one casc the party would pass over or very close to the land itself, so that any
part of a vessel, broken hoat, &c., must be seen at once; on the ot!mx: hand, a boat would pass two,
most probably five or six, miles from the shore, am.l .thus render all intimate knowledge of the beacly
out of the question, particularly in one of the prevailing fogs.
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Claims to reward  allowance for eight months, consisting of biscuit, preserved .nfqlea}f;s, oattmeal% atl];d
received sinee the 7, l]e gllowance of tea and sugar; I would also dispense with the extras of the

notice in the Jatine “etvice, as well as with spirits.  On the other side Is a list of articles required
lo(iﬁffffﬁeu.ﬁld””“’ {r general and individual use. A sledge with se_ven_1 ldggs m]lthcili'y 70? dlbs.
adjudication of easily, provided the dogs are properly fed. Thus it will be seen that two sledges

the 10,000L to 40 ‘fourteen dogs will be sufficient for the travelling purposes of the whole

Dr. Rae. party
< Herald,” Behring Strait, August 1850.
Herald,” Beliring Stract, dug (Sigaed) BEDFORD C. T. PIM.
To Captain Henry Kellet,
Her Majesty’s ship * Herald.”

(General Service.

I Sextant. 24 lbs powder.
1 Artificial horizon. 50 Balls.
Journals and note-books. 50 Shot.
2 Axes. A few small tools.
1 Kettle. Some medicines.
1 Iron pot. I Lancet.
1 Frying-pan. 1 Small work on Surgery.
I Small tent. 1 Native suit for each person.
2 Boarding-pikes. 1 Pair of snow-shoes for each person.

2 Union-jacks.
Total weizht . .. <« 200 lbs.

Two officers .. .. .. 80 ,,
Two men .. .. .. .. 60 |,
Presents .. e L .. 200 ,,
Sledge, skins, and extras .. .. 110 ,,

——

Total .. .. .. 6501bs.

Officers, each.

1 Good watch.
1 Double-barrelled gun.
1 Pair of pistols.
1 Compass with belt.
1 Good sheath-knife.
Shot-belt, powder-flask, nipple-charges,
1 Marine’s knapsack, with blanket,
3 Changes of flannel.
Blue crape spectacles, string. .
Tin pot und spoon.
1 Bag of salt.
Flints, steel, matches, lucifers, needles, thread, twine,
sail-necdles, Naufical Almanac, and Inman.

Total weight, 40 bs.

Men, each.
1 Gun and bayonet.
I Good knife.
Shot-bfslt, powder-hor.n, flints, stecl, and tinder, biue crape,
pipes, tfrong tin pot, spoon, knapsack, blanket
tobacco, changes of flannel, needles, thread, &c.

Total weight, 30 lbs..

b




Inclosure 3 in No. 58.

Copy of the Journal of Lieutenant Bedford Pim, Her Majesty’s brig ¢ Plover,”
Jrom the 10th of March till the 29th of April, 1350.

ON the 16th of March, 1850, I received orders to carry my plan into
execution, and to take with me Paolo Cclagook, the interpreter, a person gene-
rally known by the nickname of Bosky, which, for the sake of brevity, I shall
adopt. He was a half-caste, and had been brought by the * Herald” from
Norton Sound, with a vicw of proving useful among the natives to the north-
ward. Though ignorant of English, he had a slight knowledge of the Spanish
language, by means of which our intercourse was carried on.

On the morning of the following day I started. The weather was beautiful ;
the temperature 17° below zero, with a light breeze f{rom the south-west.
Owing to the badness of the roads and the heavy weight of the sledge, which
contained fifteen days’ provisions, arms, ammunition, and other travelling
necessaries, little progress was made, and it took five days to arrive at a
village near the source of the Spafarief river. At this place, beyond which
none of the former visitors had ever proceeded, I parted from some officers
who had been surveying, and to whom I gave, in conformity with the
Captain’s orders, both sledge and dogs. The real difliculties were now to
commence ; the natives were unwilling to pmt with their dogs, and had it
not been for the assistance of the Chief, I could not have proceeded. He
lent me a sledge and a dog, and induced sowe of his countrymen to dispose
of four more of the latter, so that. with two of mv own, the requisite number
at last was made up. After much trouble, one of the men agreed to serve
as a guide, and although the payment of his demands considerably impoverished
my resources, I was ready to make any sacrifice. lic informed me that in two
days we should reach the shores of Norton Sound, and each evening, a village,
where food and lodging could be obtained.

On the 18th of March, we finally departed from the beaten track, tuking o
southerly direction. A\ very few miles, however, proved the worthlessness of
the new dogs ; it became necessary to let one go, another was too young, and a
third was too old to pull, and little progress could be vinde.  When night was
approaching, a halt was called among some pine trees, where a five was kindled
and some tea and soup prepared. The scene of a winter hivouac on ice is indeed
curious. The travellers, grouped around the fire, are variously employed ; one
is melting the snow, another bringing fuel, while a third unpacks the sledge,
spreads the deer-skin to sleep upon, or prepares the provisions for cooking. The
degs, secured to surrounding trees, strain their tethers to reach the seraps thrown
to them, and occasionally send forth their long dismal howl, only to render the
ccene more dreary.

On the following day, after much labour and fatigue, we avrived at the top
of some high mountains, and, descending them, bivouacked late at night in a
wooded valley. The next morning it became cvident that the dogs could not
drag the sledge any farther, having been three divs without any food, save the
were scraps from our meals, which, being composed of preserved meats and
biscuit, were little indeed : one of them [ was compelled to shoot, because it was
weak and lean, and, if left on the snow, a lingering death must have been its {afe.
1 also expected that the cavcase would be an acceptable meal for the rest; but,
although starving, not one would touch it. Under these circunistances it became
necessary to leave the sledec behind. Tt was placed under some trees, and covered
with branches and snow, so as to hide it from sizht. ¢heered with the hope of
recovering it through the assistance of the natives at the next village, we
departed, taking with us our arms and two days’ provisions.  Our path lay
through a well-wooded country; the snow was conscquently  very soft, and
it was well indeed that all were practised in the uxc of -uow-shoes, or clse
the hardships of the march would have been more than doubled. As evening
approached, the fatigue began to make itsclf [clt upon more than one of the
party. However, soon after dusk, the dogs ran on before, and shortly set up a
dismal howling—signs sufficiently conclusive that the village was near. At length
it appeared in sight 3 we hwried on, and found it deserted.  Thus, after three
days’ toil. the place was reached, only to convince us how little reliance could be

L2
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. * v ’ »
assertions of the guide. e had now only one day’s provisions

Placed upon o was accomplished, and yet 80 or 90 miles

left, not more than half the journey

more to overcome, )
After passing a most miscrable night we made an early start with the deter-

mination of reaching the next village. The country still continued woody,
but did not afford a chance of increasing the provisions by any game. Towards
dusk we obtained from a lofty ridee of hills a view of the shore.’s of Norton
Sound. The descent occupied some time, and it was about 10 o’clock hefore
the dogs eave indication of the proximity of human habitations. No response,
however, was made to their howling, no natives came forth to gl’fz‘et' us, and we
were soon made aware that no living beings were to be found within the hut's.
A search was instantly commenced throughout the village ; but only a little train
oil rewarded the trouble. This, however, with a few scraps of leather, served as
a meal for the dogs, and, scanty as it was, proved their salvation. Our own
condition was by no means enviable, for when it is consgiered that twice the
amount of food is requisite in these regions, and the daily labour we had to
endure, our slicht meal from the remmants of the provisions, appeared meagre
indeed. Hunger and fatigue were, however, soon forgotten ; a large deer-skin
found in one of the hats proved a most acceptable covering, and every one was
soon in a sound sleep, the first enjoyed since leaving the Spafarief village.

This place secmed to be the < ultima Thule”’ of our guide ; true, he kngw
that a village lay at some distance before us, and he was able to point
out the direction, but bevond that he appeared to be quite ignorant. 1
was glad, however, that he remained with us, as his cxperience in_travelling
could not but prove useful. Just before starting it was discovered that the
pocket compass was missing, so that we were compelled to launch upon the sea-
ice, trusting in a great measure to chance. A bleak expanse of snow lay before
us as far as the eye could reach, and mile after mile was passed without gaining
a sight of the low land which joins Cape Denbigh to the main. It was already
past midnight before we once more stepped upon firm ground, and, after a short
rest, the march was resumed, o that daylight found us across the low spit of
land on the opposite beach. We could now, however, drag our weary limbs
no farther, and, at the risk of being frost-bitten, were compelled to lie down.

As the day advanced the guide declared that he could see a village. With
great exertion we manaced to crawl to the huts, without, however, seeing any
signs of life. Just as despair began to obtain the mastery and induce an apathy
as to our fate, a woman appeared who inspired us with new life. Soon after-
wards we were ensconced in the warm furs of the hut, and regaled with fish and
train-oil and berries, to hungry men a most acceptable feast. The poor dogs,
now in their sixth day of abstinence, were not forgotten; they were allowed an
unlimited amount of fish, purchased with a clasp knife which I happened to
carry with me. Bosky at this place informed me that he was upable to walk
any farther.  The scurvy was breaking out in an alarming manner; his legs
were covered with ulcers, had been frost-bitten while resting the last time, and
now presented a shocking appearance ; moreover, he had a severe fall on starting
from the last village. In spite of all he kept up with us during the two-and-
twenty hours that we were on the journey, and 1 cannot sufficiently admire the
quiet endurance with which he bore his sufferings.

Late in the evening the men returned from a hunting excursion, and had
been lucky in the capture of a deer. \We were, however, too sleepy to participate
m the feast, especially as the fish sauce, i.c., train-oil, of the meal of which we
had already partaken, did not agree with our stomachs.

We now learnt with certainty that two days’ journey would bring us to a
small Russian outpost, where Bosky assured me every comfort would be cheer-
tully afforded to the extent of their ability. The next morning we started, and
as the natives were going in the same direction, Bosky obtained a seat on their
sledge, and 1 occasionally shared the same advantage. In about six hours we
arrived at a solitary hut, where we were hospitably received and regaled by its
inmates with dried salmon and their favourite train-oil and berries, neither of
which was declined.

_ A good rest greatly invigorated us, and, parting with the guide, who, accom-
panied by another native, returned for the sledge, Bosky and I started on foot
ea}*ly the next morning for th'e Russian outpost, a distance of twenty-five miles.
We expected to reach it by night, but had overrated our strength, and, although
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making {requent rests, Bosky soon became unable to proceed ; coming up on the
dead body of a deer which, it appears, had been driven over the cliffs by the
wolves, it was determined that he should remain by it while | endeavoured to
find the outpost, and send him assistance. ~As night was coming on, I kept close
to the beach, not liking to cross the bays for fear of missing the house. I passed
several wolf tracks, and their howls had often the effect of quickening my pace
as imagination pictured one in full chase. Luckily, I escaped interruption, and
at last found the hoyse, which, had I not closely traced the lund, would have
been passed. The inmates were asleep. I soon aroused them, however, and
endeavoured to impart my story by signs, but began to despair of being able to
make them comprchend poor Bosky’s position, when he himself appeared.
The fear of the wolves had given him additional strength, and just enabled him
to reach the house.

Bosky’s assertion regarding the hospitality of his countrymen was amply
verified. Gregora, the master of the blockhouse, daily placed upon his table the
best his house afforded, the effect of which became soon apparent in the visible
improvement of Bosky’s health. As many days had passed, and the sledge not
arrived, I determined to wait no longer. Having dispatched another man in
quest of it, 1 departed, placing Bosky on a sledge hired for that purpose.
On the 6th of April, the twenty-eighth day since leaving the ship, we arrived
at St. Michael’s and were reccived in the kindest manner by Andrea Gusef, the
Commandant.

The Fort of St. Michaels, at St. Michaelofskoi, belongs to the Russian-
American Fur Company, and supplies two other trading posts, situated some
distance in the interior. It stands on an eminence of a little tongue of land, and
is built in the form of a square, composcd of trunks of trees, which are laid
horizontally over each other, in the manner of an American blockhouse. At
each angle is a watch-tower, with loop-holes; inside the walls are the various
store and dwelling-houses; close by, a chapcl consecrated to the rites of the Greek
Church, and at a short distance a windmill for grinding corn, which is annually
imported by way of Sitkah. St. Michael’s itsclf does not produce any grain,
nor, indeed, any cultivated vegetables, except a few turnips. About 400 yards
from the fort is an Esquimaux village, the inhabitants of which are a much finer
looking race than the more northern tribes. The country adjacent is, like that
of the greater part of the Arctic regions, a vest moorland, and bears a similar
vegetation.

At first Bosky appeared stupitied, but gradually recovered. Through him
I learnt that some white men were living on the banks of a river called by the
Indians “ Ekko,” and that the Russian trade had already sutfered on that
account. I naturally concluded that the people must be some of the Hudson’s
Bay Company’s officers, and suggested to Gusef, that they were probably also in
search of Sir John Franklin. Subsequently, information induced me to alter this
opinion. Firstly, they were badly supplied with provisions, and had bartered their
percussion guns in order to obtain food. As the Company only exchange flint
guns, of which they have plenty in store, and as it is not likely that the officers
would be compelled to part with their weapons, viz., private weapous, it may
fairly be supposed that the party had no connection with this body. Secondly,
the spot they were supposed to be at, I am led to suppose, is 200 or 300 miles
within the Russian boundary line, and, moreover, up a river, a most unlikely
place for any Englishman to penetrate in search of gain. Lastly, the party
consisted of two officers and ten men, evidently the crews of two small boats,
the departure of whom from the Mackenzie River I had reason to believe impos-
sible. I therefore concluded that these people must be a portion of Sir John
Franklin’s Expedition, and proceeded to obtain as accurate a knowledge as
poussible of every circumstance relating to them.

Gusef’s authority is undoubted, as his information was derived directly from
official letters, dated April 1849, and sent by the Commandant of the Russian
fort Derabin, who had himself received the information of the proximity of the
white men from the Ekko Indians, and examined the percussion gun in person.
The natives explained the distress of the white men, and tendered their peltrics
in exchange for powder, shot, flour, &c. ; but the policy of the Russians, not to
allow the natives firearms, as well as a commercial jealousy, prevented any
exchange of that kind, hoping, by thus cutting off their supplies, to drive their
supposed rivals from the field. An affray soon after took place betwcen the
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Indians and Russians, in which the latter lost two or t_hree men, and had to
maintain so circumspect a behaviour, that no further tidings were heard of the
hite men. .
" The fort Derabin is situated on the head waters of the. river Co-eack-park,
which empties itself into Norton Sound, and which, I was .mfo_rmed, runs at a
small angle with the coast, in about a north-north-east direction. A range of
hills then intervene between the river and the Ekko, wh'lch empties itself into
the Polar Sea, and is probably the Colville. Three dgtys’ journey from the hills,
dowu the Ekko, brings the traveller to the place indicated as the abode of the
white men. On inquiry as to the best mode of communicating with the
strangers, I was informed that -a supply of provisions was annually forwarded
from Michaelowskoi to Derabin, by ascending the Co-cack-park; the voyage
was commenced in June, and generally accomplished in from thirty to thlrt_y-ﬁve
days. Arrived at Derabin, however, no further assistance could be afforded, in the
present disturbed state of affairs.

As the ice in Norton Sound was shortly expected to break up, I lost no
time in coming to a determination of what was best to be done. I concluded
that, destitute as I was of every necessary, it would be folly to undertake so
long a journey, especially as there was ample time for me to return again to
Michaelowski from the river, before the departure of the Russian batteau. I
therefore prepared to set out for the ship, to impart my tidings, and obtain the
necessary supplies for a lengthened absence. As Bosky was still too unwell to
move, I arranged to take a half-caste named Nekever, whose qualifications were
somewhat similar. Gusef also agreed to have a few necessaries, which his experi-
ence proved to be useful, ready by the time of my return.

In retracing my steps, Ilost no opportunity of purchasing meat for the dogs,
and, during the three days of my journey to Gregora’s house, succeeded in
obtaining abiout three hundredweight, sufficient to supply them until arriving at
the ship. The next morning the natives brought the sledge which had been left
behind. The cover was much torn by the wolves, the bread devoured ; nothing
cise was injured. Departing the ensuing day, I chose the old track, and conse-
quently had an opportunity of distributing some presents amongst my old friends,
who assured me of every assistance in their power on iny return. Wishing them
good-bye, we commenced crossing the large bay, the scene of our former
sufferings, not, however, without any accident. The day was misty and rainy,
and the possession of a compass did not prevent our travelling some distance out
of the way, to seaward, where the waves were beating on the edge of the ice.
Qoon afterwards a view was obtained of the open water, strewed with drift wood.
Every dispatch was used to leave such a dangerous locality, and towards
widnight we found ourselves safe on terra-firma. Had there been any wind at the
}Jlme, 1t is probable we should have been carried to sea upon some of the broken
10es.

We arrrived the next evening at the deserted village, and found a family had
established themselves there, from whom we obtained some fish and ptarmigan.
The latter frequent in great numbers the bushes on the coast, and are easily
caught by the natives; and I experienced no difficulty in shooting sufficient for
use. Upon the elevated land the thaw had advanced with such rapidity that the
ftreams running several feet deep over the surface of the ice, and we experienced
much difficulty in crossing, of course wetting everything, and having occasionally
some narrow escapes. The Spafarief village was at last gained on the 25th April,
and the ship reached on the 29th.

In the mterval the natives had brought several reports relative to white men,
whlxcn cm:zc“oed'm the main points with that obtained from the Russians. I
'l]zzflulll‘a}lg.' em‘g‘rtallned great hopes of being permitted to return to Michaelowskoi.
ano mf?tlslurp“be, was informed by Commander Moore that he did not consider

y ot the rumours of importance, and that, consequently, my project of exploring
the lrzl‘Eelzlz‘Lor ceuld not be acceded to. )

€ above is a copy of my journal, whilst belonging to Her Majesty’s shi
“ Plover,” from 10th March, 1850, until 30th April, 1850. e P

(Signed) BEDFORD PIM.




No. 59.
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to Lieutenant Bedford Pim.

Sir, Adwiraliy, April 1, 1856.

I HAVE received and laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
your letter of the 28th instant, claiming the reward of 10,0001, under the third
paragraph of the Proclamation of the 23rd of January last, relating to the
discovery of Sir John Franklin.

I am, &c.
(Signed) THOS PHINN.

No. 60.
Dr. Mc Cormick, R.N., to the Secvetary of the Admiralty —Recerved April 10.)

Sir, Pemba Cottage, Surbiton, Surrey, April 10, 1856.

1. AS the time is drawing near when the claims to the Government reward,
in reference to the late search for Her iujesty’s ships ¢ Erebus »” and-* Terror,”
under the command of Sir John Franklin, will be cou=idered ivr adjudication, I
avail myself of so favourable an opportunity to request that you will be pleased
to move my Lords Commissioners of the Adiuniralty to a recognition of myv own
still unrequited services in that search.

2. To the pecuniary reward I make no cluim, but I most respectiully
submit, that having been entrusted with a special :civice, in the charge of a boat
expedition, officially and favourably acknowledged by their Lordship’s lctter,
dated October 13, 1833, stating :

“ My Lords approve of your exertions on this occasion, aud of the conduet
of your boats’ crew, on a service incurring both risk and hardship, and are
satisfied with the efforts you made in determining the iinportant questions, vs
to there being any communication between Baring Ba: and Jones” Sound.”

I am the only officer now remaining of those who bave had a like chaize
and vesponsibility in the search, on whom neither promotion or reward of any
kind whatever has been bestowed, notwithstanding the scrvicr I was entrusted
with was successfully accomplished, and the object in view uitained, to their
Lordships’ satisfaction.

3. My past services being already recorded ut the Adwiralty, n wmy
Memorial to Sir Charles Wood, dated the 11th of July last, and accompanied
by the highest professional testimonials, 1 will not take up your Lordships’ time
by a detailed repetition of them, but simply and respectfully remind their Lord-
ships that I have been thirty-three years in the seivice, about seven of which
have been passed in Polar voyages, Arctic and Antarctic, having been cngaged
in three expeditions to the Poles; and, to back these, long medical services in the
Tropics. In seniority my name stands at the top of the list of surgeons for
active service, for which I have always been a ready and willing volunteer,
however arduous and hazardous the nature of that service might be, and spared
no labour in making the Government collections of Natural History, or in
fulfilling other extra duties which the exigencies of the various scientific expa-
ditions in which I have been engaged have imposed upon me, and which the
high testimonials trom Sir James Ross and the late Sir Edward Parry will bear
evidence.

1. Soon after my return from the Franklin search, now two years and a
half ago, I offered my services in the Baltic or Black Sea fleets, at the com-
mencent of the war, in a letter to the Admiralty, dated 19th of May, 1854, but
unavailingly.

5. My late boat voyage having been more immediately under the auspices
of the late Hydrographer to the Admiralty, Sir Irancis Beaufort bas kindly
sanctioned my making use of a letter he has been pleased to honour me with on
the subject, in which my humble services meet with his warm approval, and he
deems themn worthy of some claim to notice, a copy of wiich T have hore
annexed. Having now humbly submittted, in as concise a forn ws possible,
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consisicint with clearness, my peculiar claims to their Lqrdships’ notice, the
suitable reward to these claims it rests with their Lordships to confer as they
may gracicusly deem fit,
I have, &ec. i
(Siened) R. Mc CORMICK, Surgeon, R.N.

Inclosure 1 in No. 60.
Rear-Admiral Sir Francis Beaufort to Dr. Mc Cormick.

Dear Dr. Mc Cormick, 11, Gloucester Place, August 15, 1855.

AFTER all that was donein the Arctic Seas by our ships, and after all that
has been since done here by the Government and the public, I feel very sorry to
learn by your note of yesterday, that no notice has been taken of your share of
the expedition, though sanctioned by the Board, and executed judiciously and
successfully.

Tam not sure in what manner their Lordships could most suitably mark their
approbation of your singularly persevering zeal, but { am sure that where there’s
a will there's a way; and as we have never had a First Lord who is a quicker
judge of real merit, or more disposed to inquire into that merit, so I feel
satistied that you should lay the whole matter before him, briefly and distinetly.
Confincment to bed, or sofa, for six long months, will not only explain my not
being able to write conveniently with ink, but also my not being able to make
any more active endeavours to serve you, than by thus honestly expressing my
sincere conviction that your efforts in the general cause were second to none in
devotedness.

Yours very faithfully,
(Signed) F. BEAUFORT.

Inclosure 2 in No, 60.
Memorandum.

Memorial of Robert Mc Cormick, Surgeon in the Royal Navy, to the Right
Hon. Siv Charles Wood, Bart., M.P., First Lord of the Admiralty.
July 11, 1855.

Humbly showeth,

THAT your Memorialist has been thirty-two years in Her Majesty’s Navy,
and held the rank of surgeon twenty-eight years. '

That your Memorialist has served in three Polar expeditions, embracing
altogether o period of nearly seven years spent in frozen seas.

That your Memorialist, in the late search for Sir John Franklin, was
entrusted with the charge of a boat-expedition up Wellington Channel, for the
purpose of carrying out his own plans for the relief of the crews of the
““ Erebus" and * Terror.”

That the special service on which your Memorialist was engaged was
accpmphshed to the satisfaction of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty,
their Lordship’s letter dated 13th of October, 1853, acknowledging the receipt
of your Memorialist’s narrative of the voyage will testify.

That your Memorialist, whilst employed in the attempt to reach the North
Pole, in the year 1827, under the command of Sir Edward Parry, had, in addition
to his ordinary medical duties, the charge of the Natural History Collection ; and,
during the absence from the ship of executive officers, had, for some time, the
duty of an officer in charge of a watch to perform. ,

o That your Memorialist, in the Antarctic expedition under the command of
uf' J ames Ross, from 1839 to 1843, was both Chief Medical Officer and Natu-
;‘f.l mf, the (?harge of the Geological and Zoological Departments devolving upon
um; the whole of the specimens brought or sent home from the “ Erebus” being
collected and preserved by your Memorialist under circumstances incurring no
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small degree of risk, as well as toil and labour, and not unfrequently by conside-
rable personal expense.

That your Memorialist, whilst employed in the arduous service of a boat
survey of the coast of Kerguelen’s Land, in the depth of the winter of that
inclement and desolate region, discovered large beds of coal, which may prove of
incalculable advantage to to steam communication between this country and her
Australian colonies. )

That your Memorialist, during the unusually protracted period of a four
years’ service in the Antarctic seas, in which the crew of the ** Erebus” was
exposed to every privation and hardship inseparable from so severc and arduous
a service in the most inhospitable and rigorous region on the fuce of the globe,
returned without the loss of a single life from scurvy or other diseasc occurring
throughout the voyage—an immunity unprecedented in the annalx of voyages of
discovery. )

That your Memorialist, on his retwn, instead of receiving that step in rauk
which, from the promotion conferred on every other officer in the expedition, he
might have ventured to have hoped for. remained on half-pay for two vears,
notwithstanding applications for employment. till Lord [addington, during his
administration, considerately appointed him to a vacaney in the © William and
Mary” yacht, at the time considered us permanent, having heen held by all
former surgeons till promoted or retived; notwithstanding which, vour Memo-
rialist was superseded at the expiration of the ordinary pertod of three vears, and
sent upon half-pay, without any acknowledgment of his past serviees, backed
though they were by fiftcen or sixteen years’ war =ervices of his tather, who, as
surgeon of His Majesty’s <hip ¢ Defence,” of seventy-four guns<. lo<t his life in
her lamentable shipwreck.

That your Memorialist has never declined service when health permitted,
although, unfortunately, the broken state of his health at tuncs, arvising from
yellow fever, and other affections incidental to the pestilential climates in which
he has served —having been employed three times on the West India station—
together with the effects resulting from extremes of heat and cold, to which he
has been alternately exposed in sudden transitions from the Tropics to the Poles,
bas caused him to lose much service-time.

Your Memorialist, in submitting the above claims to vour Lovdships
gracious consideration, most respectfully solicits vour Lordships’ attention to
the accompanying testimonials from the distinguished professional men and
commanders under whom your Memorialist has served, as vouchers for the pecu-
liar nature of the services, both professional and scientific, for which thesec claims
have been advanced.

Lastly, although yowr Memorialist, standing ax he does at the top of the
active list of Surgeons, might venture to think that his medical services alonc
would establish for him a fair claim for promotion, from their length, nature,
and success attending them, yet trusts that it may he awarded ax a special mark
of approbation of a hazardous and dangerous enterprise successtully carried out,
and that your Lordships will be pleased to enrol the name of your Memorialist
on the list of Deputy-Inspectors of Hospitals and Fleets.

And your Memorialist, as in duty bound, will ever pray-.

The Secretary of the Admiralty to Dr. Mc Cormick, RN,

Sir, Admivalty, October 13, 18,5,

I AM commanded by my Lords Cowmmissioners of the Adwiralty to
acknowledge the receipt of your narrative of an expedition under your orders in

a boat of Her Majesty’s discovery-ship * North Star,” up the eastern shorc of

Wellington Channel and round Baring Bay, for the purpose of discovering
traces of Sir John Franklin’s expedition.

My Lords approve of your exertions on this occasion, and of the conduct
of your boat’s crew on a service incurring both risk and hardship, and are satis-
fied with the efforts you made in determining the important question as to there
being any connection between Baring Bay and Jones’s Sou' d.

I am, &ec.

(Signed) W. A. B. HAMILTON.

M
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Certificate from Sir Edward Parry.

These are to certify the principal officers and Commissioners of His
Majcsty’s navy, that Mr. Robert Mc Cormick served as Assistant Surgeon of
His ~fajesty’s ship « Hecla,” under my command, on a voyage of discovery
towards the North Pole, from the 18th day of November, 1826, to the lst day
of iNovember, 1827 ; during which time his conduct was, at all times, suqh as
to merit my highest approbation, not only in the performance of the ordinary
dutics of his station, but in various other departments in which his time could
be employed with benefit to the peculiar service in which the “ Hecla ” was
engaged. )

& ‘Given under my hand on board the *“ Hecla,” at Deptford, this 1st day of

November, 1827. '
(Signed) W. E. PARRY, Captain.

From Captain Sir James Ross.

I hereby certify that Mr. Robert Mec Cormick served as Surgeon of Her
Majesty’s ship * Erebus,” under my command, from the 10th of April, 1839, to
the 23rd of September, 1843, during which time he behaved with diligence,
attention, and cobriety, and was always obedient to command.

I further certify that, in addition to his duties as Chief Medical Officer of the
Expedition, which he fulfilled with great ability, he took charge of the Geological
and Zoological Collections, which through his untiring zeal and industry have
proved of much interest and importance in these departments of science.

December 9, 1843.

(Signed) JAS. C. ROSS, Captain.

No. 61,
Thomas Phinn, Esq., to Dr. Mc Cormick, R.N.

Sir, Admiralty, April 11, 1856.

I AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to
acknowledge the receipt of your letter of yesterday’s date, calling their attention
to your services in relation to the late search for Her Majesty’s ships ¢ Erebus
and “ Terror” in the Arctic regions.

I am, &ec.

(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 62.

Richard King, Esq., to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty.—
(Received April 22.)

My Lords, 17, Savile Row, April 21, 1856.

o ON the 7th ‘March, 1850, Her Majesty’s Government offered a reward of
Ad,OQOZ. to any “party or parties who, in the judgment of the Board of
miralty, should, by virtue of his or their efforts, first succeed in ascertaining”
the fate of the crews of the ships * Erebus ” and  Terror.”
" ({?rn the 22nd January last, a notice appeared in the “ London Gazette” to
e edect that Dr. Rae having claimed to be entitled to the above-mentioned
r%v_var. » your Lordships would proceed, within three months from that date, to
:e ljxl(lliilt:t?l:i tthafc hclauri]1 ;1 and further, that all persons who might deem them-
Y litled to the whole or any part of the saj i
claims within the period alluded tgr. d ° sad reward, must prefer their
I have now the honour to state that I claim to be entitled to a portion. of

the caid sum of 10,0001, and I i ips’ i i
ment of the evoudo r’nynclai ::,lbmlt for your Lordships’ consideration a state-
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But, before detailing my own services, there are three points which I desire
to impress upon your Lordships.

Firstly. That all that is known respecting the fate of the Franklin Expedi-
tion may be summed in the following statement; viz., that according to the
evidence of the Esquimaux, a considerable number of white men died, in or
about the year 1850, at or near Point Ogle, on the western coast of the
embouchure of the Great Fish River; and that by the evidence of the same
persons, a smaller party, consisting of an officer and four men, are stated to have
died on Montreal Island, at or about the same time. This evidence has been,
to some extent, strengthened by the subsequent discovery on that island of the
remains of a boat belonging to the ¢ Terror,” and by the purchase from some of
the natives of a number of articles of common use, and even of luxury, which
formerly belonged to different members of the missing Expedition. )

Secondly. That these facts have been ascertained, not by means of any of
the naval expeditions which have been dispatched from this country, but in the
course of land journeys directed towards the mouth of the Great Fish Rive::
and that the most important part of the information now before your Lordships
was procured by a party who travelled down that river from the Huds=on Bay
territory in light canoes. )

Thirdly. That I alone, of all Arctic navigators, have, from the hour of
Franklin’s departure, pointed out the place where we are now led to believe that
a portion of his expedition met their death, as the spot which he would endec.vous
to reach ; and that I have, year after year, renewed my eflorts to procuve th:
despatch of a party to search the place in question, at or near which I have
never ceased to wurge, traces of the expedition would unquestionably be
discovered.

Requesting that these points may be borne in view, I think it 1ight to
submit a few observations on the claim preferred by Dr. Rae, and I beg, theretors,
to call your Lordships’ attention to the circumstances under which he start:l on
the journey, in the course of which he obtained tidings of the missine navi-
gators ; to the extraordinary discrepancies between his published accounts of
that journey ; and to the fact that, by his culpable negligence, in not investigaiing
the tale related to him by the Esquimaux, he is clearly precluded from any share
of the reward.

In December 1852, when Dr. Rae was on the eve of starting for Enclund,
for the purpose of completing a survey of the West Coast of Boothia, he infuiined
the public, in.a letter addressed to the ‘ Times,” that ¢ there was not the
slightest hope of finding any traces of the lost navigatorsin the quarter to which
he was going.”

Subsequent events proved the utter fallacy of his prediction, and on the
10th July, 1854, he made an official report to your Lordships, in which he
stated that in the spring of that year he met with some Esquimaux at Pelly ..,
from whom he learnt that a party of white men had perished from want of food,
some distance to the westward at Point Ogle and Montreal Island ; and he added
that, from particulars which he received at the same place, the fate of aportion,
if not of all, of the survivors of the Franklin expedition, was placed beyond a
doubt.

The strange narrative of the Esquimaux met with such a credulous auditor
in Dr. Rae, that he made no effort to verify it by a journey to the site of thz
alleged tragedy; and as this singular omission on his part caused some doubts
to be expreszed as to the degree of eredence to be extended to his tale of horror,
he addressed a letter to the ¢ Times” (dated 30th October, 1854), with the
following very reasonable explanation of his apparent neglect :~—

“To have verified the reports which 1 brought home, would, 1 believe, have
been no difficult matter, but it could not possibly be done by my party in any
other way than Ly passing another winter at Repulse Bay, and making another
journey over the ice and snow in the spring of 1855

In this state matters rested until, unfortunately for Dr. Rae, an official
report, made by him to the Hudson’s Bay Company. on the 30th Auvgust, 1854,
and inserted in some Canadian newspapers, was copied by the London press. In
that letter the main features of his report to vour Lordships were adhered to, but
with several very important additions, from which it appeared that, after the tale
had been related to him by the Esquimaux, he proceeded in the direction of the
Great Fish River, as far as Castor and Pollux River. On arriving at that peint,
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however, Dr. Rac, instead of pressing forward to examine the locality pointed out
to him as the grave of nearly fifty of his countrymen, and which was then about
forty-five miles distant, turned aside at a right angle, travelled not less than
double that distance in a northerly direction as faI: as Cape Porter, anq adds,
moreover, in his report, that he ¢ could have got within thirty or forty miles of
Bellot Strait,”” but he thought it useless to proceed furt!ler!

From the foregoing statement your Lordships will observe that Dr. Rae
started from England without the slightest hope of finding any traces of the lost
navigators ; that he did, however, find their traces; that he neglected to take
the most ordinary means of ascertaining their fate ; and that he accounted for
his neglect by asserting that it could not have been done ““in any other way
than by passing another winter in Repulse Bay.” Your Lordships will judge of
the degrec of credibility to be attached to that statement, by observing that, in
the above-mentioned report to the Hudson's Bay Company, which was doubtl?ss
never intended for publication, but which came to light shortly after that assertion
was madc, Dr. Rae admits that, after having arrived within forty-five miles of
Great Fish river, he turned his back upon it, and not only travelled nearly
100 miles in another divection, but could have gone farther if it had been
necessary.

The contradiction involved in these statements is too palpable to call for
any comment on my part. I have merely thought it my duty to represent to
your Lordships that, according to Dr. Rae’s published reports and letters, it is
clear that lic not only did not “first succeed in ascertaining the fate of the crews
of the ‘ Erebus’ and ‘ Terror,””” hut that he did not, “ by his efforts,” even make
an attempt to solve the mystery when he was within a few honrs’ journey of the
death spot of the expedition.

I'mow proceed to speak of wmy own services and of the grounds on which
T submit my claim to a shave ot the reward offered by your Liordships.

Sir John Franklin was last heard of in Baftin's, Bay on the 26th of July,
1845, Prior to his departure from England I had pressed upon Her Majesty’s
Government (although without suceess) the expediency of assisting the search
by means of a land journcy down the Copperminc and Great Fish rivers,
and on the 10th of June, 1847, when doubts bezan to be felt as to the safety
of the expedition, I again addressed the Government on the subject.

Copics of my several letters of the 10th of June and 27th of November,
1847, and Februury 1848, arc inclosed herewith for your Lordships’ perusal *
In those letters I pointed out that Sir John Franklin would be found on the
western land of North Somerset, to which, 1 added, *“ the Great Fish river is
the direct and only route.” T represented that it would be impossible to
communicate with him, except by a land journey, and I implored Her Majesty’s
Government to allow me, in conjunction with any officer who might be
named to accompany me, to descend that river for the purpose of searching the
adjacent coast.

. My proposal, however, was not entertained, and expeditions were dispatched
in other directions, but with a fruitless result. On their return, and when it
was understood that a fleet of vessels were to be dispatched-in the search, I
again .addressed your Lordships. Tn that letter, dated 18th of February, 1850,
of which a copy is inclosed, I stated that. all that has been done by way of
search since February 1848, tends to draw attention closer to the west land of
North Somerset ax the position of Sir John Franklin, and to the Great Fish
river as the high road to reach it. Such a plan as I proposed to their Lord-
ships in [84x i, consequently, of the utmost importance. It would be the
happiest moment of my life (and my delight at being selected from a long list of
volunteers for the relief of Sir John Ross was very great) if their Lordships
would allow me to go by my old route, the Great Fish river, to attempt to
save human life a second time on the shores of the Polar Sea. What I did
n search of Sir John Ross is the best earnest of what 1 could do in search of
Sir John Franklin.”

t'xl'en“i;f};at -tl]]e EOSL'lt-erly the‘ Gr_efqt Fish river will, sooner or later, be under-
lzm\d wlxé::llcll 0 1;1 clnn F 1apk11!1, 1 ha've no do’ubt. .That high road to the
2 Wi]i(‘h e ) .1aveI all along maintained S}r John Franklin would be found, and
b ‘plnlqn am now associated with many others, including Sir Edward

arry himself, cannot much longer be neglecied.”’

* Tetter acdides s:ed to the Earl GI‘E‘.".
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Unhappily, however, the high road was neglected; my proposal was
referred to the Arctic Council, three of whom expressed their opinions upon it
in the following very decided terms :—

Sir John Richardson.—* With respect to the Great Fish River, he did not
think, under any circumstances, Sir John Franklin would attempt that route.”

Sir James Ross. ““ T cannot conceive any position in which the Franklin
Expedition could be placed, from which they would make for the Great Fish
River; they would assuredly endeavour to reach Lancaster Sound.”

Sir George Back, addressing the Secvetary of the .\<miralty, “ You will be
pleased, sir, to impress on my Lords Commissioners that 1 wholly reject all and
every idea of any attempts on the part of Sir John Franklin to send boats
or detachments over the ice to any point of the mainland in the vicinity of the
Great Fish River.”

The remainder of the Council, with the exception of Captain Beechey, were
unanimous in rejecting my plan, and with theiv decision vanished the last chance
of saving the devoted Iranklin.

From that hour I felt that the fite of Franklin was sealed, and I ceased
to trouble your Lordships with any further communications upon the subject.

In referring to the journies of more recent date, I think it right to remind
you that, on the receipt of the intelligence brought home by Dr. Rae, the expe-
dition dispatched in search of the remains of Franklin and his party was sent
down the Great Fish River in the precise manner which I had advocated in
1845, 1847, 1848, and again in 1850 ; and I venture to point out the extraordi-
nary manner in which subsequent events have shown the incontestable accuracy
of my views, and have proved beyond a shadow of doubt that if T had been
permitted in 184%, or possibly even in 1830, to have led a party in the direction
which I so urgently but vainly pointed out, I should have reached and saved
some portion, at least, of the then =urvivors of the expedition, in which case |
should have been cntitled to the full reward of 20,000/, which your Lordships
had offered ** to any party or partics who should effectually relieve any of the
crews of the missing ships.”

I'rom the foregoing detaits your Lordships will observe that, of the number
of Aretic navigators who werce either consulted by vour Lordships or, as in my
own case, offered their opinions uninvited, I alone pointed out the precise spot
where Franklin and his party are now known to have waited in helpless misery
the advent of that succour which was wasted on far distant shores; and that |
alone, year after vear, made cvery effort to induce vour Lordships to allow me to
ascertain their fate by exploring that particular locality.

Unhappilv those ofters were rejected, but when the death-spot of Franklin
was at length discovered, my views were immediately acted upon in the despatch
of an expedition, in the manner which T had so repeatedly proposed, although
without success.

My claim, then, to a shave of the reward is based upon the fact that 1 alone
have for many years pointed out the banks of the Cireat Fish River as the place
where Franklin would be found; that as far ax the “efforts” of one in my
humble position could go, 1 did by my ** efforts " endeavour to save or succour
the Expedition ; that if those **efforts” had been supported by Her Majesty’s
Government, Franklin would be alive aud in England ; and that what is known
of his fate has now been discovered by a party dispatched along the route which
I had for so many years vainly urged would lead to his discovery.

My Lords, I do not in this place refer to iy services in the cause of geogra-
phical science, nor to the remarkable manner in which my views, not only as
regards the death-spot of the [Franklin Expedition, but also as respects the
North-West Passage and the conformation of the Polar regions, have been proved
to be correct ; nor do I point to the honours and emoluments showered upon
other Arctic navigators, while T stand alone an unhonoured and unrewarded
man ; but I nevertheless firmly, but respectfully represent that my exertions in
the present instance, entitle me tu receive a portion of the reward offered to
those who should first succeed in ascertaining the fate of the crews of the
“ Erebus " and “ Terror.”

I have, &c.
(Signed) RICHARD KINC.

Claims to reward
received since the
notice in the

* (Gazette " relating
to the intended
adjudication of

the 10,0001 to

Dr. Rae.



Claims to reward
received since the
notice in the

« Gazette " relning
to the intended
adjudication of

the 10,000L to
Dr. Rae.

0

No. 63.

A. K. Isbister, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received April 21.)

Sir, East Islington Institution, April 18, 1856.

THE Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty having announced their
intention of adjudicating on the claims of Dr. Rae to the reward of 10,0002,
offered by their Lordships for ascertaining the fate of Sir John Franklin’s Expe-
dition, I beg respectfully to submit a few cbservations on the subject.

In the © London Gazette” of January 22, 1856, their Lordships have been
pleased to notify that all persons who, by virtue of their Proclamation of the
7th of March, 1850, deem themselves entitled to the whole or any part of the
rewaid in question, must prefer their claims. within three months of such notifi-
cation, aft:r which no claims will be entertained. ) .

It is, unfortunately, impossible for those who accompanied Dr. Rae on his
expedition, and are now scattered over various parts of the interior of the
Hudson's Bay territories, to communicate with England within the prescribed
period, or to empower any person in this country to advocate their claims. I
venture, under these circumstances, to express a hope that their Lordships, in
adjudging the reward, will not overlook the claims of those so situated, as it
would be manifestly unjust that Dr. Rae should appropriate the entire reward to
himself, or be left to apportion it according to any arbitrary scale he may
bimself decide upon. Among those who formed Dr. Rae’s party, and that of
Mr. Anderson, are some friends and relatives of my own, whose claims I feel
justified in submitting to their Lordships’ consideration.

I have the less hesitation in doing so, as I was myself the first to advocate
the plan of search which led Dr. Rae (although he left England with other
objects) to those discoveries on which his claims to reward now rest. 'This plan
will be found fully detailed in the ¢ Athenaeum” of the 18th of December, 1847,
a copy of which is herewith forwarded. It is greatly to be regretted that
Dr. Rae =0 far deviated from the route I recommended as to attempt the transit
to the Fizh Liver from the north shore of Chesterfield Inlet, instead of from its
western extremity, by the chain of lakes and rivers I pointed out as affording a
communication with that stream, as he thereby failed to reach the Fish River at
all, and rendered a sccond expedition necessary to complete the search he left
unfinished.

My sole object in claiming the merit of originating the plan of search which
has at length placed in our hands the clue to the mystery which has so long
enveloped the fate of Sir John Iranklin’s Expedition, is to afford their
Lovdships an cppoitunity of doing justice to those whose absence from England
renders it impossible for them to prefer their claims themselves, and, at the
same time, of giviny to the whole question a more general and equitable
c;)lnsiderauion than the discussion of the interests of an individual claimant would
allow.

Should it be necessary for this purpose to contest the claims of Dr. Rae, I
am prepared, if they extend to the whole reward, to do so, and to submit to
their Lordships svch facts as I trust will insure a more equitable distribution of
it; as I focl assured that nothing can be farther from their Lordships’ intentions
than to overlook any just claims of those who have in any way contributed to
the resvit for which the reward has been offered.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) A. K. ISBISTER.

No. 64.
Captain Ommanney to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received June 4.)

Sir, Kent Lodge, Southsea, Portsmouth, June 3, 1856.

P &h f.“_)r warding the inclosed, conveying my claims for the reward to be given
dqlt‘.t e Idl:,covery of traces which have determined the fate of the Franklin Expe-
ition, I have to regret that my application should be made out of the proper



87

time for receiving the claims, but, in consequence of active service aflcat, I had
not time to consider the subject before ; therefore I trust their Lordships will be
pleased to grant me the indulgence of entertaining my application.
I have, &c.
(Signed) ERASMUS OMMANNEY.

Inclosure in No. 64.
Captain Ommanney to the Secretary of the Admiralty.

Sir, Kent Lodge, Southsea, Portsmouth, June 2, 1856.

THE Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty having notified their intention
to reward the discoverer of traces which have led to determine the fate of the
missing expedition under Sir John Franklin, T beg leave to lay before you my
claims to the reward, for their consideration.

On the 23rd day of August, 1850, when in command of Her Majesty’s ship
¢ Assistance,” with her tender the “Intiopid 7 in company, being at the time
in advance of the other searching expeditions, whiist walking along the shore at
Cape Riley, I was, individually and personally, the first peion to discover relics
belonging to the Franklin Iixpedition, con<isiing of fragments of clothin: and
stores, and on the same day discovered, on beechy Island, at the entrance cf the
Wellington Channel, similar relics, which jroved that the Franklin Expedition
had wintered there in 1845-46. :

This was the first trace discovered by uny one since the Franklin Expedition
entered the Polar Sea in 1845.

The relics found at Cape Riley and at Beechy Island, were indicative tiat
Franklin had been suddenly and hurriedly driven from his position, an:! ike
absence of any record detailing his proceedings, clearly proves such an
occurrence.

In my opinion, given before the Arctic Committee in 1851, after my return
to England, I stated that Franklin met with disaster after leaving Beechy Island,
which opinion I now hold was conclusive, and which hos been fully confirmed
by subsequent events and discoveries ; therefore my discovery remains the most
important one that has been made by any person in deciding the fute of Franklin's
Expedition.

The information brought home by Dr. Rae, and the relics found at idoniczul
Island, confirm and strengthen the above opinion, which was elucidated by my
discovery in 1850, and which was put before the publicin 1851. T therclore
feel a just right to claim the reward on the conditions set forth in the Govern-
ment Proclamation, and rely upon a fair consideration into the merits of my cazc.

) I have, &ec.

(Signed) ERASMUS OMMANXNEY.

No. 65.
R. Osborne, Esq., to Captain Ommanney.

Sir, Admiralty, June 5, 1856.

HAVING laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty »:.ur
letter of the 3rd instant, with its inclosure, I am commanded by their Lo
to acquaint you that my Lords do not consider the circumstances tieicin
stated to constitute a valid claim to the reward to be given for the discovery of
traces of Sir John Franklin.

I am, &ec.
(Signed) R. OSBORNE.

Claims to reward
received since the
notice in the

“ Gazette ” relating
to the intended
adjudication of

the 10,0001. to

Dr. Rae.



Adjudication of the
Reward of £10,000
to Dr. Rac.

88

Adjudication of the Reward of £10,000 to Dr. Rae.

No. 66.
Thos. Phinn, Esq., to Dr. Rae.

Rir, Admiralty, June 19, 1856.

[ AM commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to
acquaint you that upon a full consideration of all the circumstances connected
with the information obtained relative to Sir John Franklin’s expedition, my
Lords are of opinion that you, and your companions, are entitled to the reward
of £10,000, assigned under the 3rd paragraph of the Admiralty Proclamation
of the 7th March, 1850, viz.: —¢ To any party or parties who, in the judg-
ment of the Board of Admiralty should, by virtue of his or their efforts, first
succeed in ascertaining the fate of such expedition.”

My Lords further desire me to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 18th instant, signifying your willingness (should your claims be favourably
considered by my Lords) that the distribution of the reward should be appro-
priated according to the recommendation of the Governor and Committee of
the Hudson’s Bay Company, and to acquaint you that, in furtherance of your
proposal, the necessary application has been made to the Hudson’s Bay
Company.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 67.
Thos. Phin, Esq., to H, G, Sith, Esq.

Sir, Admiralty, June 19, 1856.
WITH reference to your letter of 19th November, 1854, and the subse-
quent correspondence on the subject of Dr. Rae’s claim to the reward offered
by the Lord’s Commissioners of the Admiralty, by their proclamation of
7th ).Iarch, 1850, I am commanded by their Lordships to acquaint you, for
the information of the Governor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, that, upon a full consideration of all the circumstances connected.
with the information obtained relative to Sir John Franklin’s expedition, my
Lords are of opinion that Dr. Rae and his companions are entitled to the
reward of £10,000, assigned under the 3rd paragraph of such Proclamation,
and 1 am to request that you will be good enough to undertake the distribu.
tion of this sum between Dr. Rae and his companions. My Lords also request
that the H:stou’s Bay Company will inform them how this money may best
be paid to)the companions of Dr. Rae, who are supposed to be now in the
cployment of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
I have &e.
(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

e
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No. 68.
Dr. Rae to the Secretary of the Admiralty.

Sir, : 29, Norfolk Street, Strand, June 20, 1856.

I BEG to acknowledge the rcceipt of your letter of yesterday’s date
acquainting me that it has pleased my Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty to adjudge to myself and my companions on the recent Arctic
Expedition, the reward of £10,000, offered by Government for the first
information regarding the fate of Sir John Franklin and party.

May I request of you to offer my humble thanks, on behalf of my men
and myself, to their Lordships for their favourable decision of our claim.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOIIN RAL.

No. 64,
(fuzette Notice.

Admiralty, June 24, 1354,

IN reference to the announcement contained in the “Tondon Gazeite”
of 22nd January, 1856, that the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
would proceed within three months from that date to adjudicate upon the
claim preferred by Dr. James Rae, under the third paragraph of their
Proclamation of the 7th of March, 1850, by which the sum of £10,000 was
offered to any party or parties, who, in the judgment of the Board of
Admiralty, should first succeed in ascertaining the fate of the expedition
under the command of Sir John Franklin, and that all persons who by virtue
of such Proclamation deemed themselves entitled to the whole or any part of
the reward in question, must prefer their claim within such time.

The Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty hereby declare that they
have duly considered all claims preferred by persons deeming themselves
entitled under such Proclamation to the said rewards therein specified, and
have determined Dr. James Rae to be entitled, on bebalf of himself and
companions in his expedition, to the reward of £10,000, under the terms of
the third paragraph of such Proclamation as aforesaid.

No. 70.
. G. Smith, Esq., to Thos. Phinn, Esq.

Sir, Hudson’s Bay House, June 27, 1856.

I AM directed by the Governor and Committee of the Hudsonw’s Bay
Company to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 19th instant,
stating that the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, upon a full consider-
ation of all the circumstances connected with the information obtained
relative to Sir John Franklin’s expedition, are of opinion that Dr. Rae und
his companions are entitled to the reward of £10,000, assigned under the
third paragraph of their Proclamation of the 7th March, 1850, and
requesting that the Hudson’s Bay Company would undertake the distri-
bution of this sum between Dr. Rac and his companions.

In reply, I am directed to state that the Governor and Committce will
have much pleasure in making the distribution of the award, and that if the
Lords Commissioners approve of the same, they would recommend that the
amount to be paid to the companions of Dr. Rae be lodged in the hands of
the Hudson’s Bay Company, who would remit the money to the several
parties who are now residing within the territories of the Company.

I have, &e.
(Signed) W. G. SMITH,

Adjudication of the
Reward of £10,000
to Dr. Ra-.
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No. 71.

Thos. Phinn, Esq., to W. G. Smith, Esq.
Sir Admiralty, July 2, 1856.

IN reply to your letter of 27th ultimo, 1 am commanded by my Lords
Commissioners of the Admiralty, to request that you will convey to .th,e
Goveinor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay Company their LOI‘dShlp'S
thanks for consenting to distribute the sum awarded to Dr. Rae and bhis
companions, aud I am to acquaint you that, with this view, my Lords have
directed the Accountant-General of Her Majesty’s Navy to pay over to the

hands of the Hudson's Bay Company the sum of £10,000.
I have, &c.

(Signed) THOS. PHINN.

No. 72.
H. G. Smith, Esq., to Thos. Phinn, Esq.

Sir, Hudson’s Bay House, July 2nd, 1856,

WITH referencc to my communication of the 27th ultimo ou the subject
of the award of £10,000, made by the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
to Dr. Rae and his companions, I am directed by the Governor and Committee
of the Hudson’s Bay Company to inform you that they have resolved that the
sum_of £8,000 be given to Dr. Rae, in consideration of his exertions and
services as leader of the expedition, and that the remaining £2,000 be distri-
buted among the other parties employed thereon, '

I am also to state that Dr. Rae having been requested to furnish the
Committee with his opinion as to the distribution of the £2,00Q, ha§ suggested
that the amount be appropriated agreeably to the accompanying list : —

I have, &ec.
(Signed) H. G. SMITH.

Inclosurc in No. 72.

Proposed Distribution of 2,0001., part of the Government Reward Jor ascertaining
the Fate of Sir John Franklin and Party.

29, Norfolk Street, Strand.

John Beads, Steerman and Guide, (conduct not £
very good) .. .. . . .. 260
Jacob Beads, Boatman . . .. .. . 260
James Johnstone, Boatman and Fisherman .. 260
John McDonald, Boatman .. .. .. 260
Thos. Misiagan, Hunter, &c. .. . .. 260
Murdock McLellan, Boatman .. .. .. 260
William Onleghriek, Interpreter .. . 210
£1,770

Men who did not accompany the expedition further than Chesterfield Inlet,
and returned to York Factory in 1853,

£

James Clouston, in charge of boat . .. 60
Charles Harrison, 5 .. . 30
Henry Fidler, ’ .. .. 30
Murdock McDonald, .. .. 30
George McDougall, . .. .. 30
Louis L. Mitchell, ” .. .. 30
Munro Esquimausx, » . .. 20
230

Brought down 1,770
£2,000

(Signed) JOHN RAE.
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No. 73.
R. Osborne, Esq., to W. G. Smith, Esq.

Sir. Admiralty, July 4, 1856.

REFERRING to your letter of 2nd instant, and to my communication Adjudication of the
of the same date, I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Reward of £10,000
Admiralty to acquaint you for the information of the Governor and Committee o Dr- Rae.
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, that my Lords entirely acquiesce in the dis-
tribution proposed by them of the £10,000 awarded to Dr. Rae and his com-
panions. I am further to acquaint you that Dr. Rae has been informed that
the share awarded to him (£8,000) is now in the hands of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, and will be paid to him on his giving the necessary receipt.

I have, &e¢.
(Signed) R. OSBORNE.

No. 74.
R. Osborne, Esq., to Dr. Rae.

Sir, Admiralty, July 4, 1856,
REFERRING to the second paragraph of my letter of the 19th ultimo,
I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiraity to acquaint
you that the Governor and Committee of the Hudson’s Bay Company having
allotted £2,000 of the reward granted for ascertaining the fate of Franklin, to
your companions on the expedition, the remaining £8,000 due to you will be
paid by the Hudson’s Bay Company on your handing to them the necessary
receipt.
I have, &c.
(Signed) R. OSBORNE.




Lists of Officers and Seamen of the several United Stafes’
Expeditions, under command of Lieutenant De
Haven, Lieutenant Hartstein, and Lieutenant Kane,
“entitled to receive the Medal for Arctic Service.

No. 75.

R. Osborne, Esq., to Lord Wodehouse.

My Lord, Admiralty, March 12, 1850.

Lists of officers HER Majesty having been pleased to sanction the preparation of a medal
and seamen of the' £, Ayctic service, and as the Committec on the subject have recommended !:hat
Sselv,fé:‘ eg?;tﬁfions the American officers and seamen who have been engaged in those regions
onder command of should be included in the distribution of such medals, I am commanded by my
Lieutenant De Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to request you will move the Earl of
Haven, Lieutenant  Clarendon to take such steps as his Lordship may think right for obtaining from
Ei(:‘xtts:;‘:xll’tnlr\lgne, the United States’ Government complete lists of the officers and crews com-
entitled 1o receive  posing Lieutenant De Haven’s expedition in 1850, as well as that of Lieutenant
the medal for Hartstene in 1855,

Arctic service, I am, &e.

(Signed) R. OSBORNE,

No. 76.
E. Haminond, Esq., to the Secretary of the Admiralty.—(Received May 11.)

Sir, ) Foreign Office, May 10, 1856,

I AM directed by the Earl of Clarendon to transmit to you, for the infor-
mation of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, a copy of a- despatch
from Her Majesty’s Minister at Washington, inclosing a copy of a note which
he had received from Mr. Marcy, containing the names of the officers and men
engaged in the Arctic expeditions in search of Sir John Franklin, under
Lieutenant-Commanding De Haven, in 1850, and Lieutenant-Commanding
Hartstene, in 1855.

I am, &e.
(Signed) E. HAMMOND.

Inclosure 1 in No. 76.
John F. Crampton, Esq., to the Earl of Clarendon.

My Lord, Washington, April 17, 1856.
WITH reference to my despatch No. 92 of the 15th instant, I have the
honour to inclose the copy of u note which I have received from Mr. Marcy,
inclosing a list of the officers and men who were engaged in the United States’
Arctic expeditions under Lieutenant-Commanding De Haven in 1850, and
Lieutenant-Commanding Hartstene in 1855. ’
_ I have, &ec.
(Signed) JOHN F. CRAMPTON.
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Inclosure 2 in No. 76.

W. L. Marcy, Esq., to J. F. Crampton, Esq.
Sir, Department of State, Washington, April 16, 1856,
I HAVE the honour to transmit to you herewith the lists of the officers
and men who were engaged in the expeditions to the Arctic Seas under
Lieutenant-Commanding De Haven in 1850, and Licutenant-Commanding
Hartstene in 1855, asked for in your note of the 9th instant.
I avail, &ec.
(Signed) W. L. MARCY.

Inclosure 3 in No. 76.

List of the Officers and Men of the Expedition to the Arctic Seas, in search of
Sir John Tranklin, under the command of Lieutenant De Haven, United
States’ Navy. Sailed from New York, May 26, 1850; returned Septem-
ber 30, 1851.

Brig © Advance.”
Ofticers :

Lieutenant Commanding
Acting Master

Edwin J. De Haven.
William H. Murdaugh.
PPassed Assistant-Surgeon Elisha Kent Kane.
Midshipman . . William 8. Lovell.

All of the United States’ Navvy.

Men :

William Morton . ..
James Smith. . ..
John Brennen .. .o

Ship's Steward.
Ordinary Seaman.
Sailmaker's Mate.

Louis Coster. . .. .. Armorer.
Edward Wilson .. v Seaman.
Thomas Dunnin Boatswain’s Mate.
Edward C. Delana Seaman.

Ienry Derockle

William Holmes

Gibson Caruthers ..
Charles Berry .. ..
William Weast .

Ship’s Cook.
Ordinary Seaman.
Carpenter’s Mate.
Seaman.
Boatswain’s Mate.

Brig “ Rescue.”

Ofticers :
Acting Master .. .. Samuel P. Griffin.
Acting Master .. .. Robert R. Carter.
Assistant-Surgeon .. .. Benjamin Vreeland.

Boatswain .. Henry Brooks.

All of the United States’ Navy.

Men :

Rufus C. Baggs .. .. Ordinary Seaman.

John Williams .. .. Quartermaster.
Robert Bruce .. .. Armorer.

Harman G. Wille .. .. Carpenter’s Mate.
William Benson .. .. Ordinary Seaman.
William Lincon .. .. Boatswain’s Mate.

William J. Kuner .. .
JeanaA. Knauss .o ..

Officer’s Steward.
Caok.

Lists of officers
and seamen of the
several United
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Haven, Lieutenant
Hartstein, and
Lieutenant Kane,
entitled to receive
the medal for
Aretic service.
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Smith Benjamin Seaman.
Dr:\lrid Dains Sailmaker’s Mate.
James Johnson .. Sear‘nan.
James Stewart Ordinary Seaman.
Alexander Daley Seaman.

List of the Officers and Men of the Expedition to the Arctic Seas, in search of
Passed Assistant-Surgeon E. K. Kane, under the command of Lieutenant
Henry J. Hartstein, United States’ Navy. Sailed from New York, June 4,
1855 returned October 11, 1855.

Bark ¢ Release.”
Officers:

Lieutenant Commanding .. Henry J. Hartstene, U.S.N.

Acting Master -
Passed Midshipman . .
Assistant Surgeon
Boatswain ..
Captain’s Clerk
Purser’s Steward
Surgeon’s Steward

Men:

John Blinn .. .. .o
William Smith ..
William Carey
John Haley ..
William Phinney
John Smith ..
Charles Williams
William Henry
Francis Taylor
Charles Johnson
David Batey . .
George Devys
Thomas Ford .
Lawrence Lewis .. .
Andrew Larcen ..
Joseph Morris .. .
Byron Potter. . .. .
%seorge Price. ,

William S. Lovell, U.S.N.
Joseph P. Fyffe, U.S.N.
James Laws, U.S.N.

Van Reusselaer Hall, U.S.N.
Charles Lever.

Thomas Franklin.

Richard M, Clarke.

Boatswain’s Mate.
Ditto.

Gunner’s Mate.
Ditto.
Quartermaster.
Ditto.

Carpenter’s Mate.
Ship’s Cook.
Captain of the Hold.
Captain Main-top.
Captain Fore-top.
Seaman:

Ditto.

Ditto.

Ditto.

Ditto.

Ditto.

Ditto.

Propeller ¢ Arectic.”

Officers ;

Lieutenant Commanding
Acting Master .
Acting Assistant-Surgeon
First Assistant-Engineer
Acting ‘Third Assistant-
Engineer ..
Purser’s Steward .
Surgeon’s Steward . .
Acting Boatswain
Acting Carpenter

. ..

Robert Bruce
George Bidwold
illiam Grover

C. Simms, U.S.N.
Watson Smith, U.S.N.
John K. Kane.

Harman Newell, U.S.N.

William Johnston.
John Van Dyke.
Abraham W. Kendell.
Samuel Whiting.
William Richardson.

Boatswain’s Mate,
Ditto.
Quartermaster.



Walter Wilkinson
John Thompson
Joseph Brown
Richard Hartley
James Botsford
John Brown ..
John Fox ..
George Tyler
John Gilbert . .
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Quartermaster.
Carpenter’s Late.
Ship’s Cook.

Captain of the Ilold.
Seaman.

Ditto.

Second Class Fireman.
Ditto.

Ditto.

Passed Assistant-Surgeon E. K. Kane, and the following-named persons
relonging to his party, returned with Lieutenant Harstein's expedition :

Boatswain, Henry Brooks, U.S.N.

John W. Wilson,
Amos Bonsall.

J. J. Hays.
Augustus Sontag.
Henry Goodfellow.
William Morton.

George Stephenson.

Thomas Hickey.
James Mc Gary.
George Riley.
William Godfrey.
Charles Blake.
George Whittle.

Lists of officers
and seamen of the
several United
States’ expeditions,
under command of
Lieutenant De
Haven, Lieutenant
Hartstein, and
Lietenant Kane
entitled to receive
the medal for
Arctic service.
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